Notice of Meeting

Southern Area
Planning Committee
Date:

Tuesday 26 April 2022

Time:

5.30 pm

Venue:

Main Hall, Crosfield Hall, Broadwater Road, Romsey, Hampshire,
SO51 8GL

For further information or enquiries please contact:
Caroline Lovelock - 01264 368014
clovelock@testvalley.gov.uk

Legal and Democratic Service
Test Valley Borough Council,
Beech Hurst, Weyhill Road,
Andover, Hampshire,
SP10 3AJ
www.testvalley.gov.uk

PUBLIC PARTICIPATION SCHEME
If members of the public wish to address the meeting they should notify the
Legal and Democratic Service at the Council's Beech Hurst office by noon
on the working day before the meeting.

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 26 April 2022

Membership of Southern Area Planning Committee
MEMBER

WARD

Councillor M Cooper (Chairman)

Romsey Tadburn;

Councillor M Hatley (Vice-Chairman)

Ampfield & Braishfield;

Councillor G Bailey

Blackwater;

Councillor P Bundy

Chilworth, Nursling & Rownhams;

Councillor J Burnage

Romsey Cupernham;

Councillor A Dowden

Valley Park;

Councillor C Dowden

North Baddesley;

Councillor S Gidley

Romsey Abbey;

Councillor I Jeffrey

Mid Test;

Councillor M Maltby

Chilworth, Nursling & Rownhams;

Councillor J Parker

Romsey Tadburn;

Councillor A Ward

Mid Test;

Councillor A Warnes

North Baddesley;

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 26 April 2022

Southern Area Planning Committee
Tuesday 26 April 2022
AGENDA
The order of these items may change as a result of members
of the public wishing to speak

1

Apologies

2

Public Participation

3

Declarations of Interest

4

Urgent Items

5

Minutes of the meeting held on 5 April 2022

6

Information Notes

5 - 10

7

21/03722/VARS - 24.02.2022

11 - 44

(OFFICER RECOMMENDATION: PERMISSION)
SITE: Woodington Solar Farm, Woodington Farm,
Woodington Road, East Wellow, SO51 6DQ WELLOW
CASE OFFICER: Ms Sarah Barter
8

21/01505/FULLS - 26.05.2021

45 - 87

(OFFICER RECOMMENDATION: PERMISSION)
SITE: Smallberry Hill, Haccups Lane, Michelmersh, SO51
0NP, MICHELMERSH AND TIMSBURY
CASE OFFICER: Ms Sarah Barter
9

21/03330/FULLS - 15.11.2021

88 - 113

(OFFICER RECOMMENDATION: PERMISSION)
SITE: Butlers Barn, Mount Lane, Lockerley, SO51 0JS,
LOCKERLEY
CASE OFFICER: Mr Graham Melton
10

21/00662/FULLS - 08.04.2021

114 - 144

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 26 April 2022

(OFFICER RECOMMENDATION: PERMISSION)
SITE: Hillview, Romsey Road, Kings Somborne, SO20
6PR, KING’S SOMBORNE
CASE OFFICER: Ms Kate Levey

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 26 April 2022

ITEM 6

TEST VALLEY BOROUGH COUNCIL
SOUTHERN AREA PLANNING COMMITTEE
INFORMATION NOTES

Availability of Background Papers
Background papers may be inspected up to five working days before the date of the
Committee meeting and for four years thereafter. Requests to inspect the
background papers, most of which will be on the application file, should be made to
the case officer named in the report or to the Development Manager. Although there
is no legal provision for inspection of the application file before the report is placed
on the agenda for the meeting, an earlier inspection may be agreed on application to
the Head of Planning and Building.
Reasons for Committee Consideration
The majority of applications are determined by the Head of Planning and Building in
accordance with the Council’s Scheme of Delegation which is set out in the Council’s
Constitution. However, some applications are determined at the Area Planning
Committees and this will happen if any of the following reasons apply:
(a) Applications which are contrary to the provisions of an approved or draft
development plan or other statement of approved planning policy where
adverse representations have been received and which is recommended
for approval.
(b) Applications (excluding notifications) where a Member requests in writing,
with reasons and within the Application Publicity Expiry Date, that they be
submitted to Committee. A Member can withdraw this request at any time
prior to the determination of the application to enable its determination under
delegated powers.
(c) Applications submitted by or on behalf of the Council, or any company in
which the Council holds an interest, for its own developments except for the
approval of minor developments.
(d) Applications where the Head of Planning and Building Services recommends
refusal of an application solely on the basis of failure to achieve nutrient
neutrality where a Ward Member requests in writing, with reasons, within 72
hours of notification of the recommendation for refusal that they be submitted
to Committee for determination. A Member can withdraw this request at any
time prior to the determination of the application to enable its determination
under delegated powers.
(e) To determine applications (excluding applications for advertisement consent,
certificates of lawfulness, listed building consent, and applications resulting
from the withdrawal by condition of domestic permitted development rights;

Page 5

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 26 April 2022

Schedule 2, Part 1, Classes B, C, D, E, F, G, and H of the Town and Country
Planning (General Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015 or as
amended) on which a material planning objection(s) has been received within
the Application Publicity Expiry Date and which cannot be resolved by
negotiation or through the imposition of conditions and where the officer’s
recommendation is for approval, following consultation with the Ward
Members, the latter having the right to request that the application be
reported to Committee for decision.
Public Speaking at the Meeting
The Council has a public participation scheme, which invites members of the public,
Parish Council representatives and applicants to address the Committee on
applications. Full details of the scheme are available from Planning and Building
Services or from Democratic Services at the Council Offices, Beech Hurst, Weyhill
Road, Andover. Copies are usually sent to all those who have made
representations. Anyone wishing to speak must book with the Democratic Services
within the stipulated time period otherwise they will not be allowed to address the
Committee.
Speakers are limited to a total of three minutes per item for Councillors on the Area
Committee who have personal interests or where a Member has pre-determined
his/her position on the relevant application, three minutes for the Parish Council,
three minutes for all objectors, three minutes for all supporters and three minutes for
the applicant/agent and relevant Ward Members who are not Committee Members
will have a maximum of five minutes. Where there are multiple supporters or
multiple objectors wishing to speak the Chairman may limit individual speakers to
less than three minutes with a view to accommodating multiple speakers within the
three minute time limit. Speakers may be asked questions by the Members of the
Committee, but are not permitted to ask questions of others or to join in the debate.
Speakers are not permitted to circulate or display plans, photographs, illustrations or
textual material during the Committee meeting as any such material should be sent
to the Members and officers in advance of the meeting to allow them time to
consider the content.
Content of Officer’s Report
It should be noted that the Officer’s report will endeavour to include a summary of the
relevant site characteristics, site history, policy issues, consultations carried out with
both internal and external consultees and the public and then seek to make a
professional judgement as to whether permission should be granted. However, the
officer’s report will usually summarise many of the issues, particularly consultations
received from consultees and the public, and anyone wishing to see the full
response must ask to consult the application file.

Page 6

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 26 April 2022

Status of Officer’s Recommendations and Committee’s Decisions
The recommendations contained in this report are made by the officers at the time
the report was prepared. A different recommendation may be made at the meeting
should circumstances change and the officer’s recommendations may not be
accepted by the Committee.
In order to facilitate debate in relation to an application, the Chairman will move the
officer’s recommendations in the report, which will be seconded by the Vice
Chairman. Motions are debated by the Committee in accordance with the Council’s
Rules of Procedure. A binding decision is made only when the Committee has
formally considered and voted in favour of a motion in relation to the application and,
pursuant to that resolution, the decision notice has subsequently been issued by the
Council.
Conditions and Reasons for Refusal
Suggested reasons for refusal and any conditions are set out in full in the officer’s
recommendation.
Officers or the Committee may add further reasons for refusal or conditions during
the Committee meeting and Members may choose to refuse an application
recommended for permission by the Officers or to permit an application
recommended for refusal. In all cases, clear reasons will be given, by whoever is
promoting the new condition or reason for refusal, to explain why the change is being
made.
Decisions subject to Completion of a Planning Obligation
For some applications, a resolution is passed to grant planning permission subject to
the completion of an appropriate planning obligation (often referred to as a Section
106 agreement). The obligation can restrict development or the use of the land,
require operations or activities to be carried out, require the land to be used in a
specified way or require payments to be made to the authority.
New developments will usually be required to contribute towards the infrastructure
required to serve a site and to cater for additional demand created by any new
development and its future occupants. Typically, such requirements include
contributions to community facilities, village halls, parks and play areas, playing
fields and improvements to roads, footpaths, cycleways and public transport.
Upon completion of the obligation, the Head of Planning and Building is delegated to
grant permission subject to the listed conditions. However, it should be noted that
the obligation usually has to be completed sufficiently in advance of the planning
application determination date to allow the application to be issued. If this does not
happen, the application may be refused for not resolving the issues required within
the timescale set to deal with the application.

Page 7

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 26 April 2022

Deferred Applications
Applications may not be decided at the meeting for a number of reasons as follows:
*

The applicant may choose to withdraw the application. No further action
would be taken on that proposal and the file is closed.

*

Officers may recommend deferral because the information requested or
amended plans have not been approved or there is insufficient time for
consultation on amendments.

*

The Committee may resolve to seek additional information or amendments.

*

The Committee may resolve to visit the site to assess the effect of the
proposal on matters that are not clear from the plans or from the report.
These site visits are not public meetings.

Visual Display of Plans and Photographs
Plans are included in the officers’ reports in order to identify the site and its
surroundings. The location plan will normally be the most up-to-date available from
Ordnance Survey and to scale. The other plans are not a complete copy of the
application plans and may not be to scale, particularly when they have been reduced
from large size paper plans. If further information is needed or these plans are
unclear please refer to the submitted application on the Council’s website. Plans
displayed at the meeting to assist the Members may include material additional to
the written reports.
Photographs are used to illustrate particular points on most of the items and the
officers usually take these. Photographs submitted in advance by applicants or
objectors may be used at the discretion of the officers.
Human Rights
The European Convention on Human Rights” (“ECHR”) was brought into English
Law, via the Human Rights Act 1998 (“HRA”), as from October 2000.
The HRA introduces an obligation on the Council to act consistently with the ECHR.
There are 2 Convention Rights likely to be most relevant to Planning Decisions:
*

Article 1 of the 1st Protocol - The Right to the Enjoyment of Property.

*

Article 8 - Right for Respect for Home, Privacy and Family Life.

It is important to note that these types of right are not unlimited - although in
accordance with the EU concept of “proportionality”, any interference with these
rights must be sanctioned by Law (e.g. by the Town & Country Planning Acts) and
must go no further than necessary.

Page 8

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 26 April 2022

Essentially, private interests must be weighed against the wider public interest and
against competing private interests. Such a balancing exercise is already implicit in
the decision making processes of the Committee. However, Members must
specifically bear Human Rights issues in mind when reaching decisions on all
planning applications and enforcement action.
Natural Environment and Rural Communities Act 2006 (NERC)
The Council has a duty under the Natural Environment and Rural Communities Act
2006 as follows: "every public authority must, in exercising its functions, have regard,
so far as is consistent with the proper exercise of those functions, to the purpose of
conserving biodiversity".
It is considered that this duty has been properly addressed within the process
leading up to the formulation of the policies in the Revised Local Plan. Further
regard is had in relation to specific planning applications through completion of the
biodiversity checklists for validation, scoping and/or submission of Environmental
Statements and any statutory consultations with relevant conservation bodies on
biodiversity aspects of the proposals. Provided any recommendations arising from
these processes are conditioned as part of any grant of planning permission (or
included in reasons for refusal of any planning application) then the duty to ensure
that biodiversity interest has been conserved, as far as practically possible, will be
considered to have been met.
Other Legislation
Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires that
determination of applications be made in accordance with the Development Plan
unless material considerations indicate otherwise. The Development Plan for the
Borough comprises the Test Valley Borough Revised Local Plan (2016), and ‘made’
Neighbourhood Plans. Material considerations are defined by Case Law and
includes, amongst other things, draft Development Plan Documents (DPD),
Supplementary Planning Documents (SPD) and other relevant guidance including
Development Briefs, Government advice, amenity considerations, crime and
community safety, traffic generation and safety.
On the 19th February 2019 the Government published a revised National Planning
Policy Framework (NPPF). The revised NPPF replaced and superseded the previous
NPPF published in 2018. The revised NPPF is a material consideration in planning
decisions.
So that sustainable development is pursued in a positive way, at the heart of the
revised NPPF is a presumption in favour of sustainable development. Decisions
should apply a presumption in favour of sustainable development. This does not
change the statutory status of the development plan as a starting point for decision
making. Planning law requires that applications for planning permission must be
determined in accordance with the development plan unless material considerations
indicate otherwise. Where a planning application conflicts with an up to date
development plan, permission should not usually be granted. Local planning
authorities may take decisions which depart from an up to date development plan,

Page 9

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 26 April 2022

but only if material considerations in a particular case indicate that the plan should
not be followed.
For decision-taking, applying the presumption in favour of sustainable development
means:



Approving development proposals that accord with an up to date development
plan without delay; or
Where there are no relevant development plan policies, or the policies which
are most important for determining the application are out of date, granting
permission unless:
o The application of policies in the revised NPPF that protect areas or assets
of particular importance provides a clear reason for refusing the
development proposed; or
o Any adverse impact of doing so would significantly and demonstrably
outweigh the benefits, when assessed against the policies in the revised
NPPF when taken as a whole.

Existing Local Plan policies should not be considered out of date because they were
adopted prior to the publication of the revised NPPF. Due weight should be given to
them, according to their degree of consistency with the revised NPPF (the closer the
policies in the Local Plan to the policies in the revised NPPF, the greater the weight
that may be given).

Page 10

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 26 April 2022

ITEM 7

APPLICATION NO.
APPLICATION TYPE
REGISTERED
APPLICANT
SITE

PROPOSAL

AMENDMENTS

21/03722/VARS
VARIATION OF CONDITIONS - SOUTH
24.02.2022
Mr Hugh Brennan, Woodington Solar Limited
Woodington Solar Farm, Woodington Farm,
Woodington Road, East Wellow, SO51 6DQ,
WELLOW
Variation of Condition 2 (Approved plans), 4
(Boundary treatment), 5 (CEMP), 8 (Arboricultural
information), 9 (Tree protection), 12 (CMP), 13
(Landscape), 14 (Landscape maintenance), 15
(External materials), and 16 (Noise Mitigation) of
Planning Permission 15/02591/FULLS (Installation of
a ground mounted solar park to include ancillary
equipment, inverters, substation, perimeter fencing,
CCTV cameras, access tracks, and associated
landscaping) to allow alterations to layout and design
of the site that include a reduction in the number of
solar arrays, re-provision and increased provision of
conservation areas, replacement of central inverter
with string inverters, alterations to alignment of
security fences and permissive paths, rationalisation
(reduction) of a number of internal access tracks.
Drawing no’s received 24th Feb 2022 as a result of
amended application site red edge to ensure the red
edge tallied with that seen on application
15/02591/FULLS which this application seeks to vary:
H.0357_01_G – site location plan
H.0357_06_U – site layout plan
H.0357_24_F – site location plan
H.0357_39 Sheet 1 Rev C – landscape proposals
H.0357_39 Sheet 2 Rev C – landscape proposals
H.0357_39 Sheet 3 Rev C – landscape proposals
H.0357_57 Rev B –fence and path changes
As a result of the amended application site red edge
the application was re-started with new validation date
and publicity period on the 3rd March 2022
Further detail received:
Heritage Statement – 07.03.2022
Comparison CEMP – 07.03.2022
Biodiversity net gain information – 8.03.2022
Landscape email – 16.03.2022
Transformer building elevation – 18.03.2022

Page 11

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 26 April 2022

Drawings received 24th March 2022 updating section
of route for bridleway
H.0357_06 V Site layout
H.0357_39 D – 1 Landscape proposals
H.0357_39 D – 2 Landscape proposals
H.0357_39 D – 3 Landscape proposals
H.0357_57 C fence and path changes
Email received withdrawing condition 17 from proposal
– 05.04.2022
CASE OFFICER

Sarah Barter

Background paper (Local Government Act 1972 Section 100D)
Background papers to the application can be found here

1.0 INTRODUCTION
1.1 The application presented to southern area planning committee at the request of
a local ward member.
2.0 SITE LOCATION AND DESCRIPTION
2.1 The application site covers an area of approximately 72.01 hectares of
agricultural land and comprises four parcels which are separated by areas of
woodland, hedgerows and trees. The site lies to the north and west of
Woodington Farm and neighbouring properties, extending westwards to
Hackleys Lane which lies along the western boundary of the site. A large
overhead line crosses the site from north to south.
2.2 Smidmore Copse lies between the northernmost parcel of the site and the
central field, with Cutles Copse lying immediately to the south of the central field.
Bushymoor Copse lies to the north of the northern parcel. The eastern boundary
of the site is marked by mature woodland, Batters Copse and Shootash Copse,
with Kitts Merries Copse lying along the northern boundary of the easternmost
field. Some field boundaries are marked with hedgerows with others being more
open, particularly in the southern areas of the site.
2.3 The site is accessed via the access lane serving Woodington Farm and can also
be accessed via Hackleys Lane, to the south of the site. There are also a
number of existing hardcore tracks which cross the site. There is a Public Right
of Way (PRoW) which passes through the centre of the site, running north-south
and partway along the northern boundary.
3.0 PROPOSAL
3.1 This Section 73 application seeks to make a number of design changes to the
original solar farm permission (15/02591/FULLS), including amendments to
ensure that the original solar farm scheme can be developed in conjunction with
the more recently approved substation and solar array permission
(20/00814/FULLS).

Page 12

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 26 April 2022

3.2 The proposed development seeks to vary the following conditions on planning
application 15/02591/FULLS described as ‘Installation of a ground mounted
solar park to include ancillary equipment, inverters, substation, perimeter
fencing, CCTV cameras, access tracks, and associated landscaping’:











Condition 2 (Approved plans)
Condition 4 (Boundary treatment)
Condition 5 (CEMP)
Condition 8 (Arboricultural information)
Condition 9 (Tree protection)
Condition 12 (CMP)
Condition 13 (Landscape)
Condition 14 (Landscape maintenance)
Condition 15 (External materials)
Condition 16 (Noise Mitigation)

The proposals broadly consist of:









Alterations to the layout and design of the site that include a reduction in
the number of solar arrays from 97,272 arrays (which included land
where the proposed substation was located) to 79,632 on this current
application.
The re-provision and increased provision of Conservation Areas. The
proposed changes would result in a total of 6.54 ha of Conservation
Areas across the site. The originally approved solar farm proposed
5.37ha of Conservation Areas. The Conservation Area provision would
therefore increase by 21.8%.
The replacement of central inverter with string inverters. A Noise
Assessment Addendum has been prepared by LFAcoustics, which
confirms that the ‘use of string inverters would result in a noticeable
reduction in noise levels of between 3 – 7 dB(A) compared to the
presently approved scheme.
The alterations to the alignment of security fences and permissive paths
The rationalisation (reduction) of a number of internal access tracks.

3.3 Development pursuant to 15/02591/FULLS commenced on Monday 15th June
2020 with construction works taking place from the Tuesday (16th June 2020).
3.4 The applicant sets out that the development will have an installed electricity
generating capacity of up to 40MW. The applicant advises that the export
capacity of the solar farm is fixed by SSEN at up to 40MW. This is consistent
with application 15/02591/FULLS. Whilst the number of panels has reduced, this
is a direct result of advances in solar cell production, which have become more
efficient over time and result in the need for a smaller amount of panels to
generate the same output.

Page 13

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 26 April 2022

4.0 HISTORY
4.1 20/00814/FULLS - Installation of substation, ground mounted solar panels,
ancillary equipment, infrastructure and access associated with Planning
Permission reference: 15/02591/FULLS. – Permission subject to conditions and
notes – 24.05.2021
A judicial review challenge was lodged on several grounds. One ground has
been given permission to be heard and is due to be considered at the High
Court in April 2022.
4.2 20/00359/SCRS - Screening opinion under the Environment Impact Assessment
Regulations 2017 - Installation of substation, ground mounted solar panels,
ancillary equipment, infrastructure and access – EIA Not Required – 20.04.2021
4.3 15/02591/NMA1 - Amend inverter design - Amendment to planning permission
numbered 15/02591/FULLS – Approval 30.11.2020
4.4 15/02591/FULLS - Installation of a ground mounted solar park to include
ancillary equipment, inverters, substation, perimeter fencing, CCTV cameras,
access tracks and associated landscaping – Permission subject to conditions –
04.07.2017
The following condition information has been approved under this permission:











Condition 5 - Construction environmental management plan
Condition 6 - Biodiversity management plan
Condition 11 - Programme of archaeological work
Condition 12 - Construction management plan
Condition 13 - Soft landscaping
Condition 14 - Schedule of landscape maintenance
Condition 15 - Details of siting, external materials, external lighting, and
means of access/enclosure for the sub-station
Condition 16 - Scheme of noise mitigation measures
Condition 17 - Details of bridleway network
Condition 19 - Surface water drainage strategy

A Judicial Review Challenge was lodged in respect of the discharge of
conditions. The challenge was unsuccessful, permission to proceed to a full
hearing having been refused at a renewal hearing on the 13th January 2021.
4.5 12/02770/SCRS – Screening Opinion under Regulation 5 of the Town and
Country Planning (Environmental Impact Assessment) Regulations 2011 for a
solar park on land at Woodington Farm – response issued, March 2013 – EIA
not required.
4.6 11/02034/FULLS - Roof mounted solar array on two existing agricultural
buildings – permitted, Nov 2011.

Page 14

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 26 April 2022

5.0
5.1

CONSULTATIONS
Policy – No Objection
It is considered that this application to vary conditions of the original
application (15/02591/FULLS) does not raise any new policy issues that were
not covered by the original Policy response submitted at the time of the
original application. It is noted that work commenced on site on the 15th June
2020.

5.2

Landscape – No Objection (further to receipt of updated information)

5.3

Highways – No Objection
Does not raise any new highway issues

5.4

Conservation – No Objection (further to the receipt of the heritage statement)

5.5

Historic England – Comment
On the basis of the information available to date, we do not wish to offer any
comments. We suggest that you seek the views of your specialist conservation
and archaeological advisers, as relevant.

5.6

Natural England – Comment
Natural England is not able to fully assess the potential impacts of this
proposal on statutory nature conservation sites or protected landscapes or,
provide detailed advice on the application. If you consider there are significant
risks to statutory nature conservation sites or protected landscapes, please set
out the specific areas on which you require advice. The lack of detailed advice
from Natural England does not imply that there are no impacts on the natural
environment. It is for the local authority to determine whether (or not) the
proposal is consistent with national and local environmental policies. Other
bodies and individuals may provide information and advice on the
environmental value of this site and the impacts of the proposal on the natural
environment to assist the decision-making process.

5.7

Environmental Protection – No Objection
The Third Addendum Noise report from LF Acoustics dated December 2021
has provided the necessary comparison information for the proposed new
equipment versus that already permitted and the summary contained within
figures 2 and 3 in Appendix A is particularly clear. It is also apparent from the
layout plan that efforts have been made to locate the equipment so as to
minimise impacts from noise. I consider that from an acoustic point of view the
proposal is an improvement on that already permitted.

5.8

HCC Flood water management – No Objection
No specific surface water or drainage information has been provided.
However, having reviewed the site plan, it does not appear that the proposed
amendments will have any impact on the previously agreed surface water
management proposals and as such we have no objection.

Page 15

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 26 April 2022

5.9

Esso Petroleum – No Objection
Our client Esso Petroleum Co Ltd, do have apparatus situated near the
proposed works. Esso Petroleum Co Ltd have no objections to the proposals
so long as the enclosed ‘Special Requirements for Safe Working’ booklet and
the covenants contained in the Deed of Grant are adhered to.

5.10

Trees – No Objection subject to conditions

5.11

Archaeology – No Comment
I am happy to confirm that I would not raise any archaeological issues
regarding the proposed variations

5.12

Ramblers – No Comment

5.13

SSE – No Comment

5.14

New Forest National Park - Comment received 4.04.2022
Looking at the submitted information which is specifically about noise, my
opinion is that the inverters and substation at Woodington Solar Farm are far
enough away from the National Park to avoid noise nuisance and negative
impacts within the National Park. The major A36 road passes along the
boundary to the National Park and it is highly unlikely that any noise emission
from the solar farm would surpass that of the vehicular traffic that passes
along this arterial route.
Comment received 28th January 2022
I have examined the documents submitted to TVBC regarding the variations to
conditions. From the information given, my opinion is that the variations will
not necessarily increase the impact of the proposals from within the New
Forest National Park from what is already approved. However, one variation is
a replacement of the central inverter with 'String Inverters'. I cannot find any
details of this in the submitted documents and would ask for clarification if this
variation would result in a taller structure that could be more readily visible
from within the National Park.

5.15

Ecology – No Objection subject to condition

6.0
6.1

REPRESENTATIONS Expired 01.04.2022
Wellow Parish Council – No Objection
The above revisions are a variation to 15/02591/FULLS which has already been
approved by Test Valley Borough Council. Councillors felt that the revisions
were an improvement to the original approved application. The amended
proposals reduce the overall noise impact of the site by using string inverters,
the conservation areas have increased in size and the overall biodiversity of the
site will be increased.
Wellow Parish Council – No Objection (further to re-advertisement of the
application)

Page 16

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 26 April 2022

6.2

Unknown address email – Support
I fully support the scheme as per the amended proposals here.

6.3

Various addresses – Objection (summarised)
Validity and section 73 application
 The application is not valid under TCPA Section 73: it includes changes
to 13 of the 18 conditions totalling more than “Minor” material changes
removing the Solar Farm’s 33Kv substation, going further beyond
permitted limits by including the totally separate application
20/00814/FULLS
 Section 73 has no provision for the conflation of 15/02591/FULLS with
that of 20/00814/FULLS. Planning Guidance
(www.gov.uk/guidance/flexible-options-for-planning-permissions) is clear
that combining two applications can only be addressed under Section 70,
via a new application for the totality of the proposals.”
 Section 73 Town and Country Planning Act 1990 The current application
does not comply with the conditions for section 73 which allows for at
most a minor material change to the original planning application
15/02591. Requesting changes to 13 out of 18 conditions is not minor:
this is over 70% of the conditions and therefore a substantial number of
changes. A totally new planning application is required.
Previous applications
 For anyone new to your portal and new to this application/scheme, with
all its ‘twists and turns’ it would be confusing given that you just show one
(1) related planning application / ‘Case’ (15/02591/FULLS – Decided) –
This I believe shows further lack of transparency because
20/00814/FULLS is not mentioned and neither is the other ‘Vars’,
19/00401/VARS, although I believe this to have been ‘Quashed’ in the
High Court after a legal challenge was brought against TVBC. Someone
interested and looking through the documents might reasonable wonder
where the imaginary 33Kv connection is, detailed in 3.3 of the
15_02591_FULLSPLANNING_STATEMENT-1049059.pdf document –
stating, “The proposal is to be connected to the National Grid at the
existing electricity substation located within the south towards its southern
boundary”. If in actual fact, there was no possible connection there, then
this shows worse than just a lack of transparency from the applicant
and/or their agents but blatant dishonesty to assist this application
through to ‘Permission’. Why would anyone wish to build a Solar
Industrial Estate in the middle of the countryside with no possibly way to
connect it to the grid? This is nothing short of an underhand manipulation
of the planning system and I feel it is shameful that such a basic thing as
this was not picked up by the planning ‘experts’ working at TVBC for the
people. So much has changed and without reference to 20/00814/FULLS
it would be very hard to follow.

Page 17

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 26 April 2022



We read the fairy tale about how the tallest building will be no more than
3.0m in height and yet in the latest drawing J00625-L-01 it is noted the
Siemens 40MVA Transformer stands at 4.47m height. Then the gantry at
10m tall, the DNO Pole Mounted Transformer at 9.7m, many details
changing from the initial proposal considered. Not just planning creep but
a clear manipulation. As I said, had the residents (including the
equestrian fraternity) known all the details, a different conclusion would
have been likely.

Procedure
 Since the substation (20/00814/FULLS) remains subject to a Judicial
Review, no plan dependent in any way upon it can be evaluated until the
result of the Judicial Review is known.
 The planning application seeks to make changes to conditions 2, 4, 5, 8,
9, 12, 13, 14, 15 and 16 and implies changes to 6, 7 and 17 of the original
planning permission, but there is no clear statement from the applicant
listing all the changes and referencing them to all the drawings and other
supporting information which makes this planning application difficult for
the public and TVBC Planning to scrutinise and evaluate. I note that the
TVBC Conservation Consultee has requested such a document. Why
have TVBC Planning Department not insisted on the applicant providing a
document setting out clearly all the changes and referencing them to the
supporting information so that all the changes under this planning
application are provided in a clear and transparent format to enable
everyone, including TVBC Planning Department and their Consultees, to
scrutinise and evaluate this planning application?
 TVBC should not ask the public or the consultees to comment until all the
documents are up on the portal and insist on a covering letter listing the
documents and any amendments, otherwise it all becomes just a farce.
Full extent of plans
 I see a lot of smoke and mirrors going on here; looking at the plans, I still
see gaps, and now the plans don't even show the full extent of the project
i.e. No Substation. Has it just disappeared, or is it not needed now?
 the site layout chart shows several changes but there is no listing of these
that would allow suitable scrutiny from a planning perspective. What is
clearly shown is removal of the substation previously considered essential
in the permission so one can only wonder how this solar farm can ever be
built to operational level, and if not what is its purpose at all?
 The DNO compound, I understand, is subject a separate planning
authority (IPC) and so I wonder how LF Acoustics and/or the LPA can
make any judgement about the DNO Compound noise emissions? We
have had this argument over noise all the way through, which is why I
commissioned Hayes McKenzie, at considerable expense, to obtain a
second professional opinion, as well as a base line data logging of the
ambient noise at my property and that of a neighbour. This is turning into
a solar powered Power Station in the heart of the countryside, something
that is normally only considered in industrial settings, like the one in
Southampton, which I have visited to record both EMF and noise levels. I
note also that other objectors have sited that there is a deficiency of

Page 18

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 26 April 2022

documents to be able to properly assess this latest application and I
would urge the Head of Planning to reject 21/03722/VARS on these
grounds until such time as all the relevant documents and information are
transparently submitted for scrutiny. The planning department and
residents have been ‘hoodwinked’ enough.
Screening required
 Do not believe that this matter can be determined unless or until a
request for EIA screening has been made and determined - Reg 8(b) of
the EIA Regulations.
 The VARS covers a 71 ha site while the screening (20/00539/SCRS) for
the 20/00184/FULLS (DNO compound application) was done on 6.7+ ha
only. It seems clear that the development in question has not been the
subject of a screening opinion or screening direction. It is patently a
different development.
Timing of application
 Yet another timely application, leaving little time with the Christmas and
New year break, for proper scrutiny by the planners (whose job it is to do
so), let alone members of the public that have day jobs and businesses to
run. This latest iteration being yet another metamorphosis.
Change of inverter
 Changing the inverters to save between 3/7 dB seems a waste of
everyone time and effort unless it's cheaper to buy and as its Huawei now
(and we know they are blacklisted in some sections of the UK) I guess
this is the main reason for the switch, the attempt to change things
around again without consulting the locals is contemptible.
 How many inverters are specified on the 15_02591_FULLS application
and can you confirm that they are of the SMA Sunny Central type and not
the latest specified Hua Wei type?
 If the Sunny Central type, has it been made clear which model type is to
be used in construction? (2200 / 2475 / 2500-EV / 2750-EV / 3000-EV) ?
 How many Hua Wei type inverters are specified on the 20_00814_FULLS
application, it is unclear?
Highways
 The applicant continues to confuse both the Consultees and the Public
with missing documentation hiding his real intent with this application. For
example Alistair Murray of Highways raised no objections on Feb 1st
2022 “Following a review of the submitted information and following
discussions with the Case Officer, it is considered that this application to
vary conditions of the original application (15/02591/FULLS) does not
raise any new highway issues that were not covered by the original
highway response submitted at the time of the original application” whilst
the Woodington neighbours all know that Nightingale Farm’s owners have
not given permission to have their hedge cut as the Case Officer knows
all too well.

Page 19

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 26 April 2022







I also note they are still looking to still use Nightingale farmland which
they have been told by the owners they cant. so that the access clause
TVBC put in can never be met.... it shows the true nature of this process
and a disregard for common sense
I note the Strides aren’t even mentioned in the documentation
surrounding this application. This is not dissimilar to the Nightingale
Farms hedge over which Woodington Solar claimed control and does not
have it thus nullifying Highway concurrence with the original
15/02591/FULLS construction plan.
Access tracks" from Hackleys Lane. As far as we can see, the southern
site access road (surely not just a track?), from near the eastern end of
Hackleys Lane, has been highlighted for the first time. Moreover it is
unclear whether a western access road is now also proposed from near
the southern end of Broadwoods Lane. (Hackleys becomes Broadwoods
at the junction for St Margaret's Church.) It is obvious that this recently
refurbished but very minor public highway is still totally unsuitable for
industrial traffic or any form of heavy goods vehicle (apart from the TVBC
refuse collecting vehicles whose drivers know their patch and take
extreme care at pinch points, although even they inevitably cause an
obstruction for other road users during their weekly duty). Recent drastic
damage to the turning loop outside St Margaret's Church, by errant HGV
drivers from outside our area, should command urgent attention to an
HGV ban on this whole route. Unless the present planning application
and its precursors also include a radical upgrade of this lane (which might
in turn provoke other objections) no access to the solar power station
from the south or west should be permitted.

Landscape setting
 This proposal is completely out of kilter and inappropriate in such a rural
setting, on the edge of the New Forest National Park and the Blackwater
River.
 This is a rural area. We do not have the infrastructure for this industry.
Heritage
 The proposed site is extremely close to St Margaret’s Church, the Grade
1 listed resting place of Florence Nightingale.
 Effect on the environment of St Margaret's Church and the surroundings
of Wellow. As members of the St Margaret's congregation (and team of
helpers) since 1986 we are concerned about all aspects of the present
project. General damage to our rural environment where the grace of God
has been focused for over 800 years, increased unsuitable road traffic
and ambient noise are all matters of concern. While we acknowledge that
solar energy should be exploited in Great Britain in the future, we rely on
our professional planners to ensure both that schemes are suitably
located and well out of sight and earshot, so as to minimise the impact on
the people who live here; and also to ensure that easy but unsuitable
projects are detected and refused at the earliest possible stage, before
they gain unstoppable momentum.”

Page 20

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 26 April 2022

Ecology
 The ecology surveys to assess the loss of habitat are out of date and
don’t address today’s reality.
 A critical tract of land has been taken out of the previously designated
“conservation” area. This is the tract of land south of the north eastern
end of Smidmore copse which has been established over many years as
the only wild life corridor linking Smidmore Copse to woodland to the
south and onward to all the woodland areas of Woodington Farm. Only a
very narrow corridor remains which is a biodiversity reduction for which
the additional land now included is no substitute. The “Supplementary
Ecology Note” assessment totally ignores this, and additionally fails to
provide any current survey data to justify its conclusions. It makes
reference to a site-wide ecology survey in 2019 but where is this? It is not
sufficient merely to offer the opinion that nothing is likely to have
changed.
Noise
 The noise analysis does not consider the night time (eg 02:00 – 05:00)
when ambient noise is minimum yet the DNO substation complex
continues at full volume.
 The change to the on-field inverters and transformers is to be welcomed
as they reduce the noise pollution to neighbouring residences. The
change to the noise assessment report, however, is not and remains
deficient. Firstly it includes the substation transformer noise which unlike
the on-field equipment which stop at night is constant 24/7, but the
assessment does not include the night-time period (02:00 – 05:00) likely
to be the most intrusive especially as ambient noise levels are at their
lowest. Why has this never been assessed, and why does the applicant
repeatedly refuse to countenance a sound-absorbing acoustic enclosure
around this transformer? Secondly the post-construction guarantee within
the permission has been discarded, leaving neighbouring residences
even further disadvantaged.
 This industrial substation runs all year round, 24/7, so whilst the noise
from the solar panels and smaller equipment (string inverters) may be
within permissible levels, the DNO substation output remains an
unknown.
Agricultural land
 The further tree planting on cultivated farm land will make it incapable in
practice of being restored to its previous agricultural state at the end of
the operational life of the development, violating the commitment made in
the Planning Statement (October 2015)
 The addition of further tree planting on cultivated farm land will render this
land incapable in practice of being restored to its previous agricultural
state at the end of the 25 year operational life of the development,
violating the commitment made in the Planning Statement (October
2015) “Following the 25 year operational period the site shall be fully
returned to its existing agricultural use by way of the removal of all
structures and equipment” and folded into conditions 6 and 7 of the
permission.

Page 21

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 26 April 2022

Radiation
 I have concerns about radiation form the substation, French farmers are
bringing successful groups actions against companies that own
substations and have cattle grazing close to them. It has been proven that
the cattle have died as a direct result from grazing in a radiation zone
emitted from a substation.
 There is a historic footpath that will pass within feet of these proposed
transformers – what is the impact on people using that in terms of
radiation
Bridleway route
 Although not totally clear, it also appears the site boundary has been
extended into neighbouring land and that the bridleway route along the
southern edge of Smidmore copse has been moved further into the copse
which would cause damage to the ancient woodland, and there may well
be more material changes that we cannot see.
 There are three Bridle Path entrances from Broad Wood Lane the first
130 metres NW of the footpath the second 290 metres NW and the third
745 metres approx. along Broad Wood Lane. The Lane is far busier over
the last twenty years than it was in 1978.We suspect that reducing the
entrances to one may avoid congestion. (Concern about horse Boxes)
The only Bridle Path entrances are from Broad Wood Lane, an alternative
entrance would be safer for all road users.
MW output of the scheme
 In the initial application 15/02591/FULLS, it was described as
“Approximately 40MW” and certainly “Under the 50MW NSIP threshold” –
I note that in the latest application here that more panels are added in and
wonder whether this now represents an output of over 50MW.
German Fischer
 There are no objections so long as the safety brochures are met. Where
is the Plan to meet their requirement?
SSE
 Throughout all the applications SSE has been a consultee but TVBC has
never waited for the response. Why hasn’t the DNO Substation Complex
Electrical design (J0062_L_001) been approved by SSE? Indeed has
there been consultee response from SSE?
Revised information
 Why is there no covering letter from the applicant clearly setting out in
sufficient detail the changes which are proposed so that this whole
application for the solar power station is in clear and transparent
language, suitably referenced to correct and up to date supporting
information, reports and drawings?
 Is this a further attempt by the applicant to bamboozle the public and the
TVBC Planning Department?

Page 22

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 26 April 2022

Biodiversity net gain
 The biodiversity net gains spreadsheets appear to be similar but contain
different headline results based on the same input data.
 Where is the narrative in clear and concise language to explain the
differences in the headline results and what it really means?
7.0
7.1

POLICY
Government Guidance
 National Planning Policy Framework July 2021 (NPPF),
 National Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG),
 Overarching National Policy Statement for Energy EN-1 (NPS),
 National Policy Statement for Renewable Energy Infrastructure EN-3
(NPS),
 Written Ministerial Statement on solar energy protecting the local and
global environment, 25th March 2015.

7.2

Test Valley Borough Revised Local Plan (2016)(RLP)
SD1 – Presumption in favour of Sustainable Development
COM2 – Settlement Hierarchy
E1 – High Quality Development in the Borough
E2 – Protect, Conserve and Enhance the Landscape Character of the Borough
E5 – Biodiversity
E7 – Water Management
E8 – Pollution
E9 - Heritage
LHW4 – Amenity
T1 – Managing Movement
T2 – Parking Standards

7.3

Supplementary Planning Documents (SPD)
Wellow Village Design Statement

8.0
8.1

PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS
The main planning considerations are:
 Consideration of a section 73 application
 Substation application
 Principle of development
 Site selection and agricultural land
 Landscape and visual impacts
 Tree impacts
 Heritage Impacts
 Impact on residential amenities
 Noise issues
 Ecology
 Highway impacts
 Public Rights of Way
 Bridleways
 Drainage

Page 23

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 26 April 2022




Health and Safety
Other matters

8.2

Consideration of a section 73 application
A number of comments received highlight concern around the type of
application submitted to consider these proposals. Section 73, Town &
Country Planning Act 1990 allows a developer to apply to the Local Planning
Authority (LPA) for development without complying with conditions subject to
which a previous permission for that development was granted. In effect, it
allows the removal or variation of conditions. If such an application is
successful, then the LPA will grant a fresh permission for the same
development, but with different conditions. A decision under section 73 must
be taken in accordance with the development plan unless material
considerations indicate otherwise.

8.3

Substation application
A number of representations continue to make comments on the substation
proposals. To confirm, a separate planning permission (see paragraph 4.1
above) for the substation development was approved in May 2021 (reference:
20/00814/FULLS). As such, the principle of a solar farm and substation in this
location has been accepted. This application does not seek to vary the
substation permission. It only seeks to vary the original solar farm permission
ref: 15/02591/FULLS, with the aim that the varied solar farm permission and
the substation permission can operate in parallel.

8.4

Principle of development
The principles of the development were considered acceptable under the
previous application 15/02591/FULLS, which was determined within the same
development plan policy context. Given the principle of siting a solar farm in
this location have previously been established by the original grant of
planning permission in July 2017, which has already been begun, and the
current proposals are intended to ensure the site can function together with
the 2021 permission for a substation (20/00814/FULLS), it is considered that
it is essential for these proposals to be located within the countryside and as
such the development is considered to accord with Policy COM2 of the RLP.

8.5

Site selection and agricultural land
The selection of the site and the use of the agricultural land for use as a solar
farm has been assessed under the previous application 15/02591/FULLS and
this permission has since been implemented in June 2020. There has been
no significant change in development plan or national policy since the original
solar farm permission was granted. The development is of a temporary and
reversible nature. Once decommissioned the site will revert to agricultural
use.

Page 24

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 26 April 2022

8.6

Landscape and visual impacts
An Appraisal of Landscape and Visual Effects accompanied the previous
application 15/02591/FULLS. This contained a detailed assessment of the
likely effects of the Woodington Solar Farm on the surrounding landscape
and visual resources. Within the current submission the solar panels would
be of the same design, spacing, height, and finish as those approved,
although the area covered by the current application now excludes the area
of the substation permission, and other minor alterations are proposed. The
submitted Appraisal (2015) described the Site’s condition and features in
Section 3; the effects of the approved application for the solar farm on the
landscape features were assessed in Section 6. In the view of officers the
revised proposals would not change the assessment of effects upon the
following landscape elements:
 Topography - negligible neutral
 Other/herbaceous vegetation - moderate beneficial
 Water features - minor beneficial.

8.7

As outlined by Pegasus in their accompanying text Whilst it is noted that the
amended proposals would bring infrastructure closer to the on-site permissive
bridleways in several locations, the alignment of the existing on-site footpath
(north-south axis) would be retained resulting in no direct physical effects on
the on-site footpath (same as the Appraisal 2015). It is considered that this is
an appropriate assessment where the proposals present no extra impact.

8.8

The submission also sets out With regards to hedgerow resource on the site,
the Appraisal (2015) assessed that there would be a low magnitude of
change and minor beneficial effects; there would be no change to this
assessment based on the revised proposals. With regards to the tree
resource, the Appraisal (2015) stated that the effects would also be minor
beneficial. It is acknowledged that the revised proposals illustrate an increase
in size to the ‘Proposed Conservation Area with New Tree Planting’. As a
result, the magnitude of change upon the tree resource is assessed as
medium, which translates into moderate beneficial effects upon the tree
resource of the site overall, an increase from minor as assessed within the
Appraisal (2015). It is agreed the amendment would have no negative impact,
further to an increase in provision of nature conservation sections which the
new bridleways pass through.

8.9

In respect of landscape character the following is submitted with the
application: With regards to the effects upon landscape character, the
assessment and effects established in the submitted Appraisal (2015)
indicated that the approved proposals would have negligible short term
effects upon the character of the local landscape. Long term, these have
been assessed as minor beneficial due to the proposed enhancements to the
landscape elements within the site. The assessment of the effects on
landscape character would remain unchanged as a result of the revised
proposals. Having reviewed this with the Landscape Officer it is agreed the
amendment will have no further impact beyond those of the permitted
scheme. The additional panels should not substantially alter the effect on the
landscape setting over what has already been permitted. This change seeks
to rationalise the amount of security fencing and CCTV cameras on the site.

Page 25

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 26 April 2022

8.10

Specific comments have been made about views from St Margaret’s Church
and the National Park. The Appraisal (2015) included the assessment of 13
representative viewpoints. These 13 viewpoints have been reviewed and it
concluded that there would be no change to the assessment presented in the
Appraisal (2015) for viewpoints 1 to 12. This includes viewpoints from the
New Forest National Park and St Margaret’s Church grave yard. As a result
of the revised proposals, effects on the receptors at viewpoint 13 (A and B)
would remain as a high magnitude of change and a major effect. At viewpoint
13C as a result of the revised alignment of the panels being brought closer to
the route of the permissive bridleway, the magnitude of change is assessed
as medium, resulting in a moderate effect. The Appraisal (2015) assessed
the magnitude of change as low, resulting in minor effects upon receptors at
viewpoint 13C.

8.11

Whilst the new fencing alignment now could be seen to fence off some of the
existing landscape features of woodland belts, it also presents a
rationalisation of fencing and reduction in security camera infrastructure
which would be a general benefit in visual terms. Officers have reviewed all
routes through the development and are satisfied that any areas where the
routes have been amended are set so as to maintain the open feeling of the
new paths and rides.

8.12

It is considered that the minor material changes can be provided without any
detrimental impact to the appearance and landscape character of the area in
which it will be located. It is considered that subject to compliance with
appropriate conditions the development can be provided in accordance with
policy E2 of the RLP which seeks to ‘protect, conserve and enhance the
landscape character of the Borough’.

8.13

Tree Impacts
The application is submitted with a revised tree report from Barton Hyett
Associates (updated December 2021), and its associated tree schedule/
plans. This tree report states no trees are to be felled within the site, and only
a 5m section of hedgerow will be removed. Some pruning has been proposed
to facilitate access. It is noted that an access track is to be located through
W14 but a temporary solution for protecting the ground (on an existing track)
has been proposed which is an acceptable approach. The Tree Officer
advises that adequate provision has been made for the protection of trees on
this development proposal.

8.14

The Tree Officer has requested a condition for a method statement detailing
how trees shown on the approved plans to be retained are to be protected.
Subject to conditions securing this detail together with the information
presented in the Arboricultural Impact Appraisal Statement it is considered
that the development can be provided in accordance with policy E2 of the
Revised Local Plan which seeks to ‘protect, conserve and enhance the
landscape character of the Borough’.

Page 26

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 26 April 2022

8.15

Heritage Impacts
Comments have been received in respect of Florence Nightingale’s grave at
St Margaret's Church which should remain a place for people to come for
peace and quiet. It has been suggested that the noise and emissions will not
be conductive to quiet reflection. Matters of noise and emissions are
discussed below at paragraph 8.21.

8.16

The Conservation Officer has raised no objection to the proposals. An
amended heritage appraisal has now been provided to assess the proposed
amendments to the site. There will be an increase in the numbers of the
panels in the two areas closest to Woodington House (GII), but no further
fields will be included in the development. It is not considered the additional
panels should substantially alter the effect on the setting over what has
already been permitted at any of the nearby heritage assets.

8.17

The proposed amendments to the scheme would not alter the impact on the
setting of any heritage assets including St Margaret’s Church. The effect of
the proposals on the setting of listed buildings would therefore be limited and
would not result in harm to the significance of these heritage assets. It is
considered that the development can be provided in accordance with policy
E9 of the RLP which concerns Heritage.

8.18

Impact on Residential Amenities
There are a number of residential properties which lie around the perimeter of
the application site and given the changing topography, position of the areas
of woodland areas around the site, as well as the relatively open nature of the
central section of the application site, the proposed solar farm would be
visible, to varying degrees from a number of neighbouring properties.

8.19

The changes seen on the southern and eastern boundaries on the eastern
side of the overall site are those located closest the neighbouring properties
at Woodington House, Little Woodington and Woodington Farmhouse. The
changes seen are in the removal of the inverter buildings and provision of the
string inverters and as a result a slight increase in the amount of solar panels
provided due to the additional space gained. Transformer stations are also
sporadically positioned. In addition to this the security fencing location and
proposed bridleway routes have been altered in part to ensure the solar panel
fields remain secure and routes continue to be provided across the site for
bridleway users. Similarly on the western section of the overall site closest
properties to the north and west additional panels are provided. Nearby
properties include Kitts Merries Farm and Meadow Tree Farm.

8.20

The proposed panels and associated infrastructure would be visible in views
from neighbouring properties, more noticeably in winter months, but this
impact would be in longer views towards the site and given the existing extant
permission for the wider solar farm which includes the placement of solar
panels and inverter buildings in these locations together with the changes in
topography and existing and enhanced natural screening secured via the
mitigation planting, it is not considered that the change in outlook to

Page 27

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 26 April 2022

neighbouring properties would be so severe as to justify a refusal of planning
permission in respect of this matter. It is considered that the development can
be provided in respect of visual amenity in accordance with policy LHW4 of
the RLP. The impacts of noise on residential amenity are considered below.
8.21

Noise Issues
Application ref. 15/02591/FULLS which this application seeks to vary included
condition 16 of the planning permission which related to noise. This reads as
follows:
Prior to the commencement of the development hereby permitted, a scheme
of noise mitigation measures in respect of the invertor units and any ancillary
noise generating fixed plant/machinery shall be submitted to and approved.
The scheme shall include a predictive noise survey for the site, in accordance
with BS4142:2014. Implementation shall be in accordance with the approved
details

8.22

LF Acoustics Ltd set out that they undertook a noise assessment in 2020
based upon the proposed equipment to evaluate the noise levels and assess
the potential impacts associated with the operation. The report concluded,
with appropriate mitigation measures implemented, noise from the operation
of the solar farm would not result in any significant adverse noise impacts and
thus accord with the requirements of paragraph 7.67 of the adopted local plan
and those of the NPPF. Based upon the assessment prepared and proposed
plant, officers concluded that the requirements of Condition 16 have been
met and Condition 16 was discharged on 16 June 2020 (Application No.
15/02591/COND16).

8.23

This application seeks to change the type of inverters from the central
inverters, to a scheme using smaller string inverters, which would be
mounted beneath the solar panels. There would be no change to the plant
within the area associated within the DNO substation area (Application No.
20/00814/FULLS). Also proposed are separate stations for transformers.
These would sporadically stationed around the solar farm.

8.24

The locations for this infrastructure is located as far from surrounding
properties as possible, whilst maintaining appropriate connections.
Calculations of the noise levels utilising the string inverters have been made,
taking account of noise from the associated transformers and substation. The
results of the calculations indicate that the use of string inverters would result
in a noticeable reduction in noise levels of between 3 – 7 dB(A) compared to
the presently approved scheme. An assessment of the noise levels against
the requirements of BS 4142 and other appropriate guidance clearly indicated
that the operation of the solar farm using string inverters would not result in
any adverse noise impacts at the surrounding properties. The use of string
inverters would therefore remain compliant with the requirements of Condition
16 of the planning permission for the solar farm.

Page 28

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 26 April 2022

8.25

The Third Addendum Noise report from LF Acoustics dated December 2021
has provided the necessary comparison information for the proposed new
equipment versus that already permitted and the summary contained within
figures 2 and 3 in Appendix A is particularly clear. It is also apparent from the
layout plan that efforts have been made to locate the equipment so as to
minimise impacts from noise. The Environmental Health Officer comments
that from an acoustic point of view the proposal is an improvement on that
already permitted and has no objection to the proposal.

8.26

Comments have been received that the noise analysis does not consider the
night time (eg 02:00 – 05:00) when ambient noise is minimum. The
Addendum considers noise levels when the solar panels and inverters would
be operational, during daytime hours, to comply with the NPPF. No power
would be generated at night and therefore the transformers will not be
operational.

8.27

In light of the above information and subject to a condition ensuring the
development is carried out in accordance with the acoustic information, it is
considered that the proposed development can be provided without creating
an unacceptable adverse impact on human health, the natural environment or
general amenity in accordance with policy E8 of the RLP 2016.

8.28

Ecology
Supplementary Ecology Note
This application is supported by a Supplementary Ecology Note (Avian
Ecology, December 2021). It is concluded within the ecology note that the
alterations to the proposed layout will only impact on arable land and
livestock rearing, with no additional impacts on field boundaries and habitats
of ecological importance. It is stated that the proposed alterations will
therefore have no greater effects than those previously considered within
consented developments, and will lead to greater provision of habitat
(“Conservation areas”) within the site.

8.29

The proposed development does not materially change the mitigation
measures outlined within the Ecological assessments submitted with the
previous scheme. The recommendations secured within the previous scheme
(Ecological Assessment – Addendum Report (Avian Ecology, 2019)) are still
applicable in the case of this current application. Provided these previous
recommendations (including the pre-commencement surveys and proposed
mitigation measures) are secured under planning condition the Council
Ecologist raises no concerns over the proposed alterations.

8.30

Biodiversity Net Gain
The submitted Biodiversity Net Gain Metric shows a net gain in biodiversity.
This site has been subject to a number of applications, with a long planning
history demonstrating net gains in biodiversity on site. The Council Ecologist
raises no concerns over the proposed alterations, particularly as the metric
demonstrates net gains in hedgerow and other habitats on site. The
development complies with policy E5 of the RLP which seeks to conserve
and where possible restore and / or enhance biodiversity.

Page 29

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 26 April 2022

8.31

Highway impacts
The application site is accessed off Woodington Road through Woodington
Farm. The access proposals remain the same as described and approved
within the original application. A permanent maintenance access is to be
taken from Hackleys Lane to the south of the site (as part of the original
Planning Permission) and a construction access to be improved off
Woodington Road through Woodington Farm utilised for all construction
deliveries.

8.32

Nightingale Farm
Comments have been received in respect of neighbours at Nightingale Farm
not giving permission to have their hedge cut in association with the proposed
access arrangements for construction on Woodington Road. This is
annotated on drawing no H.459/07 which has previously been submitted and
approved with the Construction Management Plan. The current application
does not alter this approved document. The Case Officer has previously
corresponded with the owner of Nightingale Farm directly and confirmed that
any consents/permission required to cut hedgerow is a matter to be resolved
by the landowner and the applicant in the interests of highway safety and
traffic management.

8.33

The Highways Officer has been consulted on the proposal and has no
objections to the proposals. Subject to previously approved information
secured through condition it is considered the development can be provided
in accordance with relevant policies of the RLP 2016.

8.34

Public Rights of Way
The alignment of the existing on-site footpath would be retained resulting in
no direct physical effects on the on-site footpath as result of the proposed
amendments.

8.35

Bridleways
Drawing H.0357_57 overlays the existing and proposed bridleway routes.
The routes alter slightly in some areas to accommodate the slight increase
solar panels in some areas of the site. However, overall the bridleway
network across the site remains in situ and can be secured for
implementation through condition. A comment has been received in respect
of the bridleway route and the southern edge of Smidmore Copse causing
damage to the ancient woodland. The drawing shows an increase in
proximity to the ancient woodland in part but this is still located along the
edge of the woodland and in other instances on this southern boundary of the
Copse the bridleway has been moved away from the woodland. It is not
considered that as a result any further significant impacts would be created
on the Copse woodland.

8.36

Flooding and Drainage
This submission does not include any additional surface water or drainage
information. To ensure an appropriate strategy is secured a condition is
suggested for full details prior to commencement. Subject to this condition it
is considered that the development can be provided without significant harm
to flood risk and drainage.

Page 30

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 26 April 2022

8.37

Health and Safety
Electromagnetic fields and radiation
Concern has been raised regarding electromagnetic fields and radiation as a
result of the development. The applicant has previously provided an
assessment dated July 2020 which sets out that the Government, acting on
the advice of authoritative scientific bodies, has put in place appropriate
measures to protect the public from EMFs. These measures are set out in a
Written Ministerial Statement, National Policy statement EN-5, and two
Codes of Practice. The predominant source of exposure is the existing
overhead line connecting the substation to the local electricity distribution
system. The EMFs from the overhead line have been demonstrated as
complying with the relevant exposure limits. There will be no significant EMF
effects resulting from this proposed development amendments and no
mitigation is required.

8.38

Other matters
Generating capacity
A comment was received in respect of the generating capacity of the solar
farm. Confirmation has been received from the applicant that the resultant
development would not exceed 40MW. 50MW is the threshold for renewable
energy developments under the Development Consent Order process.

8.39

Plans submitted
Comments have been received in respect of the way in which information has
been presented by the applicant in this application. The covering letter
provides a basic overview of what the application seeks approval for and any
appropriate additional information has been received. Comments also
highlighted that the substation permitted previously does not appear on the
drawings. As outlined above at para 8.3 this application relates to the
variation of conditions under 15/02591/FULLS only.

8.40

Screening of application
Comments have highlighted the requirement to provide an EIA screening
assessment on this site. The Council with the agreement of the Applicant
have provided a screening opinion.

8.41

Timing of application
Comments received set out concern that the timing of the application
submitted the week before Christmas leaves little time between the
Christmas and New year break for proper scrutiny. The application has been
subject to two separate publicity periods to ensure all interested parties have
had ample time to review and comment on the proposals.

8.42

Tree planting and agricultural land
Comments received outline concern that the further tree planting on
cultivated farm land will make it incapable in practice of being restored to its
previous agricultural state at the end of the operational life of the
development. Tree planting and landscaping is located predominantly around
the existing field edges ensuring the open spaces of the fields are retained.

Page 31

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 26 April 2022

8.43

Consultees
A comment has been received setting out that German Fischer has no
objections so long as the safety brochures are met but where is the Plan to
meet their requirement? To confirm, Esso Petroleum Co Ltd, do have
apparatus situated near the proposed works but have no objections to the
proposals. A note has been added to the recommendation highlighting the
proximity of the apparatus and the ‘Special Requirements for Safe Working’
booklet and the covenants contained in the Deed of Grant.

8.44

A comment has noted that throughout all the applications SSE has been a
consultee but TVBC has never waited for the response. The comments also
ask why hasn’t the DNO Substation Complex Electrical design
(J0062_L_001) been approved by SSE? Indeed has there been consultee
response from SSE? Officers confirm that SSE have been consulted on this
application on the 28th January 2022. No response has been received to
date. SSE were also consulted on the 15/02590/FULLS application. A
response from SSE is not required to enable the consideration of this
application.

8.45

Conditions to be amended
A comment received sets out that the submission for example seeks to
change 13 of the conditions (10 explicitly stated and 3 by implication) of
15/02591/FULLS without explaining what it wishes to change.
Condition information for several conditions has previously been approved
under the 2015 application and in respect of these conditions the applicant
simply seeks updated wording to reflect information that has already been
approved. This is in addition to any plans and information that has been
amended as a result of the proposed changes set out in the covering letter
under this application. The draft conditions proposed to be attached to the
permission are set out below.

8.46

Inverters
A number of questions were raised about the inverters in representations
received. To confirm application 15/02591/FULLS approved drawings show
18 inverters which were sunny central inverters. Drawing H.0357_52 ‘Sunny
Central Inverter with Transformer and Switchgear Building Detail’, prepared
by Pegasus Group, dated 6th August 2020 and Drawing H.0357_53
‘Enclosed Sunny Central Inverter with Transformer and Switchgear Building
Detail’, prepared by Pegasus Group, dated 6th August 2020 show this detail.
The alternate string inverters are proposed on this current application with
approx. 168 being positioned on the solar panels at sporadic points across
the site.

8.47

Procedure
Representations received query the way in which information has been
uploaded to the Council website and notifications provided. Information
submitted to the Council has been uploaded onto the website in a prompt
manner to ensure up to date information is available to view. Notification to
interested parties has been provided when considered reasonable to do so.

Page 32

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 26 April 2022

9.0
9.1

CONCLUSION
The proposals are considered to be in accordance with the policies within the
development plan, as well as the aims of the NPPF and PPG. Material
considerations do not indicate that the decision should be otherwise than in
accordance with the development plan. Accordingly, it is recommended that
planning permission be granted.

10.0 RECOMMENDATION
PERMISSION subject to;
1.
The development hereby permitted shall be begun within three years
from the date of the original permission ref: 15/02591/FULLS dated
4th July 2017.
Reason: To comply with the provision of Section 91 of the Town and
Country Planning Act 1990 as amended by Section 51 of the
Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004
2.
The development shall not be carried out other than in complete
accordance with the approved plans comprising drawings:
H.0357_01 G – Site location
H.0357_06 V – Site layout plan
H.0357_24 F – Site location
H.0357_39 D 1 – Detailed Landscape Proposals
H.0357_39 D 2 – Detailed Landscape Proposals
H.0357_39 D 3 – Detailed Landscape Proposals
H.0357_57 C – Revised fence and path changes
EP-1253-C-ELV-STS-02 – Transformer Elevations
H.0357_11 B – Deer Fence
drwg 13_xxx_05.1_02 - Detail Framework 6 x4 block
drwg 13_xxx_05.2_02 - Detail Framework 12x 4 block
drwg h.0357_28 - CCTV detail
drwg H459/4 Rev B - Proposed Construction Access
Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper
planning.
3.
The planning permission hereby granted is for a period of 25 years
from the date that the development, forming the Solar Farm
(reference: 15/02591/FULLS) was first implemented on 22nd June
2020. This planning permission will expire on the same date. This
date being 22nd June 2045.
Reason: In order that the land is returned to its original condition
and use following the expiry of the permission in accordance with
policies COM2, E1 and E2 of the Test Valley Borough Revised Local
Plan (2016).
4.
The development hereby permitted shall proceed in accordance with
the 'Outline Method Statement for Works Affecting Dormice'
(OMSWAD), as set out in Appendix 3 of the submitted 'Woodington
Farm Further Ecological Information' (Avian Ecology, July 2016). In
the event a European Protected Species license is issued by Natural
England, and insofar as there is a conflict between the OMSWAD and
the licence, the development hereby permitted shall proceed in
accordance with the terms of the licence.

Page 33

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 26 April 2022

5.

6.

7.

8.

9.

10.

Reason: To ensure the favourable conservation status of dormice in
accordance with Policy E5 of the Test Valley Borough Revised Local
Plan (2016).
Development shall be carried out in accordance with the
'Construction Environmental Management Plan', Avian Ecology,
dated 20th December 2021.
Reason: To avoid, mitigate and compensate for impacts to
biodiversity, including SINCs, notable habitats and notable and
protected species, in accordance with Policy E5 of the Test Valley
Borough Revised Local Plan (2016).
Development shall proceed in accordance with the Biodiversity
Management Plan, Avian Ecology, dated 15th December 2019,as
approved under condition 6 of application 15/02591/FULLS on the
8th June 2020.
Reason: To conserve and enhance biodiversity in accordance with
Policy E5 of the Test Valley Borough Revised Local Plan (2016).
Prior to the decommissioning of the site, a detailed
decommissioning strategy addressing biodiversity impacts arising
from the decommissioning phase, shall be submitted to and
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. This shall be
supported by any necessary updated ecological survey and
assessment work and include measures that would ensure that upon
decommissioning, there would be an overall net gain in biodiversity
value at the site from the pre-commencement baseline conditions, as
defined by the ecological survey work submitted to support the
planning application. Decommissioning works shall proceed in
accordance with the approved strategy.
Reason: To conserve and enhance biodiversity in accordance with
Policy E5 of the Test Valley Borough Local Plan (2016).
The development hereby approved shall be undertaken in full
accordance with the provisions set out in the submitted
'Arboricultural Impact Assessment Report' (Barton Hyett Associates)
updated December 2021, including the Tree
retention/removal/Protection Plan BHA_531_02 - Sheets 1 – 4.
Reason: to ensure the enhancement of the development by the
retention of existing trees and natural features during the
construction phase, in accordance with Policy E2 of the Test Valley
Borough Revised Local Plan (2016).
Tree protective measures installed in accordance with condition 7
shall be maintained and retained for the full duration of the works or
until such time as agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority's
Arboricultural Officer. No activities nor material storage, nor
placement of site huts or other equipment whatsoever shall take
place within the fencing
Reason: To ensure the avoidance of damage to existing trees and
natural features during the construction phase in accordance with
Policy E2 of the Test Valley Borough Revised Local Plan (2016).
All service routes, drain runs, soakaways or excavations in
connection with the same shall remain wholly outside the tree
protective fencing.

Page 34

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 26 April 2022

11.

12.

13.

14.

15.

16.

Reason: To ensure the avoidance of damage to existing trees and
natural features during the construction phase in accordance with
Policy E2 of the Test Valley Borough Revised Local Plan (2016).
Development shall be carried out in accordance with the Written
Scheme of Investigation: Trial Trench Evaluation, Pegasus Group,
November 2019 approved under condition 11 of application
15/02591/FULLS on the 21st November 2019.
Reason: The site is potentially of archaeological significance in
accordance with Test Valley Borough Revised Local Plan (2016)
Policy E9.
Development shall proceed in accordance with the Construction
Management Plan, Ethical Power, December 2019 and plan H.459/07
approved under condition 12 of application 15/02591/FULLS on the
11th June 2020, unless otherwise agreed with the local planning
authority.
Reason: In the interests of highway safety, in accordance with Policy
T1 and E8 of the Test Valley Borough Revised Local Plan (2016).
Development shall be carried out in accordance with drawing
numbers H.0357_39 D 1, H.0357_39 D 2 and H.0357_39 D 3 showing
the detailed landscape proposals.
Reason: To improve the appearance of the site and enhance the
character of the development in the interest of visual amenity and
contribute to the character of the local area in accordance with
Policy E2 of the Test Valley Borough Revised Local Plan (2016).
Development shall be carried out in accordance with the Landscape
Maintenance plan dated December 2021.
Reason: To ensure that the works undertaken maintain the
appearance of the site and enhance the character of the
development in the interest of visual amenity and contribute to the
character of the local area in accordance with Policy E2 of the Test
Valley Borough Revised Local Plan (2016).
The development shall not be operated otherwise than in compliance
with the noise limits as specified in the LF Acoustics report (Noise
Assessment 3rd Addendum Report, December 2021).
Reason: To safeguard the amenity of nearby residential properties,
in accordance with Policy E8 of the Test Valley Borough Revised
Local Plan (2016).
Prior to the commencement of the development hereby permitted,
full details of the proposed bridleway network shall be submitted to
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. These
details shall include the proposed routes, means of access/egress to
the bridleways, construction and surfacing details, ongoing
management and maintenance as well as details of the timetable for
the provision of the bridleway network on site. Implementation shall
be in accordance with the approved details and shall be maintained
for the duration of the lifetime of the solar farm.
Reason: To ensure satisfactory provision, maintenance and
retention, in accordance with Policy T1 of the Test Valley Borough
Revised Local Plan (2016).

Page 35

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 26 April 2022

17.

There shall be no external lighting erected on the site during the
construction or operational phase of the development.
Reason: In the interests of the countryside location and to avoid
impacts to ecological interests on the site in accordance with Policy
E5 of the Test Valley Borough Revised Local Plan (2016).
18. Prior to the commencement of the development hereby permitted,
full details of the proposed surface water drainage strategy shall be
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning
Authority. Implementation shall be in accordance with the approved
details.
Reason: To ensure satisfactory drainage provision on site, in
accordance with Policy COM15 of the Test Valley Borough Revised
Local Plan (2016).
19. No development (including site clearance and any other preparatory
works) shall take place until a method statement detailing how trees
shown on the approved plans to be retained are to be protected has
been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning
Authority. Such a scheme shall include a plan showing the location
for the CCTV cameras with any recommended pruning requirements,
location and specification of any protective fencing, ground
protection or other precautionary measures as informed by British
Standard 5837:2012. Such protection measures shall be installed
prior to any other site operations and at least 2 working days notice
shall be given to the Local Planning Authority. Tree protection
installed in discharge of this condition shall be retained and
maintained for the full duration of works or until such time as agreed
in writing with the Local Planning Authority. No activities whatsoever
shall take place within the protected areas without the prior written
agreement of the Local Planning Authority.
Reason: To ensure the enhancement of the development by the
retention of existing trees and natural features during the
construction phase in accordance with Test Valley Borough Revised
Local Plan policy E2.
Notes to applicant:
1.
In reaching this decision Test Valley Borough Council (TVBC) has
had regard to the National Planning Policy Framework and takes a
positive and proactive approach to development proposals focused
on solutions. TVBC work with applicants and their agents in a
positive and proactive manner offering a pre-application advice
service and updating applicants/agents of issues that may arise in
dealing with the application and where possible suggesting
solutions.
2.
Attention is drawn to Esso Petroleum Co Ltd apparatus situated near
the proposed works and the ‘Special Requirements for Safe Working’
booklet and the covenants contained in the Deed of Grant.

Page 36

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 26 April 2022

Hedge Top=31.01

Hedge Top=32.64

Hedge Top=31.10

Hedge Top=30.56

Hedge Top=29.52

S
GA
MK

Hedge Top=25.65

Hedge Top=24.99

Hedge Top=37.87
GAS
MK

Hedge Top=38.46

Hedge Top=37.35

GP

MK

Proposed native tree
planting to include Oak,
Field Maple and Hawthorn,
and boundary hedges to
be allowed to grow up to
3m in height.

Hedge Top=28.23

Hedge Top=27.86

Hedge Top=28.40

Hedge Top=33.67

Hedge Top=28.46

Hedge Top=27.85

Hedge Top=32.43

GP
GP

Hedge Top=32.77

Hedge Top=27.47
Hedge Top=31.49

Hedge Top=31.87

Hedge Top=26.51
Hedge Top=32.48

Hedge Top=27.68

Hedge Top=28.48

Hedge Top=27.86

Hedge Top=25.87

GP

MK

IC
45.39

Eaves=47.80

Ridge=48.74

EP
SL
38.42
EP

SL

Proposed native tree
planting to include Oak,
Field Maple and Hawthorn

MK

Gas
MK

MK

Gas
MK

Proposed construction
access point off Woodington
Road

EP

EP

H.0357 Woodington Farm Planting schedule

EP

Code

Species

Form

Girth cm

Height cm

Root
condition

TREES (To be planted within the hedgerow infilling. Randomly spaced with at least 5m between each
tree, except the Crataegus monogyna (semi standards) to be planted at 5m – 7m intervals along the
northern boundary (indicated on the plan).

AC
QR
CM

Acer campestre
Quercus robur
Crataegus monogyna

Feathered
SS
SS

10-12
10-12

125-150
300-350
300-350

Bare root
45 L
Bare root

EP

EP

EP

Root
Condition

Acer campestre (15%)
Crataegus monogyna (35%)
Corylus avellana (15%)
Cornus sanguineum (10%)
Prunus spinosa (20%)
Rosa canina (5%)

Feathered
Bagged
Bagged
Bagged
Bagged
Bagged

Height cm

Species

AC
CM
CA
CS
PS
RC

Age +
Times
Transpl

Code

NATIVE HEDGE TRANSPLANTS @ 5 plants per linear metre for infilling of existing hedgerows.

1+1
1+1
1+1
1+1
1+1
1+1

.24

el =31

el Lev

Cab

60-80
80-100
60-80
40-60
40-60
40-60

Proposed maintenance
access point off
Hackleys Lane

GRASS SEEDING
WFG8 Hedgerows & Shaded Areas (Germinal) (to be agreed with the project ecologist) at 4gms/m2.
(To be sown around the perimeter areas of the Application Site as indicated on the plan).
Herbiseeds Basic General Purpose Meadow Mix WF21 sown at 3gms/m2. (To be sown within the
security fence within the area occupied by solar panels, as indicated on the plan).
Area of wildflower meadow
Emorsgate EM3 Special General Purpose Meadow Mixture sown at 4gms/m2 or similar approved (to be
agreed with the project ecologist.

KEY
Site Boundary

STS-(6880KVA)-H1
Smart Transformer Station

Proposed Transformer Station

Existing Woodland / Tree Belt

Proposed Inverter

Existing Hedgerow

Proposed Conservation Area with New Tree Planting

Existing Tree

Proposed Solar Panels

Existing Footpath

Proposed Access Track

Existing Overhead Lines

Approved Planning Permission 20/00814/

Existing Oil Pipe

Temporary Compound

Proposed Hedgerow

Proposed Bridleway

Proposed Tree

Proposed Bridleway Access Points

Proposed Security Fence

CCTV Camera

| T 01285 641717 |

F 01285 642348 |

Revisions:

Note
All hedgerows within the site are to be infilled where necessary

www.pegasuspg.co.uk |

•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

First issue
Layout amended for new boundary
New layout
Layout revised
Layout revised - flood risk
Amendments to proposed bridleway
Amendments to access track
Amendments to planting and layout
Substation area added
New layout inserted
Layout revised
Layout and planting revised
Conservation area amended

24/02/14
26/05/15
09/06/15
30/06/15
27/07/15
02/09/15
18/09/15
22/12/16
12/10/17
20/11/17
13/02/19
27/03/19
22/05/19

O
P
Q
R
T
U

•
•
•
•
•
•

Revised substation layout inserted
Substation access and layout revised
Revised layout
Revised layout
Revised boundary
Revised layout

11/03/20
22/12/20
06/12/21
20/12/21
14/02/22
23/02/2022

0

© Copyright Pegasus Planning Group Ltd. © Crown copyright, All rights reserved. 2016 emapsite Licence number 0100031673. Ordnance Survey Copyright Licence number 100042093 I Promap Licence number 100020449 .
Pegasus Environmental is part of Pegasus Planning Group Ltd. Drawing prepared for planning. Any queries to be reported to Pegasus for clarification

Page 37

Woodington Farm, East Wellow

Date

A
B
C
D
E
F
G
H
J
K
L
M
N

250m

Site Layout Plan

Drawn by : AD/JS

Checked by : HR

Date : 23/02/2022

H.0357_06U

1 : 3500 @ A1

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 26 April 2022

Hedge Top=31.01

Hedge Top=32.64

Hedge Top=31.10

Hedge Top=30.56

Hedge Top=29.52

S
GA
MK

Hedge Top=25.65

Hedge Top=24.99

Hedge Top=37.87
GAS
MK

Hedge Top=38.46

Hedge Top=37.35

GP

MK

Proposed native tree
planting to include Oak,
Field Maple and Hawthorn,
and boundary hedges to
be allowed to grow up to
3m in height.

Hedge Top=28.23

Hedge Top=27.86

Hedge Top=28.40

Hedge Top=33.67

Hedge Top=28.46

Hedge Top=27.85

Hedge Top=32.43

GP
GP

Hedge Top=32.77

Hedge Top=27.47
Hedge Top=31.49

Hedge Top=31.87

Hedge Top=26.51
Hedge Top=32.48

Hedge Top=27.68

Hedge Top=28.48

Hedge Top=27.86

Hedge Top=25.87

GP

MK

IC
45.39

Eaves=47.80

Ridge=48.74

EP
SL
38.42
EP

SL

Proposed native tree
planting to include Oak,
Field Maple and Hawthorn

MK

Gas
MK

MK

Gas
MK

Proposed construction
access point off Woodington
Road

EP

EP

EP

EP

EP

EP

.24

el =31

el Lev

Cab

Proposed maintenance
access point off
Hackleys Lane

Revisions:
First Issue- 02/02/2022 JS
A - (14/02/2022 JS) Revised boundary
B - (23/02/2022 AD) Revised layout

KEY
Existing Footpath
Proposed Amended Bridleway

Changes to Fence Lines
and Permissive Paths

Proposed Bridleway (Approved under application reference: 15/02591/FULLS)
Proposed Security Fence (Approved under application reference: 15/02591/FULLS)
Proposed Amended Security Fence

Woodington Farm,
East Wellow

Proposed Bridleway Access Points

Client: Hive Energy

0

250m

DRWG No: H.0357_57

Sheet No:_ REV: B

Drawn by : AD

Approved by: HR

Date: 23/02/2022
Copyright Pegasus Planning Group Ltd. © Crown copyright and database rights 2022 Ordnance Survey 0100031673. Emapsite Licence number 0100031673. Promap License number 100020449.
Pegasus accepts no liability for any use of this document other than for its original purpose, or by the original client, or following Pegasus' express agreement to such use. T 01285641717 www.pegasusgroup.co.uk
Page

Scale:

38

1:3500

@ A1

Refer to H.0357-39_Sht 2

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 26 April 2022

Hedge Top=31.01

Hedge Top=32.64

Hedge Top=31.10

Hedge Top=30.56

Hedge Top=29.52

S
GA
MK

Hedge Top=25.65

Hedge Top=24.99

3 nr. Quercus robur

1 nr. Acer campestre

Hedge Top=37.87
GAS
MK

2 nr. Crataegus monogyna
Hedge Top=38.46

3 nr. Quercus robur
Hedge Top=37.35

MK

Hedge Top=28.23

Hedge Top=27.86

Hedge Top=28.40

Hedge Top=33.67

Hedge Top=28.46

Hedge Top=27.85

Hedge Top=32.43

Hedge Top=32.77

Hedge Top=27.47
Hedge Top=31.49

Hedge Top=31.87

Hedge Top=26.51
Hedge Top=32.48

Hedge Top=27.68

Hedge Top=28.48

Hedge Top=27.86

Hedge Top=25.87

GP

Approved planning
permission
20/00814/FULLS.

MK

3 nr. Crataegus monogyna

Refer to H.0357-39_Sht 3
1 nr. Quercus robur

3 nr. Acer campestre

Key Plan. Scale 1:10000 @ A0

2 nr. Quercus robur

H.0357-39_Sht 2
H.0357-39_Sht 1
HedgeTop=31
.01

1 nr. Quercus robur

HedgeTop=32
.64

HedgeTop=31
.10

HedgeTop=30
.56

HedgeTop=29
.52

GAS
MK

HedgeTop=25
.65

HedgeTop=24
.99

HedgeTop=37
.87

GAS
MK

HedgeTop=38
.46

HedgeTop=37
.35

3 nr. Quercus robur

3 nr. Crataegus monogyna

GP

MK

HedgeTop=28
.23

HedgeTop=27
.86

3 nr. Crataegus monogyna
HedgeTop=28
.40

HedgeTop=33
.67
GP
GP

HedgeTop=28
.46

HedgeTop=27
.85

HedgeTop=32
.43

HedgeTop=32
.77

3 nr. Quercus robur

H.0357 Woodington Farm Planting schedule

Gas
MK

HedgeTop=27
.47
HedgeTop=31
.49

HedgeTop=31
.87

HedgeTop=26
.51
HedgeTop=32
.48

HedgeTop=27
.68

Gas
MK

HedgeTop=28
.48

HedgeTop=27
.86

HedgeTop=25
.87
GP

TREES To be planted both within proposed new hedgerow planting, and 1.0m in front of existing
hedgerow planting. Randomly spaced with at least 5m between each tree, except the Crataegus
monogyna (semi standards) to be planted at 5m – 7m intervals).
Species

Form

Girth cm

Height
cm

Feathered
SS
SS

10-12
10-12

125-150
300-350
300-350

Root condition

TOTAL

3 nr. Acer campestre

MK

IC
45.39

Eaves=47
.80

Ridge=48
.74

EP
SL
38.42

SL

EP

2 nr. Acer campestre
MK

Gas
MK

MK

Gas
MK

Acer campestre
Quercus robur
Crataegus monogyna

38
45
53
52

Bare root
45 L
Bare root

NATIVE HEDGE TRANSPLANTS @ 5 plants per linear metre for infilling of existing hedgerows.
Mix %

15
35
15
10
20
5

Species

Root
Condition

Age +
Times
Transplanted

Height cm

TOTAL

Acer campestre
Crataegus monogyna
Corylus avellana
Cornus sanguineum
Prunus spinosa
Rosa canina

Feathered
Bagged
Bagged
Bagged
Bagged
Bagged

1+1
1+1
1+1
1+1
1+1
1+1

60-80
80-100
60-80
40-60
40-60
40-60

263
720
612
1680
263
720
176
481
350
960
87
240

EP

EP

EP

EP

Refer to dwg H.0357_39_Sht 2 for Outline landscape Specification

EP

EP

.24
=31
Level
Cabel

KEY

H.0357-39_Sht 3

Proposed Conservation Areas
Existing Woodland / Tree Belt
Proposed Solar Panels

Existing Hedgerow

Proposed Access Track

Existing Tree

Proposed Construction Access

Existing Footpath

Revisions:
First Issue - 01/11/2019 RL
A (21/12/2021 ARW) Landscape Amended to Revised Layout
B (14/02/2022 JS) Revised boundary
C (23/02/2022 AD) Revised layout

Grazing Seed Mix.
To be seeded with Cotswold Seeds (or similar) Solar Park Long
Term Grazing Mixture with Clover.

Existing Overhead Lines
Proposed Hedgerow

Proposed Hedgerow Edge Grass Mix.

3 nr.
3 Germinal
nr.
3Quercus
nr.
Quercus
Quercus
robur
robur
(orrobur
similar)
WFG8 Hedgerows & Shaded Areas seed mix.

Proposed Tree Planting
Proposed grassed Bridleway - 3.0m
minimum wide
To be seeded with Cotswold Seeds
3 nr.
Quercus
(or similar) Solar Park Long
Term
Grazing Mixture with Clover.

Sown @ 4 gms/m2

robur

Proposed Wildflower Meadow Mixture to Conservations Areas.
Emorsgate (or similar) EM3 Special General Purpose Meadow
Mixture. Sown @ 4 gms/m2

Detailed Landscape Proposals

Notes
Proposed Bridleway Access Points
Proposed Security Fence.
2.0m high deer fence supported by
2.2m high wooden posts. See dwg.
H.0357_11B

0

Woodington Farm, East Wellow

All seed mixes to be approved by ecologist.
All existing hedgerows within the site are to be infilled where necessary
with species to match proposed new hedgerow planting. Stock size - see
schedule above. Extent and numbers of infill hedgerow planting to be
determined on site.

Client: Woodington Solar Limited

100m

Sheet No:1

Drawn by : AD

Approved by: HR

Date: 23/02/2022
Scale: 1:1000 @ A0
Copyright Pegasus Planning Group Ltd. Crown copyright, All rights reserved. 2019 Emapsite Licence number 0100031673. Ordnance Survey Copyright Licence number 100042093. Promap Licence number 100020449 .
Pegasus accepts no liability for any use of this document other than for its original purpose, or by the original client, or following Pegasus' express agreement to such use. T 01285641717 www.pegasusgroup.co.uk

Page 39

REV: C

DRWG No: H.0357_39

HedgeTop=27
.86

GP

HedgeTop=25
.87

HedgeTop=26
.51

HedgeTop=27
.47

HedgeTop=27
.85

HedgeTop=28
.46

HedgeTop=28
.40

HedgeTop=24
.99

HedgeTop=27
.86

HedgeTop=28
.23

HedgeTop=27
.68

HedgeTop=28
.48

HedgeTop=31
.49

HedgeTop=32
.77

HedgeTop=32
.43

2 nr. Acer campestre

3 nr. Crataegusmonogyna

1 nr. Quercusrobur

2 nr. Quercusrobur

3 nr. Acer campestre

1 nr. Quercusrobur

3 nr. Crataegusmonogyna

HedgeTop=32
.48

HedgeTop=31
.87

HedgeTop=33
.67

HedgeTop=29
.52

MK

HedgeTop=31
.10

HedgeTop=32
.64

3 nr. Crataegusmonogyna

HedgeTop=38
.46

EP

3 nr. Quercusrobur

3 nr. Acer campestre

HedgeTop=37
.35

HedgeTop=31
.01

EP

GAS
MK

EP

3 nr. Quercusrobur

EP

Gas
MK

Gas
MK

Approved planning
permission
20/00814/FULLS.

HedgeTop=37
.87

EP

Page 40

Proposed Security Fence.
2.0m high deer fence supported by
2.2m high wooden posts. See dwg.
H.0357_11B

Proposed Bridleway Access Points

3 nr. Quercusrobur

MK

3 nr. Quercusrobur

1 nr. Quercusrobur

2 nr. Acer campestre

.24
=31
Level
Cabel

15% Acer campestre
135nr.
35% Crataegusmonogyna 315nr.
15% Corylusavellana
135nr.
10% Cornussanguineum 90nr.
20% Prunusspinosa
180nr.
5% Rosacanina
45nr.

NativeHedgerowPlanting
Length180m

1 nr. Crataegusmonogyna

1 nr. Quercusrobur

3 nr. Crataegusmonogyna

1 nr. Quercusrobur

3 nr. Crataegusmonogyna

2 nr.
Crataegus
monogyna

2 nr. Quercusrobur

1 nr. Quercusrobur

15% Acer campestre
109nr.
35% Crataegusmonogyna 254nr.
15% Corylusavellana
109nr.
10% Cornussanguineum 73nr.
20% Prunusspinosa
145nr.
5% Rosacanina
36nr.

NativeHedgerowPlanting
Length145m

2 nr. Acer campestre

1 nr. Quercusrobur

3 nr. Crataegusmonogyna

1 nr. Quercusrobur

2 nr. Acer campestre

3 nr. Acer
campestre

GP
GP

1 nr. Quercusrobur

1 nr. Quercusrobur

Eaves=47
.80

Ridge=48
.74

IC
45.39

EP

Proposedconstructionaccesspointoff
WoodingtonLane

GP

Proposed Hedgerow Edge Grass Mix.

Grazing Seed Mix.
To be seeded with Cotswold Seeds (or similar) Solar Park Long
Term Grazing Mixture with Clover.

Proposedmaintenanceaccesspointoff
HackleysLane

2 nr. Crataegusmonogyna

1 nr. Acer campestre

2 nr. Quercusrobur

2 nr. Acer campestre

Proposed Construction Access

Proposed Access Track

Proposed Solar Panels

2 nr. Quercusrobur

2 nr. Quercusrobur

1 nr. Quercusrobur

SL

38.42

SL

2 nr. Quercusrobur

2 nr. Acer campestre

1 nr. Quercusrobur

3 nr. Crataegusmonogyna

1 nr. Quercusrobur

Existinghedgerowto be maintainedat 3.0m high.

Proposed Conservation Areas

MK

1 nr. Quercusrobur

3 nr. Crataegusmonogyna

2 nr. Acer campestre

3 nr. Quercusrobur

3 nr. Acer campestre

3 nr. Crataegusmonogyna

15% Acer campestre
19nr.
35% Crataegusmonogyna 43nr.
15% Corylusavellana
19nr.
10% Cornussanguineum 13nr.
20% Prunusspinosa
25nr.
5% Rosacanina
6nr.

NativeHedgerowPlanting
Length25m

3 nr. Acer campestre
2 nr. Crataegusmonogyna

2 nr. Crataegusmonogyna

2 nr. Crataegusmonogyna

1 nr. Quercusrobur

3 nr. Crataegusmonogyna

2 nr. Acer campestre

1 nr. Crataegusmonogyna

2 nr. Quercusrobur

EP

robur

100m

Feathered Trees

All trees shall be watered in at the end of each day of planting.

1 nr. Quercus robur

3 nr. Crataegus monogyna

3 nr. Crataegus monogyna

3 nr. Acer campestre

Seeds can be mixed with a substrate such as sand or sawdust for ease of
broadcasting.

4.5

In the unlikely event that grassland fails to become established upon areas of
bare ground created during the works these areas will be lightly scarified and
reseeded with the same seed mix used to seed the site at the during the
construction phase.
An inspection will be undertaken in early August following completion of the
installation. The inspection will be undertaken by the solar farm operator.
Should the proportion of bare ground be greater than 20% sowing will be
repeated in these areas. Reseeding in August is likely to be particularly
appropriate where the months of May, June and July have been very dry. The
operating company will assess the proportion of bare ground on the site.

4.8

4.9

1 nr. Quercus robur

1 nr. Quercus robur

3 nr. Crataegus monogyna

1 nr. Quercus robur

SL

38.42

SL

Native Hedgerow Planting
Length 145m

Refer to H.0357-39_Sht 3

2 nr. Acer campestre

1 nr. Quercus robur

3 nr. Crataegus monogyna

1 nr. Quercus robur

3 nr. Acer
campestre

GP
GP

2 nr. Crataegus monogyna

3 nr. Acer campestre
2 nr. Crataegus monogyna

1 nr. Quercus robur

Please refer to seed suppliers recommendations for ongoing maintenance and
cutting regime.

It should be noted at peak grazing, ie 52 weeks per year, it would be possible
for 197 sheep to graze within the 49.2 Ha of enclosed solar panel areas. This is
based on stocking levels guidance from the Lowland Grassland Management
Handbook produced by Natural England. This is referenced further within the
Biodiversity Management Plan, produced by Avian ecology.

It is preferred that grazing will be undertaken by sheep, as other animals may
damage the solar structure.

Grazing will be carefully managed to ensure that the sward is maintained in
optimum condition without poaching or over grazing. This is likely to entail
grazing between February through to mid-December (where conditions allow),
at a low stocking density. In wet conditions the density will be reduced to
prevent poaching. It is recommended the sheep are removed from the grazing
areas from mid December through to late February to allow a period of
recovery as well as ensuring over grazing and poaching is prevented. Sheep
are able to be moved back into graze as soon as the soils begin to warm up
again.

Once established, the grassland areas may be managed by sheep grazing in the
long-term.

If these areas are to be grazed within the first year, allow 10-12 weeks for
initial establishment then sheep are able to graze for a week. Remove sheep
then allow a period of grazing in late summer then again before winter,
weather conditions allowing.

4.11 Grazing Regime (within solar panel areas)

Please refer to seed suppliers recommendations for ongoing maintenance and
cutting regime.

Cuttings should remain for 3-5 days allowing seeds to disperse. All arising’s
should then be removed.

The management will take a flexible approach and the exact dates will be
dependent upon weather conditions. A phased (rotational) cutting regime is
recommended (ie ideally the entire area should not be cut at the same time) in
order to allow for more structured grassland.

Cutting should follow a sympathetic method (ie working outwards towards the
boundary features), this will allow fauna such as invertebrates, birds and small
mammals to temporarily and safely vacate the area.

Following establishment, one or two cuts will be taken per year comprising an
early cut in February (if necessary) to manage regrowth around panels, and a
second later in the season between August and September (each cut reducing
the sward to 150mm high). No cuttings will take place throughout the Summer
to allow the seeds of the late flowering species to fall prior to the cut. It may be
necessary to carry out a further cut during the Summer, directly any areas
surrounding the panels if the height of the sward obstructs the solar panels.

EM3 Wildflower Meadow Grass Mixtures to Conservation Areas.
During the first year of establishment, these grass mixes will require cutting at
regular intervals. Topping and mowing regularly to enhance the establishment
and flowering for the following years. These mixes are largely of perennial
species and as such, slow to germinate and grow and will not usually flower in
the first growing season.

Solar Park Long Term Grazing Mixture.
During the first year of establishment, regular cutting is to take place to ensure
the sward never exceeds a height that obstructs the panels. Following
establishment, a similar regime can be adopted for mowing as the EM3
Wildflower Meadow Mixture below.

Grassed areas along hedgerow bases can be cut less frequently once
established, with a single main cut (reducing to 150mm) in late
August/September, subject to weather conditions.

WFG8 Hedgerows and Shaded Areas Grassland.
During the first year of establishment these grassed areas will require cutting
once in March, again in May when the sward exceeds 100mm high and a final
cut late August/September, reducing the sward to 40-70mm on each cut.
Arisings to be removed.

4.10 Mechanical Cutting Regime

2 nr. Quercus robur

2 nr. Quercus robur

2 nr. Quercus robur

Acer campestre
19nr.
Crataegus monogyna 43nr.
Corylus avellana
19nr.
Cornus sanguineum
13nr.
Prunus spinosa
25nr.
Rosa canina
6nr.

2 nr.
Crataegus
monogyna

15%
35%
15%
10%
20%
5%

2 nr. Quercus robur

2 nr. Acer campestre

Problem perennial weeds within the grassland will be controlled by carefully
targeted applications of a suitable selective none residual herbicide by way of
spot spraying with a knapsack (low pressure to avoid spray drift), or weed
wiping.

4.7

Native Hedgerow Planting
Length 25m

Following establishment of a suitable sward, the grassland habitats will be
managed through either grazing and/or mechanical cuts to develop grassland
with a varied structure. Both approaches are identified below.

4.6

Grassland Cutting

The seed supplier should be contacted prior to purchasing the seed mixture
and the soil conditions and location of the site should be discussed. A bespoke
seed mixture suitable for the specific conditions on the site may be more
suitable.

Grass seed will be sown in accordance with BS 4428 (1989), and will be sown
from April to May or from September to October, during calm weather and not
when the ground is frost bound or waterlogged. The site will be seeded where
shown using the seed mix shown below or equivalent (to be agreed with the
project ecologist).

Beneath and between the panels

Seeding should take place in early spring in the first year following completion
of underground wiring, and be broadcast by machine and rolled where
possible. The gaps between strings of panels are to be wide enough to
accommodate a tractor travelling between them for harrowing, sowing and
rolling purposes. In areas where a machine is unable to access, such as far
underneath panels, bare areas shall be raked by hand and seeding in these
areas should be broadcast by hand.

Areas to be seeded will be sprayed out using a glyphosate-based herbicide and
cultivated to a minimum depth of 100mm. During the construction phase there
may be areas which have suffered high soil compaction, for instance due to
heavy machinery being deployed. These areas should be harrowed using a disc
harrow to ensure the soil structure is suitable for subsequent sowing. If such a
requirement arises to harrow with discs, caution should be exercised to ensure
newly installed underground services are not damaged during harrowing.

Preparation

GRASS

4.4

4.3

4.2

4.1

4

3.11 The planting area will be kept weed free throughout the maintenance period
using approved herbicides in April, June and August.

3.10 All dead, dying or diseased hedge plants will be replaced with plants of similar
size and species. If the failure of the plant is due to disease and the disease is
considered likely to re-occur then an alternative species may be used as
replacement if agreed with the LPA.

Maintenance during first growing season

All hedgerow planted areas to be finished with a 50mm min depth of Amenity
bark mulch.

Weed growth in all areas of tree planting will be controlled until successful
establishment is achieved by careful application of a systemic herbicide such
as Roundup by an approved landscaping contractor in order to clear any
extraneous vegetation.

3.8

3.9

All plants shall be watered in at the end of each day of planting.

All bare-root hedge planting stock will be protected from rabbit damage using
approved proprietary 600mm clear plastic spiral guards, supported with 0.9m
12/14lb canes as advised by the manufacturer. Excluding evergreen species.

The plants should be planted using L shaped or straight notches) using spades
of a design suitable for this purpose. The notches must be vertical and deep
enough for the roots to hang freely, with the transplant being planted so that
the root collar is exactly level with the ground surface. The notch must then be
closed and the soil will be well firmed round the roots in line with the
guidelines as set out in BS 4428 (1989).

Existing hedgerows to have infill planting (as required following detailed review
on site), species and stock size to match proposed new hedgerow planting (see
planting schedule).

New hedgerows to be planted in double staggered rows as per schedule.

Planting

All extraneous matter such as plastic, wood, metal and stones greater than
50mm diameter will be removed from site to a registered waste disposal
facility.

Where necessary existing weeds will be treated with a glyphosate-based
herbicide and a suitable period allowed to elapse, as recommended by the
manufacturer, for the herbicide to take effect.

Ground Preparation

NATIVE HEDGE TRANSPLANTS

3.7

3.6

3.5

3.4

3.3

3.2

3.1

3

Existing hedgerow to be maintained at 3.0m high.

2 nr. Acer campestre

3 nr. Quercus robur

2.13 All trees shall be watered in at the end of each day of planting.

2.12 All feathered trees will be protected from rabbit and deer damage by the fitting
of 600mm spiral tree guards.

2.11 All newly planted feathered trees will be held so that movement at the root
collar is minimised until new roots have developed to anchor the tree.
Therefore low staking (75mm dia x 1.5m length) will be driven diagonally into
the ground and attached to the tree at approximately 600mm above ground
level. Stakes will be driven 300mm into undisturbed ground below base of tree
pit before planting the tree, taking care to avoid underground services and
cables. The trees will be staked using proprietary rubber ties and must be
firmly fixed with a spacing device used to prevent chafing against the tree.

2.10 Feathered trees are to be placed into the pits 500 x 500 x 300mm deep and
backfilled with excavated topsoil site. A general-purpose slow release fertiliser
(at the rate of 35gm/m2) and Tree Planting and Mulching Compost (at the rate
of 20 litres/m2) are to be incorporated into the top 150mm of topsoil during
backfilling if existing ground is unsuitable for re-use or is deemed to be
required.

2.9

Composted bark mulch or equivalent will be spread to a depth of 50mm in a
1.0m diameter circle around all individual select standard trees.

All select standard trees will be protected from rabbit and deer damage by the
fitting of 1.2m tree guards.

2.7

2.8

All standard trees will be held so that movement at the root collar is minimised
until new roots have developed to anchor the tree. A single vertical stake
(75mm dia x 1.8m length) will be used and attached to the tree at
approximately 1200mm above ground level. Stakes will be driven 300mm into
undisturbed ground beneath tree pit before planting the tree, taking care to
avoid underground services and cables. The trees will be secured using
proprietary rubber straps and must be firmly fixed with a spacing device used
to prevent chafing against the tree.

Trees shall be planted as per the plant schedule shown on this drawing

Standard trees are to be placed into pits (1000 x 1000 x 600mm depth) and
backfilled with excavated topsoil . A general-purpose slow release fertiliser (at
the rate of 35gm/m2) and Tree Planting and Mulching Compost (at the rate of
20 litres/m2) are to be incorporated into the top 150mm of topsoil during
backfilling if existing ground is unsuitable for re-use or is deemed to be
required. Where tree pits are more than 300mm deep, backfilled material shall
be consolidated/firmed in 150mm layers.

2.6

2.5

2.4

Where necessary existing weeds will be treated with a suitable glyphosatebased herbicide and a suitable period allowed to elapse, as recommended by
the manufacturer, for the herbicide to take effect before new planting
commences.

2.3

Standard

All extraneous matter such as plastic, wood, metal and stones greater than
100mm diameter will be removed from the planting areas and disposed of offsite.

All areas of proposed structure mix/tree belt planting shall be ripped in
advance of planting works.

TREE PLANTING

If the formation level is compacted it should be ripped through before
topsoiling.

All bare-root planting stock will be root dipped in an approved water-retaining
polymer.

All bare-root planting stock will be kept covered until actually planted in order
to minimise water-loss and prevent the roots from drying out.

Planting will not be carried out when the ground is waterlogged, frost bound or
during periods of cold drying winds.

All plants will conform to BS 3936-1 (1992): and be in accordance with the
National Plant Specification. Supplying nurseries will be registered under the
HTA Nursery Certification Scheme. All plants will be packed and transported in
accordance with the Code of Practice for Plant Handling as produced by CPSE.

GENERAL

2.2

2.1

2

1.5

1.4

1.3

1.2

1.1

1

Copyright Pegasus Planning Group Ltd. Crown copyright, All rights reserved. 2019 Emapsite Licence number 0100031673. Ordnance Survey Copyright Licence number 100042093. Promap Licence number 100020449 .
Pegasus accepts no liability for any use of this document other than for its original purpose, or by the original client, or following Pegasus' express agreement to such use. T 01285641717 www.pegasusgroup.co.uk

MK

3 nr. Quercus robur

3 nr. Acer campestre

1 nr. Quercus robur

2 nr. Acer campestre

3 nr. Crataegus monogyna

2 nr. Crataegus monogyna

All existing hedgerows within the site are to be infilled where necessary
with species to match proposed new hedgerow planting. Stock size - see
planting schedule on dwg 39 sheet 1. Extent and numbers of infill
hedgerow planting to be determined on site.

All seed mixes to be approved by ecologist.

Proposed Wildflower Meadow Mixture to Conservations Areas.
Emorsgate (or similar) EM3 Special General Purpose Meadow
Mixture. Sown @ 4 gms/m2

Sown @ 4 gms/m2

3 nr.
3 Germinal
nr.
3Quercus
nr.
Quercus
Quercus
robur
robur
(orrobur
similar)
WFG8 Hedgerows & Shaded Areas seed mix.

Notes

Proposed grassed Bridleway - 3.0m
minimum wide
To be seeded with Cotswold Seeds
3 nr.
Quercus
(or similar) Solar Park Long
Term
Grazing Mixture with Clover.

Proposed Tree Planting

Proposed Hedgerow

Existing Overhead Lines

Existing Footpath

Existing Tree

Existing Hedgerow

Existing Woodland / Tree Belt

0

ed planning
mission
14/FULLS.

KEY

EP

MK

2 nr. Acer campestre

3 nr. Acer campestre

1 nr. Quercusrobur

3 nr. Crataegusmonogyna

2 nr. Crataegusmonogyna

H.0357-39_Sht 2

H.0357-39_Sht 3

HedgeTop=30
.56

Key Plan. Scale 1:10000 @ A0

3 nr. Quercusrobur

2 nr. Crataegusmonogyna

1 nr. Acer campestre

3 nr. Quercusrobur

HedgeTop=25
.65

GAS
MK

H.0357-39_Sht 1

Refer to H.0357-39_Sht 1

PLANTING SPECIFICATION

1 nr. Quercus robur

Ridge=48.74

Eaves=47.80

2 nr. Crataegus monogyna

1 nr. Quercus robur

3 nr. Crataegus monogyna

2 nr. Acer campestre

IC
45.39

Emorsgate (or similar) EM3 Special General Purpose Meadow Mixture
(To be agreed with the project ecologist) sown at 4gms/m2
To be sown to areas within proposed Conservation Areas.

1 nr. Crataegus monogyna

2 nr. Quercus robur

Cotswold Seeds (or similar) Solar Park Long Term Grazing Mixture with Clover
(To be agreed with the project ecologist) sown at 32.5kg/ha
To be sown to larger open areas surrounding and within the security fencing of
areas occupied by solar panels as indicated on the plan.

Germinal (or similar) WFG8 Hedgerow & Shaded Areas
(To be agreed with the project ecologist) sown at 4gms/m2
To be sown around the perimeter areas of the Application Site as indicated on
the plans.

4.12 Grass Seed Mixtures

GP

EP

EP

Scale: 1:1000 @ A0

Date: 23/02/2022

Drawn by : AD

DRWG No: H.0357_39

REV: C
Approved by: HR

Sheet No:2

Client: Woodington Solar Limited

Woodington Farm, East Wellow

Detailed Landscape Proposals

Revisions:
First Issue - 01/11/2019 RL
A (21/12/2021 ARW) Landscape Amended to Revised Layout
B (14/02/2022 JS) Revised boundary
C (23/02/2022 AD) Revised layout

Refer to dwg H.0357_39_Sht 1 for Planting Schedule

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 26 April 2022

permission
20/00814/FULLS.

1 nr. Quercus robur

MK

2 nr. Acer campestre

Refer to H.0357-39_Sht 2

Refer to H.0357-39_Sht 1

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 26 April 2022

SL
38.42

SL

1 nr. Quercus robur

Native Hedgerow Planting
Length 145m

3 nr. Crataegus monogyna

15%
35%
15%
10%
20%
5%

Acer campestre
109nr.
Crataegus monogyna 254nr.
Corylus avellana
109nr.
Cornus sanguineum
73nr.
Prunus spinosa
145nr.
Rosa canina
36nr.

1 nr. Quercus robur
2 nr. Acer campestre

2 nr. Quercus robur
1 nr. Crataegus monogyna

1 nr. Acer campestre
2 nr. Crataegus monogyna
3 nr. Quercus robur

1 nr. Quercus robur

3 nr. Crataegus monogyna

MK

Gas
MK

3 nr. Quercus robur

1 nr. Quercus robur
MK

3 nr. Quercus robur

2 nr. Acer campestre

Gas
MK

1 nr. Quercus robur

3 nr. Acer campestre

Native Hedgerow Planting
Length 180m
15%
35%
15%
10%
20%
5%

2 nr. Acer campestre

3 nr. Crataegus monogyna

Acer campestre
135nr.
Crataegus monogyna 315nr.
Corylus avellana
135nr.
Cornus sanguineum
90nr.
Prunus spinosa
180nr.
Rosa canina
45nr.

EP

EP

EP

EP

EP

Key Plan. Scale 1:10000 @ A0
H.0357-39_Sht 2
H.0357-39_Sht 1
HedgeTop=31
.01

HedgeTop=32
.64

HedgeTop=31
.10

HedgeTop=30
.56

HedgeTop=29
.52

GAS
MK

HedgeTop=25
.65

HedgeTop=24
.99

HedgeTop=37
.87

GAS
MK

HedgeTop=38
.46

HedgeTop=37
.35

GP

MK

HedgeTop=28
.23

EP

HedgeTop=27
.86

HedgeTop=28
.40

HedgeTop=33
.67
GP
GP

HedgeTop=28
.46

HedgeTop=27
.85

HedgeTop=32
.43

HedgeTop=32
.77

HedgeTop=27
.47
HedgeTop=31
.49

HedgeTop=31
.87

HedgeTop=26
.51
HedgeTop=32
.48

HedgeTop=27
.68

HedgeTop=28
.48

HedgeTop=27
.86

HedgeTop=25
.87
GP

MK

IC
45.39

Eaves=47
.80

Ridge=48
.74

EP
SL
38.42

SL

EP

MK

Gas
MK

MK

Gas
MK

EP

EP

EP

4

1 .2

l =3

eve

lL
be

Ca
EP

EP

EP

.24
=31
Level
Cabel

H.0357-39_Sht 3
Proposed maintenance access point off
Hackleys Lane

KEY
Proposed Conservation Areas
Existing Woodland / Tree Belt
Existing Hedgerow
Existing Tree
Existing Footpath
Existing Overhead Lines
Proposed Hedgerow
Proposed Tree Planting

Proposed Solar Panels
Proposed Access Track
Proposed Construction Access
Grazing Seed Mix.
To be seeded with Cotswold Seeds (or similar) Solar Park Long
Term Grazing Mixture with Clover.

Revisions:
First Issue - 01/11/2019 RL
A (21/12/2021 ARW) Landscape Amended to Revised Layout
B (14/02/2022 JS) Revised boundary
C (23/02/2022 AD) Revised layout

Proposed Hedgerow Edge Grass Mix.

3 nr.
3 Germinal
nr.
3Quercus
nr.
Quercus
Quercus
robur
robur
(orrobur
similar)
WFG8 Hedgerows & Shaded Areas seed mix.
Sown @ 4 gms/m2

Proposed grassed Bridleway - 3.0m
Proposed Wildflower Meadow Mixture to Conservations Areas.
minimum wide
Emorsgate (or similar) EM3 Special General Purpose Meadow
To be seeded with Cotswold
Seeds
3 nr.
Quercus robur Mixture. Sown @ 4 gms/m2
(or similar) Solar Park Long Term
Grazing Mixture with Clover.
Notes

Detailed Landscape Proposals

Proposed Bridleway Access Points

Woodington Farm, East Wellow

Proposed Security Fence.
2.0m high deer fence supported by
2.2m high wooden posts. See dwg.
H.0357_11B

0

All seed mixes to be approved by ecologist.
All existing hedgerows within the site are to be infilled where necessary
with species to match proposed new hedgerow planting. Stock size - see
planting schedule on dwg 39 sheet 1. Extent and numbers of infill
hedgerow planting to be determined on site.

Client: Woodington Solar Limited

100m

Sheet No:3

Drawn by : AD

Approved by: HR

Date: 23/02/2022
Scale: 1:1000 @ A0
Copyright Pegasus Planning Group Ltd. Crown copyright, All rights reserved. 2019 Emapsite Licence number 0100031673. Ordnance Survey Copyright Licence number 100042093. Promap Licence number 100020449 .
Pegasus accepts no liability for any use of this document other than for its original purpose, or by the original client, or following Pegasus' express agreement to such use. T 01285641717 www.pegasusgroup.co.uk

Page 41

REV: C

DRWG No: H.0357_39

1

2

5m

Page 42
7

8

9

10

0

Initial Release
N.B

J.M.M

08/06/2021

L

K

J

I

1

SCALE 1:50

CHECKED

power

ethical

DESIGNED

Description

JMM
08/06/2021

Checked by:
Date:

11

1253
J.W.
Drawn by:

1:50@A3
Scale:
Job No:

EP-1253-C-ELV-STS-02
Drg No:

Woodington Rd,
East Wellow,
West Wellow,
Romsey
SO51 6DQ

12

50°59'19.87"N, 1°33'26.67"W
Location co-ord:
Site address:

Woodington Solar Farm
STS-3440KVA / 6880KVA-H1 Elevation

DATE

Description:

APPROVED

Project Title:

Unit 9. Dunchideock Barton . Dunchideock .
Exeter . Devon . EX2 9UA
(t) 01726 218618
www.ethical-power.com

REV

L

K

J

I

H

H

J.G.W

G

G

F

6

12

F

5

11
Do not scale from this drawing

This document is protected by copyright and design Rights. Any unauthorised reproduction would be an infringement and may lead to appropriate legal action
@ Ethical Power Connections Copyright

E

4

10

E

3

4

9

D

2

3

8

D

0

7

C

6

C

5

B

4

B

3

A

2

A

1

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 26 April 2022

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 26 April 2022

Page 43

CS

S LAN

Cross Oak
Bridge

Ellis's Copse

ain

Dr

The Old Gables

k

ac

Tr

Lych Gate

War
Memorial

Glebe
Cottage

Drain

St Margaret's
Church

LB

Tank

33.2m

Wellow
Manor

32.3m

Pond

Homefield

Pa

th

)

(um

East Wellow

Track

KL

EY

S

NE

20.7m

LA

Tr

k

ac

Old Farm Cottage

The Warren

Manor
Farm Cottage

Corner Cottage

2

31.7m

Pond

Issues

Pond

www.pegasuspg.co.uk |

HAC

20.7m

2

F 01285 642348 |

E

Curtles Copse

Smidmore Copse

ck

Tra

Pond

Tree Tops

48.5m

ES LAN

The Old Barn

Woodington
Farm House

Woodington

Leahurst

Eldon

Pond

Mill Farm

Kitts Merries
Farm

Woodington
House

46.0m

LB

Silos

Farm

23.2m

24.4m

Woodington

Ponds

Woodington

41.1m

Woodington Pond

Mill Farm House

Lower
Woodington

Little
Woodington

44.5m

52.1m

GP

Woodington

59.4m

20.7m

FB

36.6m

Tank

Kitts Merries
Copse

Pond

1

2

ROAD

Drain

Dra

in

E

Issues

Issues

37.5m

Farm Cottages

Woodington

Ashdene
Farm

Batter's
Copse

Issues

Roke Hollow

Batter's Copse

Pond

Shootash Copse

© Copyright Pegasus Planning Group Ltd. © Crown copyright, All rights reserved. 2015 emapsite Licence number 0100031673. Ordnance Survey Copyright Licence number 100042093 I Promap Licence number 100020449 .
Pegasus Environmental is part of Pegasus Planning Group Ltd. Drawing prepared for planning. Any queries to be reported to Pegasus for clarification

Pond

OD

D WO

BROA

ra
in

D

CS

Aldermoor Copse

ETL

| T 01285 641717 |

Cross Oak
Bridge

Bushymoor Copse

Bushmore Copse

L
ET

e

Drain

WOODINGTON

us

Page 44

Track

illho

Track

M

Pond

CS

Context Plan showing access track 1:10,000

Pond

Bushymoor Copse

Drain

FRENCH

Bushmore Copse

AD

BRO

Pond

SL
ANE

OD

WO

in

ra

D

ain

Dr

Curtles Copse

Glebe
Cottage

Drain

LB

Smidmore Copse

32.3m

Pond

CS

Track

Aldermoor Copse

th
Pa

)
(um

31.7m

Pond

Issues

ck
Tra

Pond

Tree Tops

48.5m

The Old Barn

Woodington
Farm House

Woodington

Leahurst

Eldon

0

Mill Farm

Kitts Merries
Farm

Woodington
House

46.0m

Mill Farm House

Lower
Woodington

Little
Woodington

44.5m

52.1m

LB

Woodington

41.1m

Track

Drain

Silos

Woodington

Farm

Woodington

Track

Drain

36.6m

Tank

Kitts Merries
Copse
Issues

37.5m

Farm Cottages

Woodington

250m

Issues

•
•
•
•
•
•

First issue
Boundary amended
Boundary amended
Boundary amended
Boundary amended
Boundary amended

09.02.15
26.05.15
15.09.15
06.12.21
20.12.21
09.02.22

Date

Approved Planning
Permission 20/00814/FULLS

Site Boundary (72.01ha)

Roke Hollow

1 : 2,500 @ A1

Date : 09/02/2022

Drawn by : AD/JS

Site Location Plan

Batter's Copse

Pond

Shootash Copse

H.0357_24-F

Checked by : HR

Woodington Farm, East Wellow

A
B
C
D
E
F

Revisions:

KEY

Batter's
Copse

Issues

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 26 April 2022

1

2

AD
TON RO
WOODING

ETL

ET
L

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 26 April 2022

ITEM 8

APPLICATION NO.
APPLICATION TYPE
REGISTERED
APPLICANT
SITE
PROPOSAL
AMENDMENTS
CASE OFFICER

21/01505/FULLS
FULL APPLICATION - SOUTH
26.05.2021
Mr P Turner
Smallberry Hill, Haccups Lane, Michelmersh, SO51
0NP, MICHELMERSH AND TIMSBURY
Construction of 3 dwellings
Nitrate report and calculator – 16.08.2021
Revised plans – 19.08.2021
Sarah Barter

Background paper (Local Government Act 1972 Section 100D
Background papers to the application can be found here

1.0
1.1

INTRODUCTION
The application is presented to Southern Area Planning Committee at the
request of a Local Ward Member.

2.0
2.1

SITE LOCATION AND DESCRIPTION
The application site is located to the south of the property known as
Smallberry Hill in the village of Michelmersh. The site is currently an open
field with two existing access points into the site, both on Haccups lane. One
access is opposite the property known as Ridgemont and the second is on
the Eastern tip of the site.

3.0
3.1

PROPOSAL
The proposal is for the construction of 3 detached dwellings including internal
access and landscaping. The proposal includes the use of two existing
access points. Details of each individual plot is as follows:
Plot 1
4 Bedroom property
2 levels with lower ground floor
Flint / red brick / clay tile materials
Gable roofs / integral garage
Accessed from Haccups Lane north eastern access
Plot 2
4 bedroom property
2 levels with lower ground floor
Timber vertical cladding / red brick / flint panels
Flat roof / integral garage
Accessed from Haccups Lane north eastern access

Page 45

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 26 April 2022

Plot 3
5 Bedroom property
Gable roofs / integral garage / tile hanging
Accessed from Haccups Lane South eastern access
4.0
4.1

HISTORY
19/01463/FULLS - Erection of 4 residential dwellings, with associated
landscaping and parking – Withdrawn – 04.08.2020

4.2

18/02578/FULLS - Erection of 4no. residential dwellings with associated
landscaping and parking – Refuse for the following reasons:
01. The resultant plot sizes, layout, appearance, scale, materials and
building style of the 4 proposed dwellings would create a development
which would not integrate, respect and complement the local rural
distinctiveness of this area of Haccups Lane, Michelmersh. The proposal
would therefore result in an adverse effect on the character and
appearance of the area site, contrary to policy E1 of the Test Valley
Borough Local Plan (2016) and the NPPF 2018.
02. The site lies within the New Forest SPA which is designated for their
conservation importance. In the absence of a legal agreement, the
application has failed to secure the required mitigation measures, in
accordance with the Council's adopted 'New Forest SPA Mitigation Interim Framework'. As such, it is not possible to conclude that the
development would not have an in-combination likely significant effect
on the interest features of these designated sites, as a result of
increased recreational pressure. The proposed development is therefore
contrary to the Council's adopted 'New Forest SPA Mitigation - Interim
Framework', Policy E5 of the adopted Test Valley Borough Revised
Local Plan (2016) and the Conservation of Habitats and Species
Regulations 2010 (as amended).
03. The submitted Preliminary Ecological Appraisal (PEA) (Johns
Associates, July 2018) does not adequately confirm that Great Crested
Newts are absent from the application site. Therefore the Local Planning
Authority is not satisfied that the development would not harm protected
species and as such the proposed development is contrary to Policy E5
of the adopted Test Valley Borough Revised Local Plan (2016).
04. The submitted Bat Survey Report (Johns Associates, September 2018)
recommends further inspection of a crack willow on the site which has
bat roost potential. This has not been undertaken to ensure that the
Local Planning Authority can be satisfied that the development would
not harm protected species and as such the proposed development is
contrary to Policy E5 of the adopted Test Valley Borough Revised Local
Plan (2016).
05. It has not been demonstrated that the vehicular visibility splays for the
proposed access are achievable nor has information been provided to
show swept path analysis vehicle tracking that suitably demonstrates
that the required vehicles (refuse and fire appliance) are able to access,
egress and turn within the confines of the site in a safe and efficient
manner. In the absence of information to the contrary the proposal

Page 46

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 26 April 2022

results in increased traffic accessing and egressing the site by unsafe
access points to the detriment of highway safety. As such the
development is contrary to policy T1 of the Test Valley Borough Local
Plan (2016) which seeks to ensure development does not have an
adverse impact on the function, safety and character of and the
accessibility to the local or strategic highway network
06. Plots 3 and 4 would be located in close proximity with on and off-site
trees which contribute to the verdant character of the surrounding area.
As a result of this close relationship, the trees would compromise the
usability of the dwelling's garden space along with the amount of
daylight entering the dwellings. As a result, it is likely that there could be
a pressure to fell these trees by future occupiers of plots 3 and 4. The
loss of these trees would have an adverse impact on the character of
the surrounding area. The application is therefore contrary to policies E2
and COM2 of the Test Valley Borough Revised Local Plan 2016.
5.0
5.1

CONSULTATIONS
Policy – Comment
 COM2: Settlement Hierarchy – A significant proportion of the application
site lies within the settlement boundary for Michelmersh, where the
principle of development or redevelopment may be supported, subject to
other development plan policies. The site layout shows three proposed
dwellings with private garden areas located within the part of the site
that is within the Michelmersh settlement boundary. A proposed
vehicular access drive, to the proposed house at plot 3 (including
passing bay and refuse collection point) is located within that part of the
site that is countryside (outside the settlement boundary). The submitted
photographs show that this area is currently laid to grass with
trees/hedges, served by a field gate. The proposed new driveway would
divide this part of the site into two ‘orchard’ areas, adjoining plots 1 and
3. It should be noted that “development” is defined as the carrying out of
building, engineering, mining or other operations in, on, over or under
land. Development outside of settlement boundaries is only permitted if;
a) it is appropriate according to RLP policies or b) it is essential to be
located within the countryside. The provisions at criterion a) are not
pertinent to this proposal and the applicant has not demonstrated that it
is essential for a new access driveway to be located outside the
settlement boundary. However, there may be highway safety benefits to
the proposed driveway arrangement. While the proposed formation of a
new driveway to plot 3 would not technically comply with policy COM2,
in assessing the application, the case officer may consider its impact
upon the character, appearance and integrity of this part of the
countryside against the benefits of the proposed development.

5.2

Landscape – Comment and suggested conditions
 Amendments show changes in landform and engineered solutions on
site
 The site will be seen, however landscaping shown and space available
shows suitable space to establish planting of varying types as some
mitigation.

Page 47

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 26 April 2022



Amended section shows levels changes and buildings, an indication of
the soft landscaping in relation to levels changes and engineered
solutions would be helpful to show how these would be softened

5.3

Trees – Comments
 Although this layout is an improvement to the previous one, plot 3 raises
some concerns. Plot 3 is large plot but the house has been located
close to a dense line of boundary trees with the RPA of the largest tree
not being able to be fully protected due to it being on the footprint of the
house. Due to the size of plot 3 it is recommend that it is redesigned to
afford greater space from the house to the trees to not only reduce the
issue above but to allow more natural light into the house. There is no
objection in tree terms to plots 1 and 2 or the access to the site.

5.4

Ecology – Comment
 I understand that there is a difference in professional opinion regarding
the likely impacts on great crested newts, and the requirement for an
EPS licence to conduct the proposed development. While it is my advice
that I would consider an EPS licence to be required in this incidence,
ultimately it is the role of the applicant and the applicant’s ecologist to
apply for an EPS licence and decide whether one is required. While
there is a difference in opinion, provided the required mitigation
measures can be provided, and the Local Planning Authority can be
confident that a licence is likely to be granted should one be applied for,
I would advise that the planning application would be able to proceed.

5.5

Highways – Comments
 Standing advice applies
 Recommend fire / waste authorities consulted
 Parking provision requirements should be met
 Internal garage dimensions should be provided

5.6

Conservation – No Objection

5.7

Historic England (Consulted on previous application 19/01463/FULLS) – Do
not wish to offer comment
 Recommend seek views of specialist Conservation Advisor

5.8

Natural England – No Objection subject to appropriate mitigation being secured

5.9

Archaeology – No Comment

6.0
6.1

REPRESENTATIONS Expired 10.09.2021
Michelmersh and Timsbury Parish Council – Objection (received 14.09.2021)
The Parish Council notes the amendments to the scheme, including the
revisions to the landscaping, but does not consider that the changes adequately
address the objections raised in its submission dated 19 August. The Council
therefore continues to object to this application for the reasons set out in that
submission.

Page 48

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 26 April 2022

6.2

Michelmersh and Timsbury Parish Council - Objection (19.08.2021)
 Loss of open space
 Loss of long views towards the Solent
 The site is recognised in the Michelmersh and Mottisfont Conservation
Area Policy. This states that the ‘identified open areas within and
adjacent to the The application site is identified in the map attached to
the Conservation Area Policy as an ‘important open area’.
 Building three very large houses on this site would almost completely
obstruct views across this field to the S/SW from a considerable length of
Haccups Lane and present a ‘block’ of buildings when approaching the
conservation area from the SE.
 Development on the site would clearly be contrary to the Conservation
Area Policy.
 Village Design Statement recommends that: “Areas of undeveloped land
that contribute to the character of the village should remain open”. “The
open views across the landscape should be retained”. and “The border of
the Conservation Area should not be considered as a cut-off line. and the
areas and aspects adjacent to it should be similarly conserved to the
enhancement of the whole village” The proposed development does not
take any account of these recommendations.
 The Parish Council respects the views of support but does not consider
that the letters of support from immediate neighbours should be accorded
more or less weight than letters of objection from other residents who
may not live so close to the site. The open areas in the village are for the
enjoyment of all, not only those who live next door to them.
 Plot 1 would be too close to Haccups Lane: a house in this position would
be out of-character with the existing arrangement on the NE side, where
houses are set back from the road.
 The Parish Council suggests that the ‘modern’ house on Plot 2 is not
appropriate in this location. The housing stock in Michelmersh and
Timsbury is of varied design, but universally characterised by pitched
roofs and often with ‘traditional’ features. The configuration of the
proposed house on Plot 2 would not, in the Parish Council’s opinion, ‘fit
in’ here.
 The Village Design Statement recommends that “New buildings should
be in keeping with the design, proportions and materials of buildings in
the immediate area”.
 Haccups Lane is a single-track road, and the section adjoining the site
has several bends with poor visibility and very few places for pedestrians
to stand aside for passing vehicles. The lane is derestricted. The new
accesses to the site would present potential hazards, and the proposed
access to Plots 2 and 3 would require the ‘important hedgerow’ identified
in the Conservation Area Policy to be cut back to provide the necessary
visibility splay.
 The applicant’s Design and Access Statement suggests that the more
northern access that would serve Plots 1 and 2 is an existing access to
the garden of Smallberry Hill. But there is no vehicular access through
this gateway to Smallberry Hill – it is only a gate into the field and has
never been used (to the Parish Council’s knowledge) for vehicle access.

Page 49

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 26 April 2022













If this access were to be considered acceptable then the southern access
track to serve Plot 2, which crosses that part of the site outside the
Settlement Boundary would not be necessary to enable the site to be
developed. Constructing this access would constitute development in the
countryside.
The Parish Council does not consider that the changes to the house
elevations are significant and they do not reduce the apparent bulk of the
buildings. The design of the house on Plot 2 remains inappropriate in this
location and completely out-of-character with this area.
Plot 1 has been very slightly relocated to increase its setback from
Haccups Lane but the change is so minimal as to be inconsequential: a
key feature of this part of the lane is that the houses are well set back
from the roadside and the presence of this large house here would be
overbearing and intrusive.
The main change introduced in the amended scheme is difficult to
identify from the drawings, which include only one site section. From
close examination, they show that it is intended to introduce very
significant changes in the ground levels of sections of the site, to be
achieved by the construction of gravity retaining walls using gabions or
‘Criblock’. These walls would be up to 4 metres high to the N and E sides
of Plot 3, and up to 2 metres high flanking the access road to Plot 2.
These walls would present a totally alien landscape feature; the
appearance of the site when viewed from Haccups Lane, particularly
when approaching the Conservation Area from the south, would be
completely changed and out-of-character with the area and in our view
would be unacceptable. We note that the Landscape Officer has
expressed concerns about this feature, although perhaps not a planning
consideration, we also question whether these vertical walls would
present a safety hazard which would require some protection by way of
fencing or continuous hedging to reduce the likelihood of falls from the
higher level; fencing or hedging would further enhance the abrupt
changes in site level.
We note that Local Plan policy E2 (Protect, Conserve and Enhance the
Landscape Character of the Borough) states: … development will be
permitted provided that: a) it does not have a detrimental impact on the
appearance of the immediate area and the landscape character of the
area within which it is located c) the existing and proposed landscaping
and landscape features enable it to positively integrate into the landscape
character of the area The Parish Council fails to see how the proposed
scheme addresses this policy. In the Parish Council’s view, the amended
scheme is even more damaging to the local landscape character then the
previous scheme, because of the introduction of the artificial ‘terracing’
with vertical retaining walls.
In the letter of 17 February 2012 to TVBC, commenting on the proposed
Village Settlement Boundary, the Parish Council identified this site (which
was not at that stage included within the proposed Boundary) as being of
importance as an open area and specifically asked for it to be identified
as such in the Local Plan. This request, and the Conservation Area
Policy and the Village Design Statement, appear not to have been
accorded any significance in this case and part of the site was included

Page 50

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 26 April 2022



6.3

within the Boundary, without further consultation with the Parish Council.
Whilst the Parish Council accepts that the application site is now within
the Settlement Boundary it is strongly opposed to development here, for
the reasons set out above. But if development were to be permitted, we
suggest that it should be limited to two smaller houses, located in the
northern part of the site. This could enable open views to the south from
Haccups Lane, across the field, to be retained and would not have the
same adverse impact on the approach to the Conservation Area as the
three very large houses proposed in this application.
Also, if any development were to be permitted here the Parish Council
would wish to ensure that there were no permitted development rights on
the southern(countryside) section of the site identified on the current
scheme as ‘orchards’ attached to Plots 1 and 3. This would prevent the
erection of structures, such as summerhouses or fences, without
planning permission.

5 letters/email – Support (Summarised)
Traditional materials and style
 I note each has been designed sensitively to their surroundings with
traditional local materials. I love the individual design attention providing
a different character to each home. This, I observe, reflects the existing
nature of the village, which is already an eclectic mix of styles.
Highway safety
 The use of the two existing accesses to the paddock area for the
development makes perfect sense and I am comfortable with the
Highways comment that the traffic change on Haccups Lane will be
slight. There also shows plenty of parking for each new home – so again
am satisfied that Haccups Lane will be kept clear.
 The exit/entrance onto Haccups Lane should be carefully considered in
terms of sight lines for exit. This is a technical matter and the drawings
suggest that both the west and east sightlines could easily be improved
by some minor works to the bank and the "scrub" thereon.
 The existing landscaping to the bank on the south side of Haccups Lane
is worthy of some improvement to remove at least one dead tree and
generally tidy the vegetation. This is easily accomplished and we suggest
is readily able to be dealt with by a suitably worded Condition and could
include the requirement for a technical evaluation of the exit sightlines as
covered by (1) above.
Beachdean Homes – other development in the area
 I also wanted to share how pleased I am for the village that Beechdean
are bringing forward this proposal. They are such a fantastic company to
deal with – they really care about what they are building – homes not
houses.
 We were of course aware that there had been previous applications on
the Smallberry Hill site before we moved in. We have no objections at all
to them.

Page 51

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 26 April 2022







6.4

Beechdean informed us of generic intentions to develop Smallberry Hill
before we purchased our building plot and embarked upon our self build
project. The location of our new home immediately adjacent to this
development means, we feel, that no one would be more effected than
us. However having now seen the detailed plans and site layout we are
still entirely comfortable that these new houses will have no negative
effect upon us or our new home.
We understand that this site is located within the ‘village envelope’ and
as such is likely to be developed at some point in any event. We are
more than happy then that such development should be bought forward
by Beechdean as we are delighted with the new home they are delivering
for us at Birchwood.
We are also relieved that these proposals are for just 3 properties and of
individual design rather than the significantly higher number which this
plot might potentially accommodate but which would, we feel, not be in
keeping with the local character. We are mindful that we are very much
the new arrivals in Michelmersh. However our first hand experience of
Beechdean Homes and proximity to this new development obligates us,
we feel, to voice an opinion about a location we hope will be our home
now for many years.

29 Letters / email - Objection (summarised)
History of the Conservation Area
 This is an anglo saxon hilltop settlement with artefacts from that time
found in a site closely adjacent Smallberry Hill. There are long views in
every direction from different parts of the designated area and its
settings, no doubt a reason for its choice as such a settlement over 1000
years ago. These views are available to individual houses and to the
public from lanes and footpaths. The only public view to the south is from
the gateway in the Smallberry site. The view stretches to Southampton
Water.

6.5

Change to the settlement boundary line
 We have serious concerns about the way in which the change to the
boundary was made and the reasons for it.
 Although requested, we have not been provided with any evidence that
when determining the change of boundary consideration was given to
the CA policy, the VDS or the submission of the PC dated 17th Feb 2012
to the first draft of the local plan, which stated that parishioners were
adamant that the site in question should be declared open space. The
first evidence is only dated after residents raised these considerations on
previous applications.
 The lack of consultation with the PC and village residents
 The additional 6000 sqm resulting from the boundary change was not a
minor modification either to the site, more than trebling the area within
the curtilage the CA or the village
 This field has always been separated from the garden and does not meet
the criteria for inclusion within the curtilage of the house. Several of the
Councils own departments call the site a field or a paddock.

Page 52

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 26 April 2022

6.6

Urbanisation
 The Villages of Timsbury and Michaelmersh and indeed the two parts of
the latter had little or no development between them until the latter part of
the 20th century. From Timsbury Manor that has been extensive linear
development along the A3057 and up New Road effectively stretching
and merging the two villages with long linear stretches.
 Further urbanisation especially in the approaches to the Conservation
Area will undermine the identity of the Area as a hilltop settlement.
Concerns about the effect of this, in particular on the loss of the
distinctive character of individual settlements are recorded in the
Councils own documents to which we will refer.

6.7

Precedence
 We were unable to build a new house due to planning denial on the land
adjacent to this on Hackupps Lane. We own the field know as Hillside
Field and would have built a new property as proposed but it was
refused. We see no possible way this application can be approved if our
proposal was denied, even after going to appeal.
 If our proposal had been permitted then there would have been an
argument for infill. We trust this is clear, the planning department have
set a precedence by refusing our proposal so this one is unacceptable

6.8

Village Design Statement
 Recommendation 23 states that the areas and aspects adjacent the CA
should be conserved to the enhancement of the whole village.
Recommendations 18, 19, and 22 further support these objectives.

6.9

Overdevelopment
 No need for further large executive homes in the village and these
constitute overdevelopment

6.10

Gabion Wall
 The introduction of significant lengths of gabion walls will only add to the
hard urbanisation of views into the site.

6.11

Draft Core Strategy response from PC 2012
 Parishioners are adamant that the site in question is declared green open
space.

6.12

NPPF
 Para 194 states that any harm or loss to a designated heritage asset
should require clear and convincing justification with a need to
demonstrate that substantial public benefits outweigh any harm or loss.
Neither the council not the applicant has demonstrated any substantial
pubic benefits which outweigh the loss of this open area.

Page 53

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 26 April 2022

6.13

Traffic generation and safety
 Access would necessitate destroying a considerable area of existing high
rural banks and hedgerows in order to obtain sufficient sight lines.
 Haccups Lane has already been severely eroded by increased traffic in
recent years as there are no pavements. A frequently used access within
this area would be dangerous.

6.14

Appeal decisions
 Appeal ref 1046286 was at a site directly opposite Smallberry. The
inspector concluded that the harm to the lane would not outweigh any
benefits of using the land more efficiently. (Officer note – this appeal
relates to TVS.04939/4 Land between Ravello and Holbeck dated Oct
2000)

6.15

Previous Officer reports
 An Officer report from 2008 and concluded ‘it is essential that the
creeping urbanisation through new development close to the lane is
resisted’. (Office note – this report relates to ref: 07/03290/FULLS for a
replacement dwelling at Ridgemount)

6.16

Trees
 The triangular area to the east of the proposed development has
previously been designated countryside and of some ecological
importance since then many trees have been cut down again without
consultation.

6.17

Landscape Character Assessment
 LCA4B Michelmersh to Timsbury records that the strategy is to maintain
the existing quality of the landscape buffer between the existing
settlements and protect the area from urbanising influences.

7.0
7.1

POLICY
Government Guidance
National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF)
National Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG)

7.2

Test Valley Borough Revised Local Plan (2016)(RLP)
COM2: Settlement Hierarchy
E1: High Quality Development in the Borough
E2Protect, Conserve and Enhance the Landscape Character of the Borough
E5: Biodiversity
E8Pollution
E9Heritage
LHW4: Amenity
T1:Managing Movement
T2: Parking Standards

Page 54

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 26 April 2022

7.3

Supplementary Planning Documents (SPD)
Michelmersh and Timsbury Village Design Statement
Michelmersh and Mottisfont Conservation Area Policy

8.0
8.1

PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS
The main planning considerations are:
 Principle of development
 Impact on the surrounding area
 Design
 Heritage
 Amenity
 Trees
 Highways
 Ecology
 Nitrate Neutrality
 Archaeology
 Contamination
 Water Management
 Other Matters
 Planning Balance

8.2

Principle of development
Test Valley Revised Borough Local Plan 2016
The area where the 3 dwellings are proposed to be situated is within the
Michelmersh settlement boundary as defined in the Test Valley Borough
Revised Local Plan 2016 (RLP). As a result, provided the proposed dwellings
and their residential gardens comply with the other relevant policies of the RLP,
it would be acceptable in principle.

8.3

To access plot 3 it is proposed to provide a road across the adjacent land which
is allocated as countryside within the Test Valley Borough Revised Local Plan
2016 (RLP). Policy COM2 states:
Within the boundaries of the settlements identified in the hierarchy (Table 7) and
identified on inset maps 1 - 55 the principle of development and redevelopment
will be permitted provided that it is appropriate to the other policies of the
Revised Local Plan.
Development outside the boundaries of settlements in the hierarchy (as
identified on map 1 - 55) will only be permitted if:
a) it is appropriate in the countryside as set out in Revised Local Plan policy
COM8-COM14, LE10, LE16- LE18; or
b) it is essential for the proposal to be located in the countryside.

Page 55

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 26 April 2022

8.4

This element of the development would not comply with policy COM2 a) as
these policies are not relevant. Part b) states that it must be essential for the
proposal to be located in the countryside. Paragraph 6.2 of the submitted Design
and Access Statement sets out the consideration of both existing access points
and confirms that both could be used for access into the site. Therefore, as plot
3 could be accessed from an existing access within the settlement boundary the
proposal to have the access road for plot three would not be essential and
therefore contrary to COM2 (b).

8.5

Though the proposed access road for Plot 3 would be in conflict with COM2 that
does not necessarily mean that that application should be refused. A Planning
Inspector considering a recently allowed appeal at Upper Eldon Farm
(APP/C1760/W/20/3246112), though not identical to this application, there are
similarities in the application of Policy COM2. In that appeal the Inspector
concluded that Policy COM2 of the RLP has two overarching functions. First, to
direct development to the most sustainable locations and second to protect the
countryside. He also concluded that while technically the development was
contrary to the policy, so long as the proposal did not result in any material harm
to the countryside it would not conflict with the overarching aims of the policy.

8.6

As set out above, the proposals are not identical but there are similarities in the
approach that should be adopted. The appeal decision is a material planning
consideration and it is agreed that the approach adopted by the inspector is
appropriate for the circumstances surrounding this application. Therefore, if this
element of the proposal does not result in any material harm to the countryside it
would not conflict with aims of policy COM2 and can be supported. These
matters are considered in detail below.

8.7

The settlement boundary line on inset map 35 of the RLP 2016
Comments have been received in respect of the way in which the change to the
settlement boundary was made in Michelmersh and particularly at this site and
the reasons for it. Comments received also highlight the lack of consultation to
the PC and village residents at the time the local plan was being drafted.

8.8

The current local plan covers the period 2011 to 2029, and was adopted in 2016
(superseding earlier versions of the plan). The development plan policies and
maps went through various iterations and rounds of public consultation in the
period leading to adoption, including an Examination in Public, by a Government
appointed Inspector. Policy COM2: Settlement Hierarchy Topic Paper (June
2014) explains the principles behind the adopted local plan settlement hierarchy
and how the settlement boundaries were prepared and considered for different
types/scales of settlement in the Borough.

8.9

The Regulation 19 (January 2014) draft plan, and the Regulation 22 (July 2014)
version of the plan both include the land at Smallberry Hill within the proposed
COM2 settlement boundary, while earlier versions didn’t. Full public
consultations were undertaken in respect of these plans and maps prior to the
examination of the local plan in public. There was ample opportunity, therefore,
for third parties to comment on the COM2 maps at each of these stages.

Page 56

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 26 April 2022

In addition, Council Officers attended presentations with individual Parish and
Town Councils, and with the Test Valley Association of Parish Councils, from
2009 onwards. It is understood that written representations were received from
Michelmersh Parish Council at each stage of the Plan preparation process.
8.10

Planning Policy Officers have advised that when considering and reviewing the
settlement boundaries and hierarchy for the 2016 plan, the aim was to allow
modest housing growth to help sustain the Borough’s villages and settlements.
Rural villages, like Michelmersh, with some limited facilities and services, are
considered appropriate for smaller scale development in principle, such as
windfall housing schemes, rural affordable housing sites, replacement dwellings,
community-led development, small business uses and re-use of buildings. In
proposing the settlement boundaries, at any stage, consultation responses are
considered alongside a range of other considerations, such as heritage,
buildings and topography, landscape, flood risk, access to facilities and services,
etc. The Topic Paper provides a little more explanation and states that
‘care has also been taken to draft the boundaries using existing
identifiable boundaries on the ground such as buildings and curtilages.
This seeks to ensure that the policy boundaries reflect the extent of the
area which forms part of the settlement’.
In light of the comments received during the local plan preparation process, the
part of the land at Smallbury Hill, that was considered to form the curtilage of the
property, was incorporated into the proposed settlement boundary, in line with
the approach described in the topic paper.

8.11

For the reasons set out above, consultation was undertaken in accordance with
best practice. Policy COM2 and the Inset Maps therefore form part of the
Council’s adopted development plan. Planning law and Section 38 (6) of the
Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires that applications for
planning permission be determined in accordance with the development plan,
unless material considerations indicate otherwise. This policy is one part of the
development plan, a range of other policies, relating to matters including
conservation and heritage, design, trees, landscape character, transport, local
and neighbour amenity, drainage, etc. are all relevant and discussed further
below.

8.12

Michelmersh Conservation Policy
Many comments have been received referencing the Michelmersh Conservation
Policy and its content with particular reference to the annotated plan indicating
important views, important open areas and important hedgerows together with
the Conservation Area boundaries, Listed Buildings and Sites of Archaeological
Interest. This document was published in 1987.

Page 57

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 26 April 2022

8.13

The application site is indeed identified within this document. The North Eastern
part of the site, where the scheme proposes two orchards, is identified as an
‘important open area’ with the hedgerow to the North Eastern and Southern
boundaries being identified as important hedgerows. Further north into the site
the annotation on the conservation plan is more sporadic and thus an open area
of less importance. It is also important to note that views into or out of the
application site are not annotated on this plan as ‘important’. Heritage and
Conservation matters together with impacts on the surrounding areas are
discussed fully below under the heading of heritage.

8.14

Impact on the surrounding area
Haccups Lane is a single lane track, verdant in nature with hedging and trees
lining the Lane. To the east of the Lane at the point of the application site the
area is characterised by detached two storey dwellings of mixed house types. In
the area immediately adjacent the application site the dwellings are set back
between approx. 28m and 16m from the Lane.

8.15

The application site itself shares a long boundary with Haccups lane which has a
mixture of trees and hedgerow shrubs. It is in variable condition but is an
important part of the character of the lane and it provides screening to the site in
question. Views in through the existing access points are of a grassed area,
maintained to some degree and with a domestic association to Smallberry Hill to
the north west. There are trees within and to the boundaries of the site. The
existing backdrop of mature trees is part of the rural character of this local area
and of Michelmersh in its wider context. The existing trees on the southern
boundary screen views beyond the plot, where two existing dwellings sit and are
accessed, by a track, south of the application site. Though the lane has this
existing vegetation, there are views into the site and due to the partial native
deciduous character; there will be winter views into the application site. Existing
dwellings on the Lane that can be seen are different from each other and are
distinctively different in design, suggesting a more organic growth of the
dwellings on the Lane.

8.16

The existing dwelling at Smallberry Hill would still retain a good sized singular
plot. Below is an approximate size of plots in both surrounding properties and
the proposed plots. Whilst relevant policy does not specifically seek to compare
plot sizes there is a requirement for development to integrate, respect and
complement the surrounding area.
Properties on Haccups Lane adjacent site
Hunters Moon
The Coppice
Woodlands
Canterton House
Holbeck
Ridgemount
Ravello

Page 58

Site Area (Ha)
0.17
0.18
0.19
0.14
0.15
0.31
0.12

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 26 April 2022

Properties on private access track to south 0.16
west of application site
Croft House
Marjolaine

0.20

Proposed plot size for Smallberry Hill
AVERAGE PLOT SIZE

0.29
0.19

Proposed plot sizes in application site
Plot 1

0.14

Plot 2

0.14

Plot 3 (Excluding paddock/orchard land)

0.14

8.17

Given the proposal is to sub divide an existing plot of land, the plot sizes
accommodating the new dwellings are on average smaller than those in the
immediate vicinity. However the resultant plot sizes are not significantly smaller
than some examples in the area ensuring the development complements the
existing character. The impact the proposed plots would have on the area needs
to be assessed alongside other design factors to understand whether the
development, as a whole, would result in demonstrable harm to the character
and appearance of the surrounding area.

8.18

It is considered that the layout provides a sense of space around the dwellings
whilst ensuring 3 large family homes can be accommodated on site together
with access, parking areas and ample sized gardens. Whilst the dwelling at plot
1 would be located at a higher level than the other plots and be most visible from
the public realm, this is not considered to have any significant adverse impact on
the existing character of the area. The view given would be of a flint and red
brick elevation with a gable roof and roof lights. This would be partially screened
by the existing hedgerow which dominates the boundary with Haccups Lane to
the North. Plots 2 and 3 are located on significantly lower ground than Haccups
Lane and would also be significant distances away from Haccups Lane and
therefore limited views would be given of these houses.

8.19

The proposals include a gabion/retaining wall through a section of the drive way
to plot 2. This type of wall is also proposed along the boundaries with plot 1
which is sited on land significantly higher than the land on the western side of
the site. The locations of these landscape features would not be highly visible
from the public realm. A landscape mound is also proposed centrally amongst
the dwellings. Details including engineering details, section drawings, a method
statement for the building and implementation of the walls and the mound and
any planting within the walls is sought through condition to ensure appropriate
materials and levels are achieved through the implementation of these elements
of the scheme. These features are not considered to have a detrimental impact
on the character and appearance of the area.

Page 59

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 26 April 2022

8.20

The access driveway through the paddock to the east would be formed of a
rolled gravel/hoggin. This area of land is annotated as important open area in
the Michelmersh Conservation Area policy document dated 1987. The presence
of this access would not result in any significant impacts on the surrounding
area. Any views currently given across this paddock would be retained and with
the rest of the paddock being managed in the form of hedging, tree planting, and
a pond it is not considered that these features would be out of character with this
rural location. Comments have been received that the proposal would block an
important open view. The Conservation Area Plan does not include an ‘arrow’
annotation for an important view across the application site. The important view
arrow on Haccups Lane is located outside the application site on the field to the
south.

8.21

Comments have been received in relation to an appeal decision (ref: 1046286)
which dates from October 2000 and states that the harm to the lane would not
outweigh any benefits of using the land more efficiently. An Officer report from
2008 (ref: 07/03290/FULLS) has also been highlighted and concluded ‘it is
essential that the creeping urbanisation through new development close to the
lane is resisted’. In this instance it is considered that due to the retention of the
hedging along the public realm boundary on Haccups Lane that the harm to the
overall character would not be significant. Furthermore, whilst the dwelling
proposed at the front of the bungalow at Ridgemount (as seen in the appeal in
2000) was refused and dismissed it should be noted that 8 years later a
substantial replacement dwelling was proposed and permitted in place of the
bungalow (as seen in 07/03290/FULLS). The paragraph within the report for
application 07/03290/FULLS references creeping urbanisation, but goes on to
state - In this case however, the retention of the frontage hedge and the set back
of the single dwelling from the highway being approximately 29 metres, is
considered to preserve this important, rural approach to the Conservation Area.

8.22

Whilst the proposed closest dwelling to the road is significantly closer at
Smallberry Hill the site would retain the boundary hedge and as confirmed below
by the Conservation Officer the setting of the Conservation Area is considered to
be preserved.

8.23

The replacement dwelling at Ridgemount is set further back from the road than
the dwelling at plot 1 within the application site. The front garden and access at
Ridgemount have been formalised with the use of white rendered walls and
planting which is visible from the public realm on Haccups Lane. This was
agreed under retrospective application 15/01243/FULLS where despite the
commentary on the 2007 application the hedging was removed and the
formalisation of the front garden area was found to be acceptable. It should also
be noted that whilst the Parish Council were critical of the scheme they did no
object, stating that the garden area had been constructed to a high standard and
that the Parish Council’s view is that this is preferable to the previous garden
layout. It is noted that the rendered walls visible from the public realm at
Ridgemount have since had planting provided in front of them. The proposed
development is of a larger scale but is considered to be of equal quality whilst
retaining and introducing new forms of landscaping not dissimilar to the
development at Ridgemount.

Page 60

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 26 April 2022

8.24

8.25

The combination of the change in levels throughout the site, and the distances
away from the public realm, together with the designs and width of the plots
creating sympathetic built form and limited prominent views from Haccups Lane
results in a development which can be provided in this location without
significant harm to the character and appearance of the surrounding area.
It is considered that the works to provide the access to Plot 3 would not appear
to be an obvious and detrimental incursion in to the open countryside and would
sit relatively comfortably within the immediate landscape. The works do
encroach into the open countryside but taking into consideration the existing site
circumstances, relatively small area of land and the high quality landscaping and
planting to be provided and controlled by condition, it does not erode the rural
character of the area or result in the loss of open rural farmland. In conclusion
the proposal would not cause any material harm to the landscape setting of this
countryside location.

8.26

Subject to appropriate conditions ensuring materials and landscaping
information is secured together with levels information it is considered that this
proposal would create high quality development in the Borough in accordance
with policy E1 of the Revised Borough Local Plan 2016.

8.27

Design
In addition to relevant local plan policy E1 which seeks to ensure high quality
design the adopted Michelmersh and Timsbury Village Design Statement (VDS)
dated July 2001 is relevant to this site. Highlighted in comments received from
third parties is that the VDS states the border of the Conservation Area should
not be considered as a cut off line, and the areas and aspects adjacent should
be similarly conserved to the enhancement of the whole village.

8.28

Careful consideration has been given to the site’s location within the setting of
the Conservation Area boundary under the heritage considerations below.
Furthermore, the comments received from local residents do not highlight the
commentary after this statement which sets out:
‘Emphasis is laid, in the Conservation Area Report on fine views outwards
from the area with some important landscape and buildings noted outside
its perimeter.
The application site is not annotated as an important view within the
Conservation Area policy and the tall hedging which bounds the public realm on
Haccups Lane largely screens the site from any public view. The important open
area is largely retained to the south east of the site with the access into plot 3
proposed across this land. A condition has been added to the recommendation
ensuring this land is not used for any other purposes other than the access to
plot 3 and the ecological / orchard proposals.

8.29

The VDS is specific in stating that new housing should reflect but not necessarily
copy the past. The variety in the village that has historically evolved should be
continued. It should be recognised that there should be scope for innovative
design in appropriate locations. The design of each dwelling is discussed below.

Page 61

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 26 April 2022

8.30

Plot 1
This is a 2 storey property with a lower ground level. The property is gable
roofed with rooms at first floor within the roof space and two projecting gables
with inverted balconies and bi fold doors. The overall height would be approx.
9.2m with the eaves height of approx. 3.9m through the highest part of the
building. Lower heights of the building are at 6.8m in the garage building and the
balcony projections. Traditional materials are proposed in the form of flint, red
brick, clay tile and timber cladding. It is considered that this is sympathetic to the
surrounding area whilst contributing to the varied styles of dwellings in the area.

8.31

Plot 2
This plot is a two storey structure with a lower ground floor and flat roofed in a
more contemporary style. Whilst this results in a different appearance to the
other two plots, the materials used through the elevation are consistent with the
development overall and the overall height of the building above ground is
approx. 6.6m. This modern design is not common in the area but the location is
not considered to be highly visible within the locality due to the change in levels.
Any views which are given would be of materials which are common within
Michelmersh and as such it is considered that this design integrates, respects
and complements the character of the area.

8.32

Plot 3
This dwelling is a two storey dwelling with a chimney, gable roofs and attached
two bay car garage. The overall height of the building is approx. 8.4m and the
building would make use of clay tiles, timber cladding and red brick, as seen
elsewhere on the site, together with tile hanging. It is considered that this is
sympathetic to the surrounding area whilst contributing to the varied styles of
dwellings in the locality.

8.33

Overall it is considered that the proposed development makes efficient use of
the land whilst respecting the character of the surrounding area. Subject to
appropriate condition ensuring exact materials are agreed it is considered that
the development could be provided in accordance with policy E1 of the Revised
Borough Local Plan 2016.

8.34

Heritage
The Conservation Officer has no objection in principle to the development of this
field, as it should have no greater impact on the appreciation of the historic
village than the existing modern dwellings. The site falls outside of the
Conservation Area which includes the Old School House, but excludes
Smallberry Hill and the houses on the north-east side of Haccups Lane. It is
considered that the site falls into the Conservation Areas setting, though this is
not particularly sensitive, due to the existing level of modern development.

8.35

The proposal would see the addition of just three dwellings, the existing
hedgerows will be retained and the open spaces within the conservation area
would not be affected and are clearly legible. As acknowledged above, the field
is identified in the conservation area map as an important open space, though
the grading on the map seems to suggest it is the south-east end of the site
which is the sensitive part. This area is not proposed to have any dwellings

Page 62

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 26 April 2022

located on it. It should also be noted that, since the map was drawn, there has
been further development in this area which has changed its character.
8.36

For the reasons given above it is considered that the proposed development
would have a neutral impact on the setting of the Conservation Area. The
nearest listed building to the plot is Old House, School Lane, but views from, to
and within this property are screened by existing buildings and landscaping. It is
considered that the development would be in accordance with policy E9 which
concerns Heritage Assets.

8.37

Historic England have been consulted on previous applications in relation to this
site they have advised that they do not wish to offer comment and recommend
seeking views of specialist Conservation Advisor. As seen above the LPA
Conservation Officers opinion has been sought and no objection is raised to the
scheme.

8.38

Amenity
Properties on Haccups Lane
The lane provides an adequate separation distance between the proposed plot 1
and the properties to the north east on Haccups Lane opposite. The mature
hedging which sits on this boundary would continue to provide screening and it
is not considered that the presence of a dwelling at plot 1 would create any
significant impacts on these neighbours in terms of overlooking, loss of light,
overshadowing, overbearing impact.

8.39

Marjolene, Croft House and Old School House
These neighbours are located to the west of the application site and would be
closest to plots 2 and 3 of the proposed dwellings. Taking into account the
existing boundary trees and positioning of the proposed dwellings it is not
considered that any reason for refusal can be substantiated with regards
significant impacts on the neighbouring properties at these addresses.

8.40

Future Occupiers
Taking into account the orientation of the dwellings and changes in ground
levels across the site. It is not considered that there would be any significant
impacts in respect of the amenity of future occupiers at any of the proposed
plots.

8.41

Trees
Plots 1 and 2
The Tree Officer has no concerns in respect of impacts on trees as a result of
the development of plots 1 and 2.

8.42

Plot 3
Plot 3 is a large plot with the proposed house adjacent to a dense line of
boundary trees on the western boundary. The Tree Officer has highlighted
concern that the trees would impact on the usability of this area of garden and
the daylight into the dwelling creating a potential future pressure to fell these
trees.

Page 63

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 26 April 2022

8.43

Whilst the property is located in close proximity to these trees the Tree Officer
has confirmed that these trees are not of great enough amenity value to have a
Tree Protection Order applied to them. Furthermore this is a large property with
two living areas at ground floor and two openings from these living areas into the
garden and outdoor patio areas. The living room and associated doors have
been amended from bi fold to patio doors and given the alternate space
available elsewhere, both around the house and inside the house. It is not
considered the trees would neither create significant impacts on the living
environment of the future occupiers or that the trees would come under undue
pressure to fell given the outdoor space available to the south eastern side of
the dwelling where the bi fold doors have been retained.

8.44

It is considered that subject to appropriate tree protection conditions the
development is not likely to prejudice the future retention of the trees on the
boundary of plot 3 or elsewhere. The proposal is considered to comply with
policy E2 of the Revised Borough Local Plan 2016.

8.45

Highways
The application is supported by a Highways Technical Note (Nick Culhane –
Highway Consultant). The submitted Technical Note ascertains that the Local
Highway Authority would not wish to be consulted upon this proposal and refers
to standing advice. Following a review, the application would fall under standing
advice, however, notwithstanding this, the Highway Authority have been
consulted upon this proposal by the LPA and as such, broad comments were
provided in respect of parking, refuse access and garage sizes.

8.46

Given the proposal utilises existing access points on the Lane and adequate
manoeuvrability space is provided on site it is considered that the development
can be provided without significant harm in terms of highway safety. The bin
collection point adjacent the two entrances is also considered to be adequate for
the purposes of waste collection.

8.47

In respect of parking standards each dwelling has 5 parking spaces. This
exceeds the parking standard for 3 plus bedroom dwellings which requires 3
parking spaces. Whilst the development is not required to as it is not proposing 5
or more dwellings two visitor parking bays are also provided.

8.48

It is considered that the proposal can be provided in accordance with policies T1
and T2 of the Revised Borough Local Plan 2016.

8.49

Ecology
On site ecology
Whilst an Ecological appraisal was submitted with the application the Council’s
Ecologist raised some concerns in respect of measures for mitigation generally
and particularly in reference to Great Crested Newts, and the dates of bat
activity surveys. An updated ecological report was received on the 3 rd November
2021 together with an updated site plan and ecological appraisal. A further letter
from an ecologist employed by the applicant specifically in respect of Great
Crested Newts and licensing was received on the 30th January 2022.

Page 64

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 26 April 2022

8.50

Great Crested Newts (GCN)
The Council’s Ecologist confirms that the detail submitted has been conducted in
a professional manner but continues to be concerned that there is a difference in
professional opinion regarding the likely impacts on great crested newts, and the
requirement for a European Protected Species (EPS) licence to conduct the
proposed development. The Council’s Ecologist considers that an EPS licence is
required in this incidence but states that ultimately it is the role of the applicant
and the applicant’s ecologist to apply for an EPS licence and decide whether
one is required. While there is a difference in opinion, the Council’s Ecologist
sets out that provided the required mitigation measures can be secured, and the
Local Planning Authority can be confident that a licence is likely to be granted
should one be applied for, the planning application would be able to proceed.

8.51

The Council’s Ecologist has requested further mitigation information in the form
of the proposed timing of works, location of exclusion fencing, as well as or
replacement terrestrial habitat proposed within this application. The location of
the translocation areas for reptiles and amphibians identified within the proposed
application will be required in addition to the position of the proposed exclusion
fencing. The Council’s Ecologist has also highlighted that protected species may
be subsequently impacted by the proposed planting scheme as well as the
construction of the pond, particularly where suitable terrestrial habitat will be
impacted. This work should be incorporated within the proposed mitigation
strategy for the site and this should include an annotated site plan.

8.52

Whilst the Council can provide an opinion on the likelihood of whether a GCN
license is required ultimately the responsibility for assessing whether a license is
required is with the applicant and not the Council. An updated ecological
appraisal and a further letter have been received from the applicant which set
out that no license is required. The Council’s Ecologist suggests that no offence
is likely provided further unlicensed avoidance measures are provided in the
form of further mitigation works. Overall whilst there is differing opinion over the
license requirements it is considered unreasonable to request further mitigation
detail prior to making a recommendation. The avoidance measures set out in
the final ecological report at paragraphs 6.7.1 and 6.7.2 are sufficient for the
Council to conclude that there would be no likely significant effects upon newts.
To ensure the further details the Ecologist has highlighted are secured the
applicant has agreed to a post decision condition.

8.53

Bats
The property is within 7.5km of the Mottisfont Bats SAC (Special Area for
Conservation) which is an internationally designated site, and as such is
protected under the EU Habitats Directive, and subsequently under the
Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017. As a result of research,
suitable habitats (e.g. hedgerows and trees) within 7.5km of the site are
considered important for foraging, commuting and roosting opportunities for this
species. Any removal of trees, woodland or hedgerows should be avoided and,
where it is required, appropriately mitigated to prevent an adverse impact on this
internationally protected site. Surveys conducted on site confirmed the presence
of barbastelle bats foraging and commuting across the site. Due to the presence
of this species on site, as well as other nocturnal species likely to be impacted

Page 65

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 26 April 2022

by the proposed works, the Council Ecologist would therefore advise that a
suitable lighting plan is obtained from the developer prior to consent. This is to
ensure the required dark corridors can and will be achieved within the proposed
development, and no impact on internationally designated sites and protected
species is subsequently anticipated.
8.54

An updated October 2021 Ecological report has been submitted detailing
roosting bats information. The Crack Willow on the north eastern boundary was
hollow inside with an access point towards the bottom of the tree. The tree also
supported numerous cracks and rot holes and was partially covered in Ivy
(Hedera helix). A detailed inspection of the tree was completed by Johns
Ecology on the 20th November 2018 which revealed that the cavity and rot holes
present were largely decayed and filled with decaying matter making them
unsuitable for roosting bats and was, therefore, considered to support negligible
roosting potential. A mature Hawthorn within the north western area of woodland
was found to have small holes (approximately 3-4cm diameter) in various places
high in the branches during the most recent survey and was considered to hold
low potential for roosting bats). All other trees were either considered too
immature or lacked suitable features for roosting bats.

8.55

In respect of transect surveying the findings are in line with the data already
collected with Common and Soprano Pipistrelle, Brown Long-eared, Noctule,
Myotis Sp. and Serotine activity. These were surveyed in August/September/
October 2021.

8.56

Mitigation and enhancement in respect of bats
Overall based on the low roost potential of the Hawthorn within the north
western corner, it is recommended a process of soft-felling is used as per
guidelines. The arborists will be alerted to the possibility of bats being present
and the need for vigilance during activities. This will involve careful cutting and
lowering of limbs to the ground. Any holes/lifted bark/splits in the trunk will be left
clear. Limbs and trunk sections will then be left for 24 hours before being
removed from site. It is considered that all of these species can be safeguarded
via the implementation of sensitive timings and precautionary measures, all of
which have been detailed in the submitted report and secured via condition.

8.57

New Forest SPA
The development will result in a net increase in residential dwellings within
13.6km of the New Forest SPA. This distance defines the zone identified by
recent research where new residents would be considered likely to visit the New
Forest. The New Forest SPA supports a range of bird species that are
vulnerable to impacts arising from increases in recreational use of the Forest
that result from new housing development. While four new houses on their own
here would not result in any significant effects, it has been demonstrated through
research, and agreed by Natural England (the governments statutory nature
conservation advisors) that any net increase (even single dwellings) would have
a likely significant effect on the SPA when considered in
combination with other plans and projects.

Page 66

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 26 April 2022

8.58

To address this issue, Test Valley Borough Council has adopted an interim
mitigation strategy whereby a scale of developer contributions of £1300 per new
dwelling has been agreed that would fund the delivery of a new strategic area of
alternative recreational open space that would offer the same sort of recreational
opportunities as those offered by the New Forest. The applicant has made a
direct payment to the Council for this contribution on the 10th January 2022.

8.59

Nitrate Neutrality
There is existing evidence of high levels of nitrogen and phosphorous in the
water environment across the Solent, with evidence of eutrophication at some
designated sites. An integrated Water Management Study for South Hampshire
was commissioned by the Partnership for Urban South Hampshire (PUSH)
Authorities to examine the delivery of development growth in relation to
legislative and government policy requirements for designated sites and wider
biodiversity. This work has identified that there is uncertainty regarding whether
any new housing development would require measures to address this issue to
ensure that overall new development does not contribute to net increases in
nutrients entering these designated sites.

8.60

As such, the advice from Natural England (June 2019 version 2 and March 2020
version 3) is that applicants for development proposals resulting in a net
increase in dwellings are required to submit the nitrogen budget for the
development to demonstrate no likely significant effect on the European
designated sites due to the increase in waste water from the new housing.

8.61

The application is supported by a nitrogen budget which sets out the underlying
calculations resulting in a positive nitrogen contribution of 9.1 Kg/TN/year, for a
net increase in 3 dwellings, discharging to an unknown Wastewater Treatment
Plant. It is noted that the positive N budget for this development is proposed to
be offset using the negative nutrient budget from a previously permitted
development (20/01984/VARS Oaklands, Lower Common Road, West Wellow),
under the same land ownership as the proposal. An appropriate assessment has
been carried out and this has been reviewed by Natural England.

8.62

On 16th March 2022 Natural England issued updated guidance in respect of
achieving nutrient neutrality in the Solent region. As a result the
recommendation is made subject to the receipt of satisfactory revised
calculations from the applicant and a satisfactory consultation response from
Natural England.

8.63

Archaeology
The site lies to the south of the historic core of the settlement, and to the north of
where an archaeological evaluation found prehistoric remains, and so would
usually be considered to have an archaeological potential. However the County
Archaeologist notes that the site plan, survey and LiDAR all show dramatic level
changes indicative of past extraction, and this is confirmed in the planning
statement. The extensive past extraction will have removed any archaeological
potential. Accordingly this Officer would not raise any archaeological issues.

Page 67

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 26 April 2022

8.64

Contamination
The Environmental Protection Officer has noted on previous applications that
there is likely to be contamination at the site and therefore has requested a
scheme for remediating the contamination.

8.65

Water management
The 2016 Local Plan includes a requirement in policy E7 to achieve a water
consumption standard of no more than 110 litres per person today. This reflects
the requirements of part G2 of the 2015 Building Regulations. In the event that
planning permission was to be recommended a condition would be applied in
order to address this. Subject to such a condition the proposal would comply
with policy E7.

8.66

The application site is within flood zone 1 and it is proposed to connect the
development to the mains drainage.

8.67

Other matters
Comments have been received that state We were unable to build a new house
due to planning denial on the land adjacent to this on Hacupps Lane. We own
the field know as Hillside Field and would have built a new property as proposed
but it was refused. We see no possible way this application can be approved if
our proposal was denied, even after going to appeal.
The case officer has been unable to identify this field or planning application.
Each site is considered on its own merits.

8.68

Planning Balance
Whilst in the main concerns have been raised by third parties that the proposal
represents overdevelopment contrary to the Michelmersh Conservation Area
adoption and annotated map of 1987 and the Michelmersh Village Design
Statement of 2001 with unsatisfactory site access these matters are not afforded
significant weight in the planning balance given the proposal is considered
acceptable in both technical and professional judgement terms.

8.69

As set out above, the development technically breaches Policy COM2 due to the
access road to Plot 3, however, for the reasons set out within the report, it is
concluded that the development accords with its general aims which includes
the protection of the countryside. Moreover, there is no conflict with Policies E1
and E2 of the TVBRLP. The proposal therefore meets the requirements of the
development plan and NPPF.

8.70

Significant weight in the planning balance must be afforded to the site being
located within the settlement boundary of Michelmersh and that the proposal
complies with the Local Plan which represent up to date planning policy. The
development is designed, sited and is of a scale that is appropriate to the setting
and character of the surrounding area to which moderate weight is attached.
The proposal also delivers housing and with that comes broad economic
benefits from housing developments in accordance with the Local Plan.
Furthermore moderate weight is also afforded to achieving high quality
development. The NPPF requires the determination of an application in
accordance with the development plan unless material considerations indicate

Page 68

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 26 April 2022

otherwise. Other than a technical breach of Policy COM2 no harm has been
identified. Having due consideration to the benefits of the scheme the proposal
is recommended for permission because the balance is clearly in favour of doing
so and clearly outweighs any harm created by the development.
9.0
9.1

CONCLUSION
The proposal is considered acceptable and in accordance with the development
plan.

10.0

RECOMMENDATION
Delegate to Head of Planning and Building to:
 Secure the receipt of satisfactory nitrate neutrality calculation from
the applicant
 Secure the receipt of a satisfactory response from Natural England
in respect of the revised nitrate neutrality information
 Complete a legal agreement to secure any off site mitigation if found
to be required as a result of the revised calculations.
Then PERMISSION subject to:
1. The development hereby permitted shall be begun within three years
from the date of this permission.
Reason: To comply with the provision of Section 91 of the Town and
Country Planning Act 1990 as amended by Section 51 of the Planning
and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004.
2. The development hereby permitted shall not be carried out except in
complete accordance with the details shown on the submitted plans,
numbers
7882 F 100 M
7882 D 102 C
7882 D 300 J
7882 D 303 F
7882 D 304 F
7882 D 101 C
7882 D 201 E
7882 D 200 G
7882 D 202 A
7882 D 203 C
7882 D 301 F
7882 D 302 B
7882 D 403 D
7882 D 400 F
7882 E 01
7882 E02
7882 D 401 E
7882 D 402
7882 L01
Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper
planning.

Page 69

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 26 April 2022

3.

4.

5.

6.

No development shall take place above DPC level of the development
hereby permitted until samples and details of the materials to be used
in the construction of all external surfaces hereby permitted have
been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning
Authority. Development shall be carried out in accordance with the
approved details.
Reason: To ensure the development has a satisfactory external
appearance in the interest of visual amenities in accordance with Test
Valley Borough Revised Local Plan (2016) Policy E1.
No development shall take place above DPC level of the development
hereby permitted until full details of hard and soft landscape works
have been submitted and approved. Details shall include-where
appropriate: proposed finished levels or contours; means of
enclosure; car parking layouts; hard surfacing materials. Soft
landscape works shall include: planting plans; written specifications
(including cultivation and other operations associated with plant and
grass establishment); schedules of plants, noting species, plant sizes
and proposed numbers/densities. The landscape works shall be
carried out in accordance with the implementation programme and in
accordance with the management plan.
Reason: To improve the appearance of the site and enhance the
character of the development in the interest of visual amenity and
contribute to the character of the local area in accordance with Test
Valley Borough Revised Local Plan (2016) Policy E1 and E2. TIE IN
ECOLOGY
No development shall take place above DPC level of the development
hereby permitted until a schedule of landscape implementation and
maintenance for a minimum period of 5 years has been submitted to
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The
schedule shall include details of the arrangements for the phasing of
the implementation and ongoing maintenance during that period in
accordance with appropriate British Standards or other recognised
codes of practise. Development shall be carried out in accordance
with the approved schedule.
Reason: To ensure the provision, establishment and maintenance to a
suitable standard of the approved landscape designs to create and
maintain the appearance of the site and enhance the character of the
development in the interest of visual amenity and to contribute to the
character of the local area in accordance with Test Valley Borough
Revised Local Plan (2016) Policy E1 and E2.
Prior to commencement of any works to provide the retaining/gabion
walls full details including engineering details, section drawings, a
method statement for the building and implementation of the walls
and any planting within the walls shall be submitted to approved by
the Local Planning Authority. Development shall be carried out in
accordance with the approved plans.
Reason: To improve the appearance of the site and enhance the
character of the development in the interest of visual amenity and
contribute to the character of the local area in accordance with Test
Valley Borough Revised Local Plan (2016) Policy E1 and E2.

Page 70

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 26 April 2022

7.

Before the development hereby permitted is commenced details,
including plans and cross sections, shall be submitted to and
approved by the Local Planning Authority of the existing and
proposed ground levels of the development and the boundaries of the
site and the height of the ground floor slab and damp proof course in
relation thereto. Development shall be undertaken in accordance with
the approved details.
Reason: To ensure satisfactory relationship between the new
development and the adjacent buildings, amenity areas and trees in
accordance with Test Valley Borough Revised Local Plan (2016)
Policy E1
8. The development hereby approved shall be undertaken in full
accordance with the provisions set out within the AJ Monk Consulting
Tree Protection plan and method statement April 2021.
Reason: To ensure the enhancement of the development by the
retention of existing trees and natural features during the
construction phase in accordance with Test Valley Borough Revised
Local Plan policy E2.
9. Tree protective measures installed (in accordance with the tree
protection condition) shall be maintained and retained for the full
duration of works or until such time as agreed in writing with the
Local Planning Authority. No activities, nor material storage, nor
placement of site huts or other equipment what-so-ever shall take
place within the barrier.
Reason: To ensure the avoidance of damage to existing trees and
natural features during the construction phase in accordance with
Test Valley Borough Revised Local Plan policy E2.
10. All service routes, drain runs, soakaways or excavations in
connection with the development hereby permitted shall remain
wholly outside the tree protective barrier.
Reason: To ensure the avoidance of damage to existing trees and
natural features during the construction phase in accordance with
Test Valley Borough Revised Local Plan policy E2.
11. No development shall take place, (including any works of demolition),
until a Construction Method Statement has been submitted to, and
approved in writing by, the LPA. The approved statement shall
include scaled drawings illustrating the provision for 1) The parking of site operatives and visitors' vehicles.
2) Loading and unloading of plant and materials.
3) Management of construction traffic and access routes.
4) Storage of plant and materials used in constructing the
development.
5) Full swept path vehicle tracking
6) Wheel cleaning and chassis of HGVs and delivery vehicles
leaving the site
7) Means of keeping the site access road and adjacent public
highway clear of mud and debris during site demolition,
excavation, preparation and construction.
Development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved
detail.

Page 71

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 26 April 2022

12.

13.

14.

15.

16.

Reason: In the interests of highway safety in accordance with Test
Valley Borough Revised Local Plan (2016) Policy T1
The development shall not be occupied until space has been laid out
and provided for the parking and manoeuvring of vehicles to enable
them to enter and leave the site in a forward gear in accordance with
the approved plan and this space shall thereafter be reserved for such
purposes at all times.
Reason: In the interests of highway safety in accordance with Test
Valley Borough Revised Local Plan (2016) Policy T1
Details of any external lighting shall be submitted to and approved in
writing by the local planning authority prior to the occupation of any
dwelling. Development shall be carried out and maintained in
accordance with the approved details and no additional external
lighting shall be provided thereafter.
Reason: To safeguard the amenities of the area in accordance with
Test Valley Borough Revised Local Plan (2016) Policy E5 and LHW4
No development shall take place (other than any approved demolition
and site clearance works) until an assessment of the nature and
extent of any contamination and a scheme for remediating the
contamination has been submitted to and approved in writing by the
Local Planning Authority. The assessment must be undertaken by a
competent person, and shall assess the presence of any
contamination on the site, whether or not it originates on the site. The
assessment shall comprise at least a desk study and qualitative risk
assessment and, where appropriate, the assessment shall be
extended following further site investigation work. In the event that
contamination is found, or is considered likely, the scheme shall
contain remediation proposals designed to bring the site to a
condition suitable for the intended use. Such remediation proposals
shall include clear remediation objectives and criteria, an appraisal of
the remediation options, and the arrangements for the supervision of
remediation works by a competent person. The site shall not be
brought in to use until a verification report, for the purpose of
certifying adherence to the approved remediation scheme, has been
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.
Reason: To ensure a safe living/working environment in accordance
with Test Valley Borough Local Plan 2006 policy HAZ04.
At least the first 4.5 metres of both access tracks measured from the
nearside edge of carriageway of the adjacent highway shall be
surfaced in a non-migratory material prior to the use of the access
commencing and retained as such at all times.
Reason: In the interest of highway safety in accordance with Test
Valley Borough Revised Local Plan (2016) Policy T1
The land to the south east of plots 1 and 3 shall be used for the
access into plot 3 and biodiversity and orchard areas only as shown
on drawing 7882 D 100 Rev M and shall not be used for any
residential, business, commercial or industrial purposes whatsoever.
Reason: In the interests of the amenity of the area in accordance with
Test Valley Revised Borough Local Plan 2016 policy COM2.

Page 72

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 26 April 2022

17. Prior to commencement of any works to provide the landscaping
mound full details including engineering details, section drawings, a
method statement for the building and implementation of the mound
and any planting shall be submitted to and approved by the Local
Planning Authority. Development shall be carried out in accordance
with the approved plans.
Reason: To improve the appearance of the site and enhance the
character of the development in the interest of visual amenity and
contribute to the character of the local area in accordance with Test
Valley Borough Revised Local Plan (2016) Policy E1 and E2.
18. Development shall be undertaken in accordance with the mitigation,
compensation and enhancement measures sets out in the Eco
support document dated 3rd November 2021 unless varied by a
European Protected Species (EPS) license issued by Natural England.
Thereafter, the enhancements shall be permanently maintained and
retained in accordance with the approved details.
Reason: To ensure the favourable conservation status of protected
species in accordance with Policy E5 of the Test Valley Revised Local
Plan DPD
19. Notwithstanding the information secured in the Eco support
document dated 3rd November 2021, if during the course of the works
Great Crested Newts should be found mitigation measures including
the proposed timing of works, location of exclusion fencing,
replacement terrestrial habitat proposed, proposed planting schemes,
construction of the pond and the location of the translocation areas
for reptiles and amphibians identified within the proposed application
shall be submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority
unless varied by a European Protected Species (EPS) license issued
by Natural England. The measures shall be provided within a strategy
for the site together with an annotated site plan. Development shall be
undertaken in accordance with the approved details.
Reason: To ensure the favourable conservation status of protected
species in accordance with Policy E5 of the Test Valley Revised Local
Plan DPD
20. Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning
(General Permitted Development) Order 2015 (or any order amending,
revoking or re-enacting that Order), no building, structure, walls or
fences of any kind shall be erected without the prior written consent
of the Local Planning Authority.
Reason: In order that the Local Planning Authority can exercise
control in the locality in the interest of the local amenities in
accordance with Test Valley Borough Revised Local Plan (2016)
Policies E1 and E2.
Notes to applicant:
1. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out and completed
strictly in accordance with the submitted plans, specifications and
written particulars for which permission is hereby granted or which
are subsequently submitted to, and approved in writing by, the Local
Planning Authority and in compliance with any conditions imposed by
the Local Planning Authority.

Page 73

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 26 April 2022

2.

In reaching this decision Test Valley Borough Council (TVBC) has had
regard to the National Planning Policy Framework and takes a
positive and proactive approach to development proposals focused
on solutions. TVBC work with applicants and their agents in a positive
and proactive manner offering a pre-application advice service and
updating applicants/agents of issues that may arise in dealing with
the application and where possible suggesting solutions.

Page 74

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 26 April 2022
The
GP

Elms

Greensleeves

Four Seasons

75.6m

Old House

Ravello
The
Cottage

a
Tr
ck

Holbeck

Smallberry Hill

Ridgemount

Canterton
House

Old School
House
Woodlands

U
CC
HA
PS
LA
NE

The Coppice

Marjolaine

Croft House

Oak Haven

Michelmersh

63.1m

N

Siteplan

REPRODUCED FROM ORDNANCE SURVEY MAPPING
WITH THE PERMISSION OF THE CONTROLLER OF
HER MAJESTY’S STATIONERY OFFICER © CROWN COPYRIGHT.
UNAUTHORISED REPRODUCTION INFRINGES CROWN COPYRIGHT
AND MAY LEAD TO PROSECUTION OR CIVIL PROCEEDINGS.
TEST VALLEY BOROUGH COUNCIL LICENCE No. 100024295 2013

21/01505/FULLS
Page 75

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 26 April 2022

Page 76

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 26 April 2022

Page 77

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 26 April 2022

Page 78

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 26 April 2022

Page 79

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 26 April 2022

Page 80

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 26 April 2022

Page 81

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 26 April 2022

Page 82

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 26 April 2022

Page 83

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 26 April 2022

Page 84

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 26 April 2022

Page 85

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 26 April 2022

Page 86

Page 87

SECTION BB

78.00

PLOT A

78.20

SECTION AA

PLANNING
APPLICATION
REF: 19/02044/FULLS

Radley House | 20 Staple Gardens | Winchester | SO23 8SR
t. 01962842228
e. architects@radleyhouse.co.uk
w. www.radleyhouse.co.uk

AL L DI ME NSIO NS ARE TO BE CHECKED O N SITE BEFOR E WO RK IS
COMMENCED. THE DESIGN AND DRAWING ARE THE COPYRIGHT OF THE
CONSULTANTS AND MUST NOT BE USED OR REPRODUCED WITHOUT THEIR
PERMISSION. ANY DISCREPANCIES ARE TO BE REPORTED IMMEDIATELY
TO THE CONSULTANTS. ALL INFORMATION SHOWN ON THE DRAWING IS
SUBJECT TO OBTAINING THE NECESSARY STATUTO RY CONSENTS.

N AA

Existing ground level

0

metres

10

PLOT 02

77.90

20

PLOT 03
Garage

RAVELLO

81.23

RIDGEMONT

83.42

S | 1:500@A3

D | FEB 2021

DWG | PROPOSED SITE SECTION
No. | 7882_D101_REV C

A 19.04.2021 Plot 3 amended

B 06.07.2021 Section changed

JOB | SMALLBERRY HILL

REVISIONS |

C 18.08.2021 Gabion walls lowered.
Section BB added

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 26 April 2022

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 26 April 2022

ITEM 9

APPLICATION NO.
APPLICATION TYPE
REGISTERED
APPLICANT
SITE
PROPOSAL

AMENDMENTS

21/03330/FULLS
FULL APPLICATION - SOUTH
15.11.2021
Mr and Mrs Phillip and Joanna Moxey
Butlers Barn, Mount Lane, Lockerley, SO51 0JS,
LOCKERLEY
Demolition of the existing agricultural building and
associated structures, erect 1 x detached dwelling
house with associated garage, parking, access and
hard and soft landscaping
Received on 15.03.2022:
 Additional visibility splay diagram
 Additional traffic survey
Received on 07.02.2022:
 Amended Proposed Floor Plan and Elevations
 Amended Landscape masterplan

CASE OFFICER

Received on 05.01.2022:
 Agent rebuttal to third party representations
Mr Graham Melton

Background paper (Local Government Act 1972 Section 100D)
Background papers to the application can be found here

1.0
1.1

INTRODUCTION
The application is presented to Southern Area Planning Committee because it is
contrary to the provisions of an approved or draft Development Plan or other
statement of approved planning policy, adverse third party representations have
been received and the recommendation is for permission.

2.0
2.1

SITE LOCATION AND DESCRIPTION
The application site is a 0.9ha area of land located on the east side of Mount
Lane within the designated countryside and parish of Lockerley.

2.2

The application site comprises an existing agricultural building with adjoining ‘L’
shape store structure, located on the western side of the plot adjacent to Mount
Lane. The land surrounding the existing building comprises a substantial area of
hardstanding.

3.0
3.1

PROPOSAL
The proposal is for the demolition of the existing agricultural barn building and
adjoining store structure, and the erection of a part single storey, part two storey
residential dwelling.

Page 88

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 26 April 2022

3.2

The proposed residential dwelling will be located in the centre of the plot and
consists of a main two storey section on an east to west axis measuring
approximately 23.3m by 7m by 7.2m with additional single storey projections to
the north and south. External materials comprise brickwork, timber cladding and
a slate roof with the southern end of the plot proposed to serve as a residential
garden area.

3.3

The proposed scheme also includes the provision of a new vehicular access
onto Mount Lane, located in the north-west corner of the application site.

4.0
4.1

HISTORY
22/00811/PDQS - Application to determine if prior approval is required for a
proposed change of use of agricultural building to dwellinghouse (Use Class
C3), and for building operations reasonably necessary for the conversion.
Pending consideration.

4.2

19/00706/PDQS - Notification for Prior Approval under Class Q - Change of use
of an agricultural building to a dwelling. Prior Approval not required, decision
issued on 09.05.2019.

5.0
5.1

CONSULTATIONS
Ecology – No objection subject to conditions.

5.2

Highways – No objection subject to conditions.

5.3

Landscape – Comment (summarised).





After visiting the application site with the case officer, can confirm that
outstanding concern relates to the amount of glazing on the proposed
dwelling and resulting impact on views from Mount Lane and the public
footpath
A revision to the design to reduce glazing is required to overcome
concern
Also identified that a stronger boundary perimeter along the south
boundary of the application site will help minimise the impact of the
design

Case officer note: Since the receipt of the above consultation response,
amended plans have been received reducing the amount of glazing present on
the proposed dwelling and additional landscaping proposed on the southern
boundary of the application site.
5.4

Natural England – No comment to date.
Case officer note: Consultation response to be included as part of an Update
Paper.

6.0
6.1

REPRESENTATIONS Expired 12.04.2022
Lockerley Parish Council – No objection.

Page 89

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 26 April 2022

6.2

Romsey and District Society (Planning Committee) – Objection
(summarised).


The agent’s rebuttal and additional information does not serve to
overcome previous concerns

Principle of development









Agent’s rebuttal gives even further endorsement of the concerns raised
originally by repeating the fact that the criticisms of implementing the
Permitted Development conversion are so strong and emphatic that the
conversion is unlikely
In these circumstances a ‘fall back’ position cannot be relied upon
The application has simply used the permitted development conversion
as a blatant pretext to build a large dwelling in the countryside
In other circumstances, the proposal would be contrary to planning policy
with no other material considerations to outweigh the conflict and
therefore the application would be refused
The rationale in the supporting information criticises the Permitted
Development conversion scheme and therefore, undermines the
assertion that the implementation of the previous scheme is a realistic
fallback position
Specific criticisms of the approved scheme include:








The conversion would not be of high quality design
The unsightly boundary wall structure would be retained
Absence of any additional soft landscaping adjacent to Mount
Lane
The barn conversion has a greater total footprint than the
proposed dwelling
The residential curtilage for the conversion scheme would result in
overlooking to the neighbouring property causing a loss of privacy

Given that these criticisms of the approved scheme have been identified,
it is not considered that this can be used as a balancing tool to justify the
current proposal as there is no real prospect or possibility of it being
undertaken

Impact on the character and appearance of the area


7.0
7.1

Consider that the proposed scheme for a detached two storey dwelling
represents a suburban style of development in the countryside with no
reference to the existing buildings

POLICY
Government Guidance
National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF)
National Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG)

Page 90

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 26 April 2022

7.2

Test Valley Borough Revised Local Plan (2016) (TVBRLP)
Policy SD1: Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development
Policy COM2: Settlement Hierarchy
Policy E1: High Quality Development in the Borough
Policy E2: Protect, Conserve and Enhance the Landscape Character of the
Borough
Policy E5: Biodiversity
Policy E7: Water Management
Policy E8: Pollution
Policy LHW4: Amenity
Policy T1: Managing Movement
Policy T2: Parking Standards

8.0
8.1

PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS
The main planning considerations are:
 Principle of development
 Impact on the character and appearance of the area
 Impact on the amenity of residential property
 Ecology
 Water Management
 Impact on the general amenity of the area
 Highways
 Planning Balance

8.2

Principle of development
Local Plan
Policy COM2
The application site is located on land outside of a settlement boundary and
therefore is designated as countryside by Policy COM2 of the TVBRLP. Policy
COM2 of the TVBRLP states that development outside the boundaries of
settlements will only be permitted if:
a) It is appropriate in the countryside as set out in the RLP Policy COM8 –
COM14, LE10, LE16 – LE18; or
b) It is essential for the proposal to be located in the countryside

8.3

None of the policy exceptions listed under criterion (a) are applicable in this
instance and as the proposal comprises the erection of a residential dwelling, it
is not considered to be a type of development whereby a countryside location is
essential. As a result, the proposal does not comply with criterion (b) either and
the application is contrary to Policy COM2 and the development framework of
the TVBRLP.

8.4

Other material considerations
Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 and Section
70(2) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 require that applications for
planning permission be determined in accordance with the development plan
unless considerations indicate otherwise. This is echoed by the NPPF. In
addition, the TVBRLP is considered an up-to-date development plan which is
not silent on development within the countryside and thus full weight must be

Page 91

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 26 April 2022

given to it. However, it is considered that in this instance, there are other
material considerations that must be taken into consideration in the
determination of the application.
8.5

Case law
The relevance of and weight to be attached to a fallback position within the
planning balance has been examined by the courts and there is a range of
resulting case law that has arisen on this matter. In support of the application,
the planning statement draws particular reference to the Court of Appeal
decision Mansell v Tonbridge and Malling Borough Council, issued on the 8th
September 2017. In this case the judge assessed that the Council was entitled
to refer to the possible fallback position to convert existing buildings onsite to
dwellings under Permitted Development legislation, as justification for an
alternative scheme to demolish the existing buildings and erect new dwellings
onsite instead.

8.6

At paragraph 27 (3) of this judgement, the judge identifies the following principle
when assessing the weight to be applied to a fallback position:
Therefore, when the court is considering whether a decision-maker has
properly identified a “real prospect” of a fallback development being
carried out should planning permission for the proposed development be
refused, there is no rule of law that, in every case, the “real prospect” will
depend, for example, on the site having been allocated for the alternative
development in the development plan or planning permission having been
granted for that development, or on there being a firm design for the
alternative scheme, or on the landowner or developer having said
precisely how he would make use of any permitted development rights
available to him under the GPDO. In some cases that degree of clarity and
commitment may be necessary; in others, not. This will always be a matter
for the decision-maker’s planning judgment in the particular circumstances
of the case in hand.

8.7

It is therefore necessary to assess whether the implementation of an alternative
fallback development is a realistic prospect based on the individual merits of
each application. In support of the application, the planning statement includes a
number of appeals (references 3154235, 3171828, 3189624) whereby the
presence of a extant Permitted Development consent to convert existing
buildings has justified an alternative development for demolition and rebuild,
despite the technical conflict with local planning policy.

8.8

Specific examples relating to developments within Test Valley include the
Appeal at Barrow Hill Barns, Goodworth Clatford (reference
APP/C1760/W/16/3154235). In that case the application site benefited from an
extant notification for prior approval under Class J (now Class O) of the Town
and Country Planning (General Permitted Development) Order 1995 (GPDO) for
the conversion of the existing building into 5 residential units.

Page 92

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 26 April 2022

In considering the probability that the permitted scheme would be feasible and
would be implemented if the appeal scheme for the replacement of the building
for 5 dwellings failed at appeal the Inspector stated:
“I have no evidence before me to doubt the appellant in respect of these
matters. I therefore find that the fall-back position to convert the building into 5
dwellings is therefore more than a theoretical prospect; there is likely to be a
high probability that the scheme would be constructed if the appeal proposal is
dismissed.”
8.9

When considering the planning balance, the Inspector recognised that the
proposal would conflict with Policy COM2 of the TVBRLP, but considered the
likely residential use of the site a material consideration which would justify
making a decision which is not in accordance with the development plan.
“However, the appellant’s fall-back position to change the use of the existing
buildings upon the site is a very real possibility. The effects of the appeal
proposal would be unlikely to be discernible over and above the permitted
development scheme for the reasons given. I regard the likely residential use of
the site, a material consideration which would, in this case, justify making a
decision which is not in accordance with the development plan.”
The appeal was allowed on this basis.

8.10

The assessment of principle, as outlined by the Inspectors decision, has
subsequently been followed in recent applications which were recommended for
permission by Officers and subsequently approved at Southern Area Planning
Committee, including applications reference 21/00536/FULLS and
21/00650/FULLS.

8.11

An assessment of the prospect of a fallback position in relation to this particular
application is undertaken below.

8.12

Planning history
The existing agricultural barn onsite was previously granted consent under
Permitted Development legislation to be converted to a residential dwelling
(application reference 19/00706/PDQS, paragraph 4.2). As a result, it has been
established that a residential dwelling the size of the existing agricultural barn
could be delivered onsite through Permitted Development rights.

8.13

However, one of the requirements of Permitted Development legislation is that
any conversion is completed within 3 years of the decision date and in this
instance, the expiry date for this previous consent is due expire to on the 9 th
May 2022. From the recent site visits undertaken, it is evident that works to
implement the consented conversion have not commenced and therefore, it is
very unlikely that this previous consent will be implemented due to the
forthcoming expiry date.

Page 93

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 26 April 2022

8.14

Currently pending application
In recognition of the forthcoming expiry of the previous consent to convert the
existing agricultural building, a new application (reference 22/00810/PDQS,
paragraph 4.1) has been submitted seeking to renew the previous consent. At
the current time of writing, the application is pending consideration as the
statutory publicity period has not expired. However a recent site visit to inspect
the existing building has been undertaken by the case officer and it has been
observed that the condition of the existing building has not deteriorated since
the previous application. Therefore, it is considered that the current application
is likely to be determined positively with the effect that the applicant will have an
additional 3 years to implement the conversion of the existing building to a
residential dwelling.

8.15

Third party representations
Third party representations have been received objecting to the principle of
attaching any significant weight to the previously approved conversion scheme,
as representing a fallback position and justifying the principle of development for
the current application. These concerns relate to the criticisms of the previously
approved conversion scheme highlighted by the planning agent including the
quality of the design, the lack of scope for additional landscaping and reorganisation of the application site to accommodate a residential use.

8.16

However, the identification of these criticisms as part of comparing the
previously approved conversion scheme to the current proposal does not serve
as evidence that the applicant has no intent to implement the conversion
scheme in the event that the current application is not successful. None of the
issues identified prevent the implementation of the previously approved
conversion scheme but simply indicate a preference to implement the current
proposal to achieve a higher quality development.

8.17

Conclusion on the principle of development
As assessed above, the application site benefits from an extant consent to
convert the existing agricultural building onsite to a residential dwelling.
Although it is noted that this consent is due to expire shortly, the applicant has
submitted application reference 22/00810/PDQS (paragraph 4.1) to secure a
renewal of this previous consent.

8.18

None of the shortcomings identified by either the submitted information or third
party representations serve as practical reasons to prevent the implementation
of the previously approved conversion scheme. In combination with the
applicant’s intent as demonstrated by the currently pending application, it is
considered that there in this instance there is a realistic prospect that the
conversion of the existing building to a residential dwelling will be implemented
in the event that an alternative proposal is not successful. This fallback position
therefore weighs significantly in assessing that the principle of development is
acceptable, despite the identified conflict with the development framework of the
TVBRLP.

Page 94

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 26 April 2022

8.19

However, before it can be concluded that the application as a whole is
acceptable, it is necessary to assess whether the impact of the proposal in
relation to the other material considerations would result in any significant
impact over and above the previously approved conversion scheme. This
assessment is undertaken below.

8.20

Impact on the character and appearance of the area
The application site is located within the rural countryside to the east of Mount
Lane and can be viewed from this public highway, as well as the public footpath
(Lockerley no. 17) that runs to the south-west. From these viewpoints, the
existing agricultural barn is seen in context with the neighbouring dwelling to the
north known as Butlers Barn, a two storey detached property of traditional
design, as well as the mature woodland to the south-east. Wider views also
encompass the buildings on the opposite side of Mount Lane including the
residential dwelling known as Badgers Run, itself comprising a recently
converted agricultural building, and the green clad utilitarian agricultural storage
buildings directly opposite the application site.

8.21

The existing agricultural building onsite is located adjacent to Mount Lane and
orientated so that the length of the building runs parallel to the carriageway, with
a subsidiary blockwork structure projection positioned in between and to the
south. Aside from blockwork, external materials comprise dark green vertical
cladding. Consequently, the resulting visual appearance within the street scene
and wider landscape is a significant building of functional character with no
intervening vegetation to soften its appearance.

8.22

The implementation of the previously approved conversion scheme would retain
the layout and scale of the existing building, with the overall appearance limited
to the addition of replacement vertical black cladding and the installation of
windows and doors. Although it is considered that the resulting visual impact will
not be wholly unattractive, it would not address the visual prominence of the
building within the wider landscape or address the functional character of little
visual interest.

8.23

The proposed scheme would result in the demolition of the existing structures
onsite and as a result, enable the implementation of a soft landscaping scheme
alongside the public carriageway that is more reflective of Mount Lane. The
proposed dwelling itself will be orientated on an east to west axis to enable the
presentation of a gable end side elevation rather than the entire length of the
building. In combination with a setback distance of 5.5m, it is considered that
the proposed layout will enhance the setting of Mount Lane although it is
acknowledged that the proposed dwelling will be taller than the existing
agricultural building.

8.24

With regard to the form of the proposal, the inclusion of single storey projections
and combination of red brickwork, render and vertical timber cladding will result
in a development of greater visual interest and higher quality design.

Page 95

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 26 April 2022

8.25

In response to the comments provided by the Landscape Officer, the amount of
glazing present on the proposed dwelling has been reduced and the soft
landscaping on the southern boundary increased to enhance the setting of the
proposed development when viewed from the public footpath. The
implementation and ongoing management of these landscaping measures has
been secured through the imposition of planning conditions, which are listed at
the end of the report below.

8.26

Consequently, following the assessment undertaken above, it is considered that
the design of the proposed development represents an improved design that is
more characteristic of the rural, verdant setting of Mount Lane than that would
be achieved through the implementation of the previously approved conversion
scheme. As a result, the application is in accordance with Policies E1 and E2 of
the TVBRLP.

8.27

Impact on the amenity of residential property
Residential amenity of existing dwellings
With regard to the potential impact on the adjoining dwelling known as Butlers
Barn, the proposed front (north) elevation comprises first floor windows
positioned 13m away from the shared boundary with the neighbouring property.
The adjacent section of the neighbouring plot is currently occupied by two
outbuildings and an associated access path. The neighbouring outbuildings do
not contain any first floor windows in the corresponding elevations facing the
application site and consequently, there is no possibility of any mutual
overlooking. As a result, it is not considered that the proposed development will
result in a significant loss of privacy for the occupants of the dwelling known as
Butlers Barn.

8.28

To the north-west of the application site is the neighbouring property known as
Badgers Barn, but the proposed dwelling will be located a minimum of 35m
away and consequently, will not materially impact the privacy of this dwelling.
No other residential property is positioned within the locality of the application
site.

8.29

In addition, due to the central positioning of the proposed dwelling within the
application site and the significant intervening distances to any neighbouring
dwelling, it is not considered that there will be any materially significant impact
with regard to daylight or sunlight provision.

8.30

Residential amenity of proposed dwelling
The proposed site plan demonstrates the provision of a garden area measuring
330sqm located at the southern end of the application site adjacent to an open
field. Consequently, it is considered that the proposed scheme sufficiently
provides for the amenity of potential future occupants.

8.31

Following the assessment undertaken above, it is considered that the proposed
scheme will sufficiently provide for the residential amenity of both existing and
proposed residential property. As a result, the application is in accordance with
Policy LHW4 of the TVBRLP.

Page 96

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 26 April 2022

8.32

Ecology
Onsite biodiversity
The application is supported by an Environmental Impact Assessment (Ecosa,
March 2019) and a subsequent updated survey (Kingfisher Ecology, July 2021)
assessing current conditions onsite. The submitted surveys identify that the
existing building has a limited suitability to support habitation by bats and birds
but there is potential for any external lighting to adversely impact bat activity
within the locality. In addition, the updated survey identified the potential for
reptile habitat within the existing vegetation onsite.

8.33

To mitigate against potential disturbance to protected species any habitats
onsite, it is proposed to install a bat box onsite and any vegetation clearance
undertaken as part of an ecological watching brief will be carried out using
specialist techniques. The implementation of the proposed mitigation measures
are secured through the imposition of a condition. In addition, the specification
of any external lighting will be submitted for review prior to its installation as
secured by the imposition of a planning condition.

8.34

In relation to the associated construction phase, although the request from the
Ecologist is noted, it is considered that sufficient details have already been
provided to ensure the construction of the proposed dwelling will avoid any harm
to protected species and habitats. Therefore, the submission of an
environmental construction management plan is not considered necessary in
this instance.

8.35

With regard to biodiversity enhancements it is considered that the
implementation of a wildflower meadow on the adjoining field to the south, as
part of the nutrient neutrality mitigation discussed below, will result in an overall
biodiversity enhancement. As such, it is considered that no further enhancement
measures are necessary.

8.36

Following the assessment undertaken above, it is considered that the proposed
scheme will not serve to adversely impact any protected species or habitats
onsite.

8.37

Off-site biodiversity: New Forest SPA
The development would have resulted in a net increase in residential dwellings
within 15km of the New Forest SPA. This distance defines the zone identified by
recent research where new residents would be considered likely to visit the New
Forest. The New Forest SPA supports a range of bird species that are
vulnerable to impacts arising from increases in recreational use of the Forest
that result from new housing development. While clearly one new house on its
own would not result in any significant effects, it has been demonstrated through
research, and agreed by Natural England that any net increase (even single or
small numbers of dwellings) would have a likely significant effect on the SPA
when considered in combination with other plans and projects.

Page 97

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 26 April 2022

8.38

8.39

To address this issue, Test Valley Borough Council has adopted an interim
mitigation strategy has been agreed that would fund the delivery of a new
strategic area of alternative recreational open space that would offer the same
sort of recreational opportunities as those offered by the New Forest.
In this instance, the necessary contribution of £1,300 has been paid as part of
the previous permission issued under application reference 19/00706/PDQS, it
is not considered that the proposal will have any adverse impact on the New
Forest SPA.

8.40

Offsite biodiversity: Solent and Southampton Water SPA
Nutrient Neutrality
Natural England advises that there are high levels of nitrogen and phosphorus
input to the water environment of the Solent region caused by wastewater from
existing housing and from agricultural sources and that these nutrients are
causing eutrophication at the designated nature conservation sites which
includes the Solent Water SPA. This results in dense mats of green algae that
are impacting on the Solent’s protected habitats and bird species.

8.41

Natural England further advises that there is uncertainty as to whether new
housing growth will further deteriorate designated sites. Work on this issue is
on-going with the local planning authorities, the Environment Agency and the
water companies. That may lead to identified mitigation measures in the future.
However, no mitigation strategy has yet been developed and no interim
approach has yet been set up by Test Valley Borough Council. In the meantime,
Natural England advises that one way to address the uncertainty is to achieve
nutrient neutrality whereby an individual scheme would not add to nutrient
burdens.

8.42

In this instance, a nutrient budget calculation was undertaken identifying that the
proposed scheme, in the absence of any mitigation, generated a total additional
nitrate output of 9.75kg/N/yr.

8.43

To mitigate this additional output and in support of the proposed development
the applicant has submitted a proposed offsite mitigation strategy combining the
performance of the proposed package treatment plant with the removal of
agricultural land from future agricultural production. In relation to the proposed
package treatment plant, the application is supported by certification data
demonstrating that the nitrate output will be substantially reduced once treated.
To ensure that sufficient mitigation is provided for the remaining untreated
nitrate output, a parcel measuring approximately 0.13ha of the adjoining open
field to the south will be removed from its current use as lowland grazing and
managed as a wildflower meadow.

8.44

To assess the benefit of removing the offset land from agricultural production, a
revised nutrient budget calculation including the proposed mitigation was
undertaken, concluding that the total nitrate output of the proposal will be
-0.67kg/TN/yr. On the basis of these calculations, an appropriate assessment
has been undertaken by the Local Planning Authority and the response by
Natural England to this assessment will be provided as part of an Update Paper.

Page 98

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 26 April 2022

8.45

8.46

In order to secure the future use of the land in perpetuity, a legal agreement will
be implemented preventing the use of the land for agricultural production and
securing the planting to establish the wildflower meadow onsite. A management
plan demonstrating how the future maintenance of the land will be achieved has
been submitted and will be incorporated into the associated legal agreement.
Recreational Pressure
The application site is located outside of the 5.6km buffer zone of the Solent and
Southampton Water SPA and therefore, it is not considered that there will be
any additional impact arising from recreational pressure.

8.47

Conclusion
Following the assessment undertaken above, it is considered that the proposed
scheme will avoid any adverse impact on protected species or habitats either
through direct impacts onsite or indirect impacts on designated sites within the
locality. Therefore, the application is in accordance with Policy E5 of the
TVBRLP.

8.48

Water Management
The application site is located within Flood Zone 1 and therefore, it is
considered that the position of the proposed development is appropriate with
regard to flood risk. Furthermore, the proposed dwelling will not be located in a
position that compromises water quality assets.

8.49

With regard to surface water drainage the proposed scheme includes the
provision of a soakaway to serve the proposed development and as a result, it is
considered that there will be no material harm arising from the potential for
surface water flooding. In addition, to ensure that the proposed dwelling
achieves the required rate of water efficiency a condition has been imposed on
the officer recommendation. Consequently, the application is in accordance with
Policy E7 of the TVBRLP.

8.50

Foul Water
In the absence of any available main sewerage infrastructure within relative
proximity of the application site, the proposed dwelling will be served by a
package treatment plant. As noted above in the ecology section, the installation
and ongoing maintenance schedule will be secured through the completion of a
legal agreement prior to the issuing of planning permission. Therefore, it is
considered that the proposed scheme will avoid any adverse impact on the
general amenity of the area and as a result, the application is in accordance
with Policy E8 of the TVBRLP.

8.51

Highways
Access
The proposed scheme includes the installation of a new vehicular access onto
Mount Lane, to be located in the north-west corner of the application site. In
support of the application a visibility splay diagram and a speed survey,
undertaken as part of previous applications.

Page 99

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 26 April 2022

8.52

The submitted information identifies that a splay of 2.4m by 34.5m to the north
and 2.4m by 41.8m to the south can be achieved and that the proposed splays
enable sufficient visibility given the average speed data recorded previously.
The implementation of the proposed visibility splays will be secured through the
imposition of a planning condition. Consequently, it is considered that the
proposed scheme will avoid any adverse impact on the highway safety of the
local road network and as such, the application is in accordance with Policy T1
of the TVBRLP.

8.53

Parking
The proposed site plan demonstrates the provision of a driveway sufficient to
accommodate the parking and manoeuvring of 3 vehicles onsite. Consequently,
the application is in accordance with the minimum parking standards set out in
Policy T2 and Annexe G of the TVBRLP.

8.54

Planning Balance
The proposed development would be contrary to the TVBRLP in that the
proposal will result in a new residential dwelling on a site designated as
countryside with no overriding justification or compliance with any of the
exception policies listed under criterion (a) of Policy COM2.

8.55

Notwithstanding the above, there are other material planning considerations that
must be taken into account when determining this application and these must be
weighed against the conflict with the development plan. In particular, the
application site is subject to a consent to deliver the same amount of residential
units’ onsite. This is confirmed by the current extant consent and pending
application reference 22/00810/PDQS which has been submitted by the
applicant to renew the timeframe for a Class Q conversion scheme to be
implemented. As a result, it is considered that the implementation of the
conversion scheme represents a realistic prospect for the applicant to fallback
on.

8.56

In addition, the proposed replacement of the existing structures has resulted in
an alternative scheme of enhanced design compared to the conversion works
and no other additional adverse impacts has been identified in relation to the
other material considerations.

8.57

As a result, it is considered in this instance that the benefit arising from the
enhanced design of the current proposal when compared to the previously
approved conversion scheme outweighs the technical breach of the
development framework of the TVBRLP.

9.0
9.1

CONCLUSION
The proposed development is a departure from the TVBRLP in that it is contrary
to Policy COM2.

Page 100

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 26 April 2022

9.2

However, in this instance, the conversion of the existing barn building onsite has
previously been permitted and a currently pending application is likely to secure
a renewal of this permission. Therefore, the delivery of a residential unit onsite
is a likely prospect and serves a fallback position attracting significant weight in
favour of granting planning permission that outweighs the breach with Policy
COM2.

9.3

The proposed development is considered to avoid any adverse impact on the
character and appearance of the area, residential amenity, ecology, water
management, the general amenity of the area and highways. As a result,
permission is recommended subject to conditions, contrary to the provisions of
the TVBRLP.

9.4

This recommendation is subject to the return of a satisfactory response by
Natural England to the appropriate assessment undertaken and subsequently,
the completion of a legal agreement to secure the management of the proposed
nutrient neutrality mitigation in perpetuity. Securing these mitigation measures
will ensure that the proposed development does not adversely impact the Solent
and Southampton Water SPA.

10.0

RECOMMENDATION
Delegate to the Head of Planning and Building for the following:
 Satisfactory consultation response from Natural England
 The completion of a legal agreement to secure the installation and
ongoing maintenance of the package treatment plant as well as the
removal of land from agricultural use, to ensure the development
achieves nutrient neutrality.
then PERMISSION, subject to:
1.
The development hereby permitted shall be begun within three years
from the date of this permission.
Reason: To comply with the provision of Section 91 of the Town and
Country Planning Act 1990 as amended by Section 51 of the Planning and
Compulsory Purchase Act 2004.
2.
The development hereby permitted shall not be carried out except in
complete accordance with the details shown on the submitted plans:
Site Location and Block Plan (001 P1)
Proposed Site Plan (020 P1)
Proposed Floor Plans (025 P2)
Proposed Elevations (030 P1)
Landscape Masterplan (998-MP-03)
Landscape Plan (998-MP-01 Rev A)
Visibility Splay (41106 - 035_A)
Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper
planning.
3.
The development hereby permitted shall be designed and built to meet
Regulation 36 2 (b) requirement of 110 litres/person/day water efficiency
set out in part G2 of Building Regulations 2015.
Reason: In the interests of improving water usage efficiency in
accordance with Policy E7 of the Test Valley Borough Revised Local Plan
(2016).

Page 101

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 26 April 2022

4.

The development hereby permitted shall proceed in accordance with the
measures set out in Section 5.0 of the Butler’s Barn, Mount Lane,
Lockerley, Ecological Impact Assessment (ECOSA, March 2019) and in
the Evaluation and recommendation section of Kingfisher Ecology (July,
2021), unless varied by a European Protected Species (EPS) license
issued by Natural England. Thereafter, the replacement bat roost features
and enhancements shall be permanently maintained and retained in
accordance with the approved details.
Reason: To ensure the favourable conservation status of bats and other
protected species in accordance with Policy E5 of the Test Valley Revised
Local Plan (2016).

5.

The development hereby permitted shall not be occupied until the access
has been constructed with the visibility splays of 2.4m by 34.5m to the
north and 2.4m by 41.8m to the south, in accordance with the approved
Visibility Splay drawing reference (41106 - 035_A). Within these visibility
splays notwithstanding the provisions of the Town & Country Planning
(General Permitted Development) Order 2015 (or any Order revoking and
re-enacting that Order) no obstacles, including walls, fences and
vegetation, shall exceed the height of 1 metre above the level of the
existing carriageway at any time.
Reason: In the interest of highway safety in accordance with Policy T1 of
the Test Valley Borough Revised Local Plan (2016).
No development shall take place above DPC level of the development
hereby permitted until samples and details of the materials to be used in
the construction of all external surfaces hereby permitted have been
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.
Development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved
details.
Reason: To ensure the development would integrate, respect and
complement the character of the area in accordance with Policy E1 of the
Test Valley Borough Revised Local Plan (2016).
No development shall take place above DPC level of the development
hereby permitted until full details of hard and soft landscape works have
been submitted and approved. Details shall include:
i) hard surfacing materials;
ii) planting plans;
iii) written specifications (including cultivation and other operations
associated with plant and grass establishment);
iv) schedules of plants, noting species, plant sizes and proposed
numbers/densities;
v) programme of implementation
The landscape works shall be carried out in accordance with the
approved details and the implementation programme.
Reason: To enable the development to respect, complement and
positively integrate into the character of the area in accordance with
Policies E1 and E2 of the Test Valley Borough Revised Local Plan (2016).

6.

7.

Page 102

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 26 April 2022

8.

No development shall take place above DPC level of the development
hereby permitted until a schedule of landscape management and
maintenance for a minimum period of 5 years has been submitted to and
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The landscape
management plan shall include long term design objectives, management
responsibilities and maintenance schedules for all landscape areas. The
landscaping shall be maintained in accordance with the approved
schedule. Any trees or planting that are removed, die or become, in the
opinion of the Local Planning Authority, seriously damaged or defective
within this period, shall be replaced before the end of the current or first
available planting season following the failure, removal or damage of the
planting.
Reason: To enable the development to respect, complement and
positively integrate into the character of the area in accordance with
Policies E1 and E2 of the Test Valley Borough Revised Local Plan (2016).
9.
The development hereby approved shall not be occupied until 3 car and 2
cycle parking spaces and the associated driveway area, have been
provided in accordance with the approved plans. The areas of land so
provided shall be retained at all times for this purpose.
Reason: To ensure sufficient off-street parking has been provided in
accordance with Policy T2 of the Test Valley Borough Revised Local Plan
(2016) and in the interest of highway safety in accordance with Policy T1
of the Test Valley Borough Revised Local Plan (2016).
10. No external lighting shall be installed until details have been submitted to
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The details
shall include plans and details sufficient to show the location, type,
specification, luminance and angle of illumination of all lights/luminaires.
The external lighting shall be installed in accordance with the approved
details.
Reason: To ensure the favourable conservation status of bats in
accordance with Policy E5 of the Test Valley Borough Revised Local Plan
(2016).
11. On the day on which the dwelling hereby permitted is first occupied for
residential purposes, all buildings and structures, other than the dwelling
shown on plan number 020 P1 shall cease to be used for any purpose,
and shall be demolished and the resultant materials cleared from the site.
Reason: The site lies in an area where new dwelling units are not
normally permitted. Only one dwelling would be permissible in this
location and two dwellings would be contrary to the Test Valley Borough
Revised Local Plan (2016).
Note to applicant:
1.
In reaching this decision Test Valley Borough Council (TVBC) has had
regard to the National Planning Policy Framework and takes a positive
and proactive approach to development proposals focused on solutions.
TVBC work with applicants and their agents in a positive and proactive
manner offering a pre-application advice service and updating
applicants/agents of issues that may arise in dealing with the application
and where possible suggesting solutions.

Page 103

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 26 April 2022

Butler's Barn

M

N

O

T
UN

N
LA

E

44.1m

Siteplan

REPRODUCED FROM ORDNANCE SURVEY MAPPING
WITH THE PERMISSION OF THE CONTROLLER OF
HER MAJESTY’S STATIONERY OFFICER © CROWN COPYRIGHT.
UNAUTHORISED REPRODUCTION INFRINGES CROWN COPYRIGHT
AND MAY LEAD TO PROSECUTION OR CIVIL PROCEEDINGS.
TEST VALLEY BOROUGH COUNCIL LICENCE No. 100024295 2013

21/03330/FULLS
Page 104

Page 105

Mount Pleasant Game Farm

T

44.1m

20

30

40

50m

8 7 6 5 4 3 2 1

0

10 9

10

108 6 4 2 0

Block Plan
1:500

10

44.1m

Scale 1:500

O

M

T
N
U

LA

NE

Scale 1:1250

Site Location Plan
1:1250

Cowleaze Copse

Butler's Barn

Ordnance Survey, (c) Crown Copyright 2021. All rights reserved. Licence number 100022432

M

N
OU

E

N
LA

Badgers Barn

Sunnyfield

20m

Badgers Barn

Cowleaze Copse

Butler's Barn

checked CAL

001

41106

A1

paper

checked

P1

rev. no.

CAL CAL

drawn

41106 existing plans and elevations

dwg. no.

varies

Nov 21
job no.

scale

Site Location Plan
title

date

Butlers Barn, Lockerley

Mr and Mrs.Moxey

Tollgate Estates, Stanbridge Earls, Romsey SO51 0HE
t: 01794 511255
f: 01794 511215
romsey@s4architects.co.uk
www.studiofourarchitects.com

architects ltd

studio four

project

file

by CAL

PLANNING

10.11.2021
Planning Issue

client

P1

N

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 26 April 2022

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 26 April 2022

Page 106

Page 107

Existing Ground Floor Plan
1:100

Existing First Floor Plan
1:100

SHEDS

SHEDS

1

RL

RL

RL

RL

RL

BARN

RL

RL

BARN

RL

RL

RL

RL

RL

0
1

2

3

N

5m

checked CAL

010

41106

A1

paper

checked

P1

rev. no.

CAL CAL

drawn

41106 existing plans and elevations

dwg. no.

1:100

Nov 21
job no.

scale

Existing Floor Plans
title

date

Butlers Barn, Lockerley
project

Tollgate Estates, Stanbridge Earls, Romsey SO51 0HE
t: 01794 511255
f: 01794 511215
romsey@s4architects.co.uk
www.studiofourarchitects.com

architects ltd

studio four

Mr and Mrs. Moxey

file

by CAL

4

PLANNING

10.11.2021
Planning Issue

.6 .4 .2

client

P1

1 .8

Scale 1:100

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 26 April 2022

Page 108

Existing North Elevation
1:100

Existing West Elevation
1:100

Existing East Elevation
1:100

Existing South Elevation
1:100

0
1

2

3

checked CAL

015

41106

A1

paper

checked

P1

rev. no.

CAL CAL

drawn

41106 existing plans and elevations

dwg. no.

1:100

Nov 21
job no.

scale

date

Existing Elevations

Butlers Barn, Lockerley

Tollgate Estates, Stanbridge Earls, Romsey SO51 0HE
t: 01794 511255
f: 01794 511215
romsey@s4architects.co.uk
www.studiofourarchitects.com

architects ltd

project

file

5m

studio four

Mr and Mrs. Moxey

title

by CAL

4

PLANNING

10.11.2021
Planning Issue

.6 .4 .2

client

P1

1 .8

Scale 1:100

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 26 April 2022

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 26 April 2022

Page 109

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 26 April 2022

Page 110

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 26 April 2022

Page 111

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 26 April 2022

Page 112

GENERAL NOTES:

INDIGO

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 26 April 2022

This drawing is to be read in conjunction
with all other relevant disciplines drawings,
schedules, specifications and supporting
information. Any discrepancies are to be
reported to Indigo Landscape Architects
Limited and resolution sought prior to
proceeding. This drawing is subject to
copyright.

KEY
Planning application boundary

Parking
court

Other land under ownership of the applicant
Utility

Boot Room

FFL 41.30

0.137ha of land reserved for wildflower meadow
to offset nitrates

WC

Hall

Void Above

Pantry

En-Suite

Refer to 998-MP-02 for detailed masterplan around dwelling
Refer to 998-MP-03 for overall context

Kitchen

Bed 5
Void Above

Study
Dining

Living Room

Snug

SCALE

1:500 @ A3
5

0

10

20

Lawn

25m

47.25

46.25
46.50

46.75
47.00

45.25
45.50

45.75
46.00

44.25

44.50

44.75
45.00

43.75

44.00

5

0

43.2

43.5

48.25

48.50

47.50

47.75

47.25

48.00

46.50

46.75
47.00

46.00

46.25

45.50

45.75

45.25

44.50

44.75
45.00

43.75
44.00

0

43.25

43.5

44.25

42.75

43.00

42.75

Existing native hedge

43.00

Parkland railing
between lawn and
pasture

42.5
0

42.2
5

Proposed section
of native hedge

42.5
0

42.25

42.00

NORTH

Pasture

50.75

51.25

51.00

50.25

50.50

49.75

50.00

49.25

49.50

48.75

49.00

48.25

48.50

47.75

42.75

48.00

47.50

47.00

47.25

46.75

46.25

46.50

45.75
46.00

45.50

5

0
45.0

45.2

44.75

44.25

44.50

43.75

44.00

43.50

42.50

43.25

43

.00

42

.75

42
.50

5

0
53.5

0

53.2

53.0

0

52.5

5
52.2
0
52.0

0

5
50.2

5

49.7

0
49.5

5
49.2
0
49.0

5

53.75

5

0
48.5

48.7

Area of
wildflower
meadow

43.50

48.2

0
48.0

Existing woodland to be
managed and replanted over
the next 10-20 years

50.5

5
0
50.0

43.2

52.75

43.00

43.75

0
.0
44

48.00

48.00

47.75

47.25

46.25

5
46.7

47.00

47.50

.50
44
5
44.2

46.50

25

45.75

.
44

46.00

44.00

.75

44

0

44.5

.00

45

.2

5

44.75

45

.5

0

45.00

45
45.25

45
.75

Proposed native hedge

45.5

Proposed additional
heavy standard tree
planting
0

A
-

Additional tree planting
First issue

2022.02.01
2021.11.12

LS
WD

CB
CB

rev

description

date

by

chk

project

45.75

BARN AT BUTLERS BARN
client

MR AND MRS MOXEY
drawing title

LANDSCAPE MASTERPLAN - CONTEXT / NITRATES
drawing number

revision

status

998-MP-01

A

PLANNING

TEL. 01722 340140

ENQUIRIES@INDIGOLANDSCAPE.CO.UK

scale

1:500@A3

WWW.INDIGOLANDSCAPE.CO.UK

INDIGO LANDSCAPE ARCHITECTS LIMITED

Page 113

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 26 April 2022

ITEM 10

APPLICATION NO.
APPLICATION TYPE
REGISTERED
APPLICANT
SITE
PROPOSAL
AMENDMENTS

CASE OFFICER

21/00662/FULLS
FULL APPLICATION - SOUTH
08.04.2021
Mr and Mrs M Horscroft
Hillview, Romsey Road, Kings Somborne, SO20 6PR,
KINGS SOMBORNE
Erection of dwelling with parking, access, garage, and
terrace
8th April 2021 - Heritage statement received
5th May 2021 – preliminary ecological appraisal
received
10th May 2021 – nitrate neutrality calculations received
14th May 2021 – Highways visibility splays received
12th July 2021 – amended plans received
11th August 2021 - Additional ecology information
received
17th November 2021 – amended ecology details
received
Kate Levey

Background paper (Local Government Act 1972 Section 100D)
Background papers to the application can be found here
1.0 INTRODUCTION
1.1 The application has been called to Southern Area Planning Committee at the
request of a member.
2.0 SITE LOCATION AND DESCRIPTION
2.1 The application site is located within the settlement boundary of Kings
Somborne. It is an undeveloped plot which is currently unmaintained and
contains several mature trees. Romsey Road abuts the site to the south and to
the rear (north) of the site is an open meadow. Kings Somborne Water Meadow
SINC lies to 112 metres the north of the site. There is existing ribbon
development along Romsey Road and existing residential dwellings are present
to the east and west sides of the site.
2.2 The development area is located partly within John of Gaunt’s Deer Park Pale
scheduled monument (list entry no 1003787). This monument is an extensive
embankment that encloses a large area to the west of Kings Somborne. The
site is bounded on its south side by a surviving stretch of the park pale, that has
been recognised as being of national importance.
2.3 There are some rights of way in the vicinity, listed below:
 Kings Somborne footpath 8 – located immediately adjacent to the north
boundary of the site
 Kings Somborne footpath 7 – located 87 metres to the north of the site

Page 114

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 26 April 2022



Kings Somborne 505 Byway – located 24 metres to the south, on the
opposite side of Romsey Road

3.0 PROPOSAL
3.1 This proposal is for erection of a single dwelling with parking, access, garage,
and terrace. The proposal involves dividing the plot and the new dwelling would
be located to the west of the site, within a piece of land which is triangular
shaped. The dimensions of the proposed dwelling are 8.8 metres by 13 metres.
The maximum ridge height is 7.4 metres, and the footprint is 94 square metres.
A single garage would be provided to the side (north east) of the proposed
dwelling, and further parking space at the front of the property. The private
amenity space is located to the rear and side (south west) of the dwelling.
4.0 RELEVANT HISTORY
4.1 21/01643/FULLS Erection of outbuilding comprising garage, cycle store, annexe
and provision of terrace. Permission subject to conditions and notes 04.02.2022
5.0 CONSULTATIONS
5.1 Trees: no objection subject to conditions
5.2

Ecology: comment (summarised)
The landscape plan now includes areas of native species grassland and tree
planting in addition to the provision of reptile refuges. The only element that
requires modification is the proposed bluebell planting. The landscape plan
currently states that the Spanish bluebell will be planted. This must be changed
to our native bluebell Hyacinthoides non-scripta. Notwithstanding this, I am
happy that this addresses the concerns raised and would suggest that the
landscape plan and the recommendations made within the ecological report for
avoiding impacts to protected species are secured by a suitably worded
condition.

5.3

Case Officer note: A revised landscape plan has been received which stipulates
that the native species of bluebell will be planted. It is considered that this
comment has been adequately addressed.

5.4

HCC Highways: no objection subject to condition

5.5

HCC Archaeology: no objection

5.6

Historic England: no objection

5.7

Natural England: no objection

5.8

Case Officer note: On 16th March 2022 Natural England issued updated
guidance in respect of achieving nutrient neutrality in the Solent region and the
applicant has been invited to provide an updated nitrate neutrality assessment.

6.0 REPRESENTATIONS Expired 18.02.2022
6.1 Kings Somborne Parish Council: x2 letters of objection, summarised as follows:
 Concerns about safety of the vehicle access to and from the site and
visibility

Page 115

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 26 April 2022









6.2

Should agreement be given, mitigating measures should be considered
with respect to highway safety whilst the dwelling is under construction
and in the future
No landscaping plan has been submitted
No service information has been submitted which shows that new
services, drains and soakaways will be outside of root protection areas
and not conflict with new tree planting
The submitted arboricultural report needs to be updated to reflect the
new layout
A number of trees on the site were identified has having low bat roost
potential and so further mitigation measures would be required if these
trees are to be felled. The submitted bat roost assessment does not
recommend any further surveys
Due to the sensitivity of this application these details should be received
prior to determination rather than being secured by condition. The Tree
and Environment teams at TVBC should confirm that their concerns are
mitigated and agreement to the proposed way forward

X3 letters of objection, summarised as follows:
Highways concerns
 Vehicles are regularly recorded travelling at speeds in excess of the
30mph speed limit along this stretch of road
 Traffic calming measures are required to slow traffic entering the village
 Visibility at the site entrance is poor
 Concerns about lack of space for parking and turning on site for
deliveries of building materials and parking for contractors vans and
equipment
 The two bedroom annex is being planned for Hillview as this will
exacerbate the problems
Landscaping and trees
 Whilst it is disappointing to see all the existing trees on the site felled they
are of little ecological value and a native hedgerow would mitigate any
habitat loss
Character and appearance of the area
 Originally a garage was approved for this site, a four bedroom house is
considered overdevelopment
 The trees within the site add to the rural nature of the village and provide
visual screening and privacy
 The design of the property is not in keeping with the houses in the area
and is against the Neighbourhood Development Plan in that new houses
should be constructed of traditional materials
Biodiversity
 The trees within the site provide a roost for bats
 How will this development demonstrate nitrate neutrality

Page 116

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 26 April 2022

Amenity
 If the trees within the site are felled then windows from the upstairs
bedrooms would overlook the bedrooms at Park Bank
Other matters
 The site plan indicates a pedestrian gateway into the meadow but direct
access into this meadow will not be permitted
 Hillview’s sewage is discharged into a junction in our garden (Yew Bank,
Romsey Road), and it does not have capacity for the more sewage from
the new house
 There is an outflow from a culvert under the A3057 to alleviate surface
flooding, the landscaping on site should take account of the need for a
soakaway on site
 The existing trees on the site provide noise reduction from the A3057
7.0
7.1

POLICY
Government Guidance
National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF)
National Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG)

7.2

Test Valley Borough Revised Local Plan (2016)(TVBRLP)
COM2: Settlement hierarchy
E1: High quality development in the Borough
E2: Protect, Conserve and Enhance the landscape character of the Borough
E5: Biodiversity
E7: Water management
E9: Heritage
LHW4: Amenity
T1: Managing movement
T2: Parking provision

7.3

Neighbourhood Plan
Kings Somborne Neighbourhood Development Plan (draft, not adopted)

8.0
8.1

PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS
The main planning considerations are:
 Principle of development
 Character and appearance of the area
 Arboriculture
 Biodiversity
 Heritage
 Water management
 Neighbouring amenity
 Highways
 Parking provision

Page 117

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 26 April 2022

8.2

Principle of development
The site lies within the settlement boundary as defined on the Inset Maps of the
TVBRLP. In accordance with Policy COM2 of the TVBRLP development is
permitted provided the proposal is appropriate to other policies of the Revised
Local Plan. The proposal is assessed against relevant policies below.

8.3

Character and appearance of the area
There is existing ribbon development along the north side of Romsey Road and
the prevailing character of the properties within this development area is
detached, two storey dwellings within large plots. The properties are set back
from Romsey Road and there is generous spacing between properties. The
ribbon from of development continues to the west, along Horsebridge Road,
where the properties are generally on smaller plots, and the dwellings are set
back from the road.

8.4

There is a right of way (Kings Somborne footpath 8) which runs in an east –
west orientation immediately to the north of the application site, through the
meadow to the north of the site. Views into the site are possible from here. The
application site is screened from Romsey Road by mature trees which are
located along the bank adjacent to the road. Views into the site are possible
through the tree cover.

8.5

The immediate surrounding area consists of detached dwellings. To the east the
dwellings are two storey and to the west the dwellings are a mix of bungalows
and two storey dwellings. The surrounding dwellings are traditional in their
design, but there is a mix of designs in the area in terms of detailing, and layout.
There is no particular consistency in design and the dwellings are generally
individually designed. Materials used in the construction of the external surfaces
of surrounding dwellings include red brick under tiled roofs. Boundary
treatments are predominately vegetated.

8.6

The proposal involves dividing the plot and the new dwelling would be located to
the west of the site. In terms of its design, the proposed dwelling would be
traditional in its form with gable ends and a pitched roof. The design would
utilise materials that are seen in the immediate vicinity, including red brick and
clay tiles. It is considered that the building is not of an excessive height (7.4
metres to the ridge).

8.7

Third party comments received state that the design of the dwelling is against
the Kings Somborne Neighbourhood Development Plan. The Neighbourhood
Development Plan is still being developed and is yet to be adopted, so at
present limited weight can be afforded to the plan. In any case, since these
comments were received the design of the dwelling has been amended – the
black timber cladding has been removed from the design and replaced with
traditional materials of red brick and clay roof.

Page 118

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 26 April 2022

8.8

With regards to the layout of the proposed dwelling within the site, the front of
the property would face south east. The proposed dwelling would have similar
orientation as the dwellings along Horsebridge Road, namely Park Bank and
Hawthorn Hedges, and others further to the west along this road. As such, it is
not considered that the orientation of the dwelling within the plot would be
incongruous in the street scene.

8.9

The proposed dwelling is set back from Romsey Road, in keeping with other
properties in the vicinity. With regards to plot size, these vary in the surrounding
area. Whilst there are concerns about overdevelopment, it is considered that it
would be comparable to the plot sizes of the properties along Horsebridge Road
– specifically Sunnymede, Carmel House, Beechcroft and Cloverfield. As a
result, it is not considered that the proposed resultant plot size would result in an
adverse impact on the character and appearance of the surrounding area.

8.10

Due to the proposed dwelling being detached, individually designed and using
materials which are in keeping with other properties in the area, it is considered
to be in keeping with the general design approach in the surrounding area.

8.11

As a result of the above, it is considered that the proposed development would
integrate, respect and complement the character of the area. Furthermore, it is
not considered that the proposal would have an adverse impact on the amenity
value of the right of way. It is considered that the proposal does not conflict with
policies E1 nor E2 of the RLP.

8.12

Arboriculture
The application site is an undeveloped plot and it contains several mature trees.
TPO.TVBC.1218 was severed to protect trees which will require being felled to
facilitate this proposal. The TPO was severed in October 2020 and since this
the site has been revisited, it has been decided that although the trees are
visually prominent, the form and quality of the trees is not good enough to move
forward and confirm the order. The order went out of date in March 2021 and
the trees are now no longer protected by any TPO. Due to the trees no longer
being protected or deemed worthy of a TPO, no objection is raised from the tree
Officer consulted to the removal of the trees to facilitate the proposed new
garage and associated works.

8.13

The application is supported by an arboricultural development statement (CBA
Trees, March 2021). A total of 14 trees are to be removed to facilitate the
development, these include sycamore, common hazel and field maple. These
trees are to be replaced and additional hedge planting is also proposed. Given
the form and quality of the trees on the site there is no objection to their removal
and replacement. It is noted that the arboricultural Officer consulted has
requested that the arboricultural report needs to be updated to reflect the
amended plans received. However, the scope of works and layout of the
dwelling has remained broadly similar to that originally submitted.

Page 119

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 26 April 2022

8.14

Due to the visual impact of the removal of trees, a substantial landscape plan
will be required, in line with section 19 of the arboricultural report, which states
that a line of new trees along the boundary with Romsey Road will be planted.
This additional planting along Romsey Road is shown on the proposed site
layout (plan reference PL101 Rev A). There is ample space within the site to
facilitate this additional planning, which would screen the development and
allow privacy for the occupants of the dwelling, as well as preserving the
character of the area. A condition has been added to this recommendation for
this additional detail, requiring the applicant to submit further detail of this
planting.

8.15

As a result of the above, it is considered that the proposed development, subject
to conditions, would preserve the landscape character. The proposals are
therefore considered to comply with policy E2 in this regard.

8.16

Biodiversity
The application site is a relatively small area of land which has recently been
cleared and prior to its clearance it was unmanaged. The application is
supported by a preliminary ecological appraisal and a landscape strategy
(Middlemarch Environmental). Third party concerns about trees within the site
providing a roost for bats are acknowledged. Some of the trees within the site
have been assessed as having a low bat roosting potential however the
Ecologist has reviewed the proposal and the submitted ecological reports and
has commented that the concerns about roosting bats have been addressed.

8.17

The latest ecology comments state that the submitted landscaping plan must
incorporate the planting of the native bluebell, rather than the spanish bluebell.
In light of these comments the applicant has submitted a revised landscape plan
which stipulates that the nativer species of bluebell will be planted and so it is
considered that the Ecologist’s comment about bluebell planting has been
addressed.

8.18

Conditions are recommended to ensure the implementation of the landscape
plan and that the recommendations made within the ecological report for
avoiding impacts to protected species are adhered to. Subject to these
conditions, and given that native bluebell species will be planted, it is considered
that the proposal complies with policy E5.

8.19

Mottisfont bat SAC
With respect to Mottisfont Bats SAC and the LPA’s engagement with the
Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2018 that provides the legal
protection for this, potential impacts on the SAC have been considered during
the consideration of the application. The application site is not within the SAC.
The SAC is confined to the extensive woodland / Ancient Woodland near
Mottisfont. Therefore, it is clear that the development will not directly affect the
SAC habitats themselves, nor directly affect any bat roosts within the SAC.

Page 120

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 26 April 2022

8.20

However, barbastelle bats disperse widely from their roosts; studies have
identified that areas of higher-value barbastelle bat foraging and commuting
habitat (such as wooded river corridors, riparian habitats, and deciduous
woodland) within 7.5km of the SAC boundary may potentially be important for
the Mottisfont population and therefore development that would result in impacts
to such habitats may potentially have a likely significant effect on the SAC by
virtue of reducing or causing a deterioration in quality of important areas of
barbastelle habitat outside the SAC.

8.21

The affected area of the site is residential curtilage and there is an existing
dwelling and driveway on the site. The area of the proposed building is of limited
value as a foraging resource for bats in general as it does not provide a highquality environment for supporting an abundance of suitable invertebrate prey.
Barbastelle bats are highly associated with water, riparian vegetation and
deciduous woodland (particularly along or linked to river corridors). This
development will not affect such habitats and therefore, given the poor quality of
the affected habitats and the high dependency of barbastelle bats in particular
on other habitat types not affected by the development, the development would
not have a likely significant effect on the SAC through direct loss of habitat.

8.22

Given that there is deciduous woodland outside of and surrounding the
application site it is unlikely to be an important local bat foraging resource. It is
also possible that the woodland is used by barbastelle bats; given their wide
overnight range, barbastelle bats – despite their rarity – are frequently
encountered on bat surveys across southern Hampshire. However, the works
would not result in a likely significant effect on the SAC through loss or
deterioration of foraging habitat.

8.23

The nature of the existing habitat across the site is of limited value to bats in
general, and in particular are unlikely to be used by barbastelle bats, which have
considerably more exacting habitat requirements. Given the distance between
the building and the nearest areas of higher-quality bat foraging habitat, and
given that the building location is in an area of low-quality habitat, there
therefore seems no reasonable likelihood that this would result in any significant
adverse impacts to bat foraging activity. Therefore, the proposals will not result
have any likely significant effect on the SAC.

8.24

Off-site biodiversity: New Forest SPA
In line with Policy E5 and Section 11 of the NPPF, consideration should be
given to potential implications on international designations. The development
would result in a net increase in residential dwellings within 15km of the New
Forest SPA. This distance defines the zone identified by recent research where
new residents would be considered likely to visit the New Forest. The New
Forest SPA supports a range of bird species that are vulnerable to impacts
arising from increases in recreational use of the Forest that result from new
housing development. While clearly one new house on its own would not result
in any significant effects, it has been demonstrated through research, and
agreed by Natural England (the governments statutory nature conservation
advisors, who have provided comments on this proposal) that any net increase
(even single dwellings) would have a likely significant effect on the SPA when
considered in combination with other plans and projects.

Page 121

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 26 April 2022

8.25

To address this issue, Test Valley Borough Council has adopted an interim
mitigation strategy whereby a scale of developer contributions of £1,300 per
new dwelling has been agreed that would fund the delivery of a new strategic
area of alternative recreational open space that would offer the same sort of
recreational opportunities as those offered by the New Forest. Therefore it is
considered necessary and reasonable to secure the appropriate contributions.
The applicant has made the required contributions by direct payment. The
application has secured the required mitigation measures, in accordance with
the Council's adopted 'New Forest SPA Mitigation - Interim Framework'.

8.26

Off site biodiversity: Solent and Southampton Water SPA – Solent Neutrality
There is existing evidence of high levels of nitrogen and phosphorus in the
water environment across the Solent, with evidence of eutrophication at some
designated sites. An Integrated Water Management Study for South Hampshire
was commissioned by the Partnership for Urban South Hampshire (PUSH)
Authorities to examine the delivery of development growth in relation to
legislative and government policy requirements for designated sites and wider
biodiversity. This work has identified that there is uncertainty regarding whether
any new housing development does not contribute to net increases in nutrients
entering these designated sites.

8.27

As such, the advice from Natural England is that the applicants for development
proposals resulting in a net increase in dwellings are required to submit the
nitrogen budget for the development to demonstrate no likely significant effect
on the European designated sites due to the increase in waste water from the
new housing.

8.28

With respect to the current application, the applicant has submitted a nutrient
budget calculation in accordance with Natural England’s standard methodology
and calculator spreadsheet. As part of undertaking this calculation it has been
identified that the proposed development will utilise a mains sewer connection.
The calculation identifies that the proposed development will generate
2.9kg/TN/yr. As such, in order to lawfully be permitted, the proposed
development will need to include a package of avoidance and mitigation
measures to offset the nitrogen load from the development.

8.29

On 16th March 2022 Natural England issued updated guidance in respect of
achieving nutrient neutrality in the Solent region and the applicant has been
invited to provide an updated nitrate neutrality assessment. The revised nitrate
neutrality assessment will be reviewed and Natural England will be re-consulted.
This requirement to re-consult with Natural England and update the legal
agreement is reflected in the Officer recommendation.

8.30

Test Valley Borough Council has implemented a strategic nitrate offsetting
mitigation scheme whereby a scale of developer contributions has been agreed
that would fund its ongoing delivery of a nitrate offsetting scheme. This strategic
scheme comprises the offsetting of agricultural land previously utilised for the
purposes of pig farming, located at Roke, Awbridge. The land will be restored
and maintained for the purposes of enabling nitrate neutrality.

Page 122

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 26 April 2022

8.31

Subject to the required nitrate offsetting and legal agreement the development
will not result in adverse effects on the Solent designated site through water
quality impacts arising from nitrate generation. The recommendation reflects the
need to secure the requisite legal agreement.

8.32

Heritage
The development area is located partly within John of Gaunt’s Deer Park Pale
scheduled monument (list entry no 1003787). This monument is an extensive
embankment that encloses a large area to the west of Kings Somborne. The
application site is bounded on its south side by a surviving stretch of the park
pale, which has been recognised as being of national importance. Originally the
land within the deer park would have been enclosed and stocked with deer.
Various parts of the pale survive around and within the village of Kings
Somborne, including five sections of the southern side of the pale which are
located alongside Romsey road. The surviving parts of the park pale appear as
embankment. The monument within the boundary of the application site is
particularly significant because it is an unusually well-preserved example of a
medieval deer park pale.

8.33

An important planning consideration is whether the proposed development
would harm to the park pale as a heritage asset, in terms of its setting or
appearance. Paragraph 189 of the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF)
states as follows:‘Heritage assets are an irreplaceable resource, and should be conserved in a
manner appropriate to their significance, so that they can be enjoyed for their
contribution to the quality of life of existing and future generations’.
Therefore, there is a statutory duty upon decision makers to have special regard
to the desirability of preserving the heritage asset or its setting. The NPPF
advised that heritage assets are an irreplaceable resource and should be
conserved in a manner appropriate to their significance. Paragraph 199 of the
NPPF states that when considering the impact of a proposed development on
the significance of a heritage asset, great weight should be given to the asset’s
conservation. The more important the asset, the greater weight there should be.

8.34

The two potential key issues of direct physical impact on the scheduled
monument and impact to the setting of the Scheduled Monument have been
considered and are informed by an archaeological desk based assessment
(PCA, June 2021). Elements of the John of Gaunt’s Deer Park enclosure are
still present in the form of a park pale and a Scheduled section of the park pale
is present within the site, to the east of the development area that is the subject
of this application. The historic line of the park pale would have covered a
significant area as linear earthwork (likely consisting of an earthen bank and
internal ditch). Certain sections of the earthwork have been designated as a
scheduled monument by Historic England, based upon the condition and the
extent of the surviving earthworks. However, remains of the park pale are still
present outside of the scheduled monument areas as either more subtle
earthworks or as buried archaeological remains. LiDAR images for the site
indicate that some elements of the park pale are still present within the site.

Page 123

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 26 April 2022

8.35

Although now not a prominent above ground feature the proposed location of
the development, will overlie a section of the park pale that was present until the
mid-20th century. This highlights the possibility that the proposed development
has the potential to negatively impact buried archaeological remains related to
the park pale, including the possible internal ditch, which might contain evidence
relating to the creation, dating and use of John of Gaunts Deer Park.
Furthermore, the presence of a section of earthwork within the footprint of the
proposed development raises further uncertainty regarding the historical use of
the site. As such, in keeping with NPPF and TVBC planning policy, a
programme of archaeological investigation and recording should be undertaken
prior to commencement. Two archaeological conditions are recommended, to
secure the implementation of an approved Written Scheme of Investigation
(WSI) for archaeological evaluation (comprising landscape survey and trial
trenching) and the second, securing the implementation of an approved WSI for
subsequent mitigation and reporting. With the implementation of these
conditions, it is not considered that the any direct impact to the scheduled
monument is adequately mitigated.

8.36

In terms of the setting of the scheduled monument. The proposed development
would introduce a modern building in the western part of the site to replace
some of the garden area of Hillview. The scheduled monument in the south east
part of the site is screened from Romsey Road by a hedge. This section of the
scheduled monument therefore does not have the open setting that is
characteristic of other surviving sections of the park pale. Whilst the section of
park pale within the site will add some contibution to the significance, however
this contribution is likely to be lower than for other sections of the monument. As
such, it is not considered that the proposal to add another building within the site
would be harmful to the settitng of the scheduled monument.

8.37

Subject to the outlined above, it is not considered that the development would
give rise to any detrimental impact to the Scheduled Monument and would not
detract from its setting. It is considered that the proposal would have a neutral
impact to the identified heritage assets and the proposal is in accordance with
policy E9.

8.38

Water management
Policy E7 of the Revised Local Plan includes a requirement to achieve a water
consumption standard of no more than 110 litres per person per day and this
reflects the requirements of part G2 of the 2015 Building Regulations. Subject to
a condition to restrict the use of water at this site the proposal would be in
accordance with Policy E7.

8.39

Neighbouring amenity
Due to the positioning of the proposed property relative to neighbouring sites,
any impact to neighbouring amenity is largely limited to the occupants of Park
Bank to the west of the site, and the existing dwelling at Hillview.

Page 124

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 26 April 2022

8.40

Yew Bank is the closest neighbouring property outside of the application site to
the east, however it is located 80 metres from the proposed dwelling and the
existing property at Hillview and would block most of the views of the new
dwelling. Therefore it is not anticipated that there would be any adverse amenity
impact to this neighbour.

8.41

Impact to Park Bank
This neighbour is located to the north west of the proposed dwelling. The north
western side wall of the proposed dwelling would be located 40 metres away
from the garden boundary of Park Bank. The proposed dwelling may be visible
from the garden of Park Bank. However, as a result of the separation distance
between the proposed dwelling and this neighbouring property’s garden, it is not
considered that the proposal would result in any adverse impacts on the
occupiers of this dwelling in terms of loss of daylight or sunlight, or have an
overbearing impact.

8.42

With regards to overlooking, the proposed dwelling would have 5 large ground
floor windows, which would serve the open plan kitchen / dining / living space.
Additionally, there would be 3 first floor windows proposed on this same
elevation, these would serve bedrooms. Views out of the ground floor windows
would mainly be over the terrace and garden area, and over the rear boundary
treatment. The bedrooms at first floor level are secondary accommodation,
where occupants are unlikely to spend significant amounts of time in during the
day. As a result, and also due to the separation distance, it is not considered
that the proposed dwelling would result in any adverse overlooking impact to
Park Bank.

8.43

Impact to existing dwelling at Hillview
Hillview is the existing dwelling which is occupied, and sits within the existing
plot. The south west wall of Hillview is located 20 metres away from the north
east wall of Hillview. 2 ground floor windows are proposed which would serve
the utility and kitchen spaces. These windows would allow views out over the
proposed garage and boundary treatment. One first floor window is proposed on
the east elevation and this would serve a bedroom. Additionally, as a result of
the separation between the proposed dwelling and Hillview, it is not considered
that the proposal would result in any adverse impacts on the occupiers of this
dwelling in terms of loss of privacy, loss of daylight / sunlight or overbearing
impact.

8.44

For the reasons above, it is not considered that the proposal would give rise to
an adverse impact on the living conditions of neighbouring properties by virtue
of loss of daylight, sun light, or privacy. The proposal is in accordance with
Policy LHW4 of the RLP.

8.45

Highways and parking provision
The application proposes 2 off street parking space, and an additional space
within the garage, which meets the internal dimensions as set out within policy
T2. As such, the parking provision is considered to accord with the parking
standards set out in annex G of the RLP. The application includes a proposed
site plan to confirm that there is adequate space for these parking spaces, on

Page 125

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 26 April 2022

the driveway to the side of the property. It is recommended that conditions be
added to any permission requiring the provision for the retention of the parking
spaces along with the provision of a non-migratory surface for the first 6 metres
of the access. Additionally, a condition is recommended such that details of the
layout of parking and manoeuvring of contractor’s and delivery vehicles on site
during the construction period are submitted to the LPA prior to commencement
of development.
8.46

The proposal provides ample parking on the site and within the proposed
garage, and there is enough space for the manoeuvring of vehicles within the
parking area and it would be possible to exit the parking area in a forward gear.
The provision of an additional four bedroom dwelling is expected to result in a
modest increase in the number of vehicles entering and existing the site. A new
highway access point is proposed onto Romsey Road, and no vehicle gates are
proposed which could potentially hinder access or sight lines to and from the
highway. There is a speed limit of 30mph at the point where the new proposed
access meets Romsey Road. The applicant has submitted a visibility splay
diagram which demonstrates a visibility splay of 43 metres by x 2.4 metres. This
is considered to be acceptable. A condition is recommended that the visibility
splays remain clear of any obstruction above 600 mm in height.

8.47

For the reasons discussed above it is not anticipated that the scheme proposes
a significant risk to highway safety of the local road network. The application is
in accordance with Policies T1, T2 and annex G.

8.48

Comments have been received that traffic calming measures are required to
slow traffic entering the village. However, this work would fall outside of the
scope of this permission.

9.0
9.1

CONCLUSION
The proposal is not considered to give rise to adverse impacts to the character
and appearance of the area, or result in a loss of amenity or privacy to
neighbouring residents. Mitigation has been provided with regard to potential
impacts to protected species and trees. The proposal therefore accords with the
Test Valley Borough Revised Local Plan (2016) and the National Planning
Policy Framework (2021) and is acceptable.

10.0

RECOMMENDATION
Delegate to Head of Planning & Building for completion of satisfactory
consultation with Natural England and the addition/amendment of relevant
conditions, and legal agreement to secure;
 Removal of nitrate mitigation land from agricultural production, and
 Future management of the nitrate mitigation land
Then PERMISSION subject to:
1.
The development hereby permitted shall be begun within three
years from the date of this permission.
Reason: To comply with the provision of Section 91 of the Town and
Country Planning Act 1990 as amended by Section 51 of the
Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004.

Page 126

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 26 April 2022

2.

3.

4.

5.

6.

The development hereby permitted shall not be carried out except in
complete accordance with the details shown on the submitted
plans, numbers PL - 100A, PL – 101A, PL – 102A, PL – 103A, PL –
104A, PL – 110A, PL – 120A, PL – 121A, PL – 122A, PL - 123 A, PL
200, site location plan
Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper
planning.
No development shall take place above DPC level of the
development hereby permitted until samples and details of the
materials to be used in the construction of all external surfaces
hereby permitted have been submitted to and approved in writing by
the Local Planning Authority. Development shall be carried out in
accordance with the approved details.
Reason: To ensure the development has a satisfactory external
appearance in the interest of visual amenities in accordance with
Test Valley Borough Revised Local Plan (2016) Policy E1.
No development shall take place within the application site until the
applicant or their agent or successors in title has secured the
implementation of a programme of archaeological work in
accordance with a written scheme of investigation and mitigation,
which has been submitted by the applicant and approved in writing
by the Local Planning Authority. The submitted brief and
specification shall include details of how the park pale embankment
will be protected for the duration of the development period.
Reason: The site is of archaeological significance and further
investigation and mitigation works are required in accordance with
Test Valley Borough Revised Local Plan (2016) Policy E9.
No development shall take place within the application site until the
applicant or their agent or successors in title has secured the
implementation of a programme of archaeological recording in
accordance with a written scheme of investigation, which has been
submitted by the applicant and approved in writing by the Local
Planning Authority.
Reason: The site is of archaeological significance and further
investigation and mitigation works are required in accordance with
Test Valley Borough Revised Local Plan (2016) Policy E9.
Development shall proceed in accordance with the measures set out
in Section 7 ‘Recommendations’ of the Hillview, Romsey Road,
Kings Somborne, Preliminary Bat Roost Assessment (Middlemarch
Environmental, April 2021), and the submitted landscape survey
(submitted 17th November 2021). Thereafter, mitigation features shall
be permanently maintained and retained in accordance with the
approved details.
Reason: To ensure the favourable conservation status of bats in
accordance with Policy E5 of the Test Valley Revised Local Plan
2016.

Page 127

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 26 April 2022

7.

8.

9.

Lighting will follow best practice guidelines outlined by the Bat
Conservation Trust and the Institute of Lighting Professionals
(Guidance note 08/18 Bats and artificial lighting in the UK). Prior to
installation of any external lighting, a detailed lighting strategy for
the construction and operation phase of the development shall be
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning
Authority. Development shall subsequently proceed in accordance
with any such approved details, with the approved lighting strategy
maintained in perpetuity.
Reason: To prevent disturbance to protected species in accordance
with the National Planning Policy Framework and the Revised Test
Valley Local Plan 2016.
Prior to commencement of development, full details of hard and soft
landscape works shall be submitted and approved in writing by the
Local Planning Authority. Notwithstanding the details of
replacement planting within the submitted CBA Trees report (March
2021), the further information to be submitted shall include a
landscape plan of 1:200 scale or better which provides detail on the
replacement tree planting and additional hedge planting along the
site frontage (south boundary) adjacent to Romsey Road.
Additionally, submitted details shall include:
 proposed finished levels or contours;
 means of enclosure;
 hard surfacing materials;
 planting plans;
 written specifications (including cultivation and other
operations associated with plant and grass establishment);
 schedules of plants, noting species, plant sizes and proposed
numbers/densities;
The landscape works shall be carried out in accordance with the
approved details.
Reason: To enable the development to respect, complement and
positively integrate into the character of the area in accordance with
Test Valley Borough Revised Local Plan (2016) Policies E1 and E2.
No development shall take place above DPC level of the
development hereby permitted until a schedule of landscape
implementation and maintenance for a minimum period of 5; years
has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local
Planning Authority. The schedule shall include details of the
arrangements for the phasing of the implementation and ongoing
maintenance during that period in accordance with appropriate
British Standards or other recognised codes of practise.
Development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved
schedule. Any trees or planting that are removed, die or become, in
the opinion of the Local Planning Authority, seriously damaged or
defective within this period, shall be replaced before the end of the
current or first available planting season following the failure,
removal or damage of the planting.

Page 128

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 26 April 2022

10.

11.

12.

13.

14.

15.

Reason: To enable the development to respect, complement and
positively integrate into the character of the area in accordance with
Test Valley Borough Revised Local Plan (2016) Policies E1 and E2.
No development shall take place until a scheme for the protection of
trees to be retained has been submitted to and approved in writing
by the Local Planning Authority. Such a scheme shall include a plan
showing the location and specification of tree protective barriers.
Such barriers shall be erected prior to any other site operations.
Reason: To ensure the enhancement of the development by the
retention of existing trees and natural features during the
construction phase in accordance with Test Valley Borough Revised
Local Plan policy E2.
All service routes, drain runs, soakaways or excavations in
connection with the development hereby permitted shall remain
wholly outside the tree protective barrier and shall not conflict with
any new tree or hedge planting.
Reason: To ensure the avoidance of damage to existing trees and
natural features during the construction phase in accordance with
Test Valley Borough Revised Local Plan policy E2.
Prior to the commencement of development the access shall be
constructed with the visibility splays of 43 metres x 2.4 metres to
the east and west and maintained as such at all times. Within these
visibility splays notwithstanding the provisions of the Town &
Country Planning (General Permitted Development) Order 2015 (or
any Order revoking and re-enacting that Order) no obstacles,
including walls, fences and vegetation, shall exceed the height of
600mm above the level of the existing carriageway at any time.
Reason: In the interest of highway safety in accordance with Test
Valley Borough Revised Local Plan (2016) Policy T1.
At least the first 5 metres of the access track measured from the
nearside edge of carriageway of the adjacent highway shall be
surfaced in a non-migratory material prior to the use of the access
commencing and retained as such at all times.
Reason: In the interest of highway safety in accordance with Test
Valley Borough Revised Local Plan (2016) Policy T1
Prior to the first occupation of the development hereby permitted,
space shall be laid out and provided for the parking and
manoeuvring of vehicles to enable them to enter and leave the site
in a forward gear in accordance with the approved plan PL-101A and
this space shall thereafter be reserved for such purposes at all
times.
Reason: In the interests of highway safety in accordance with Test
Valley Borough Revised Local Plan (2016) Policies T1 and T2.
The development hereby approved shall be designed and built to
meet Regulation 36 2 (b) requirement of 110 litres/person/day water
efficiency set out in part G2 of Building Regulations 2015.
Reason: In the interests of improving water usage efficiency in
accordance with policy E7 of the Test Valley Borough Revised Local
Plan 2016.

Page 129

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 26 April 2022

16.

Prior to the commencement of development full details of the layout
for the parking and manoeuvring on site of contractor's and delivery
vehicles during the construction period shall be submitted to and
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The approved
scheme shall be implemented prior to the commencement of
development and retained for the duration of the construction
period.
Reason: In the interest of highway safety in accordance with Test
Valley Borough Revised Local Plan (2016) Policy T1
Notes to applicant:
1.
In reaching this decision Test Valley Borough Council (TVBC) has
had regard to the National Planning Policy Framework and takes a
positive and proactive approach to development proposals focused
on solutions. TVBC work with applicants and their agents in a
positive and proactive manner offering a pre-application advice
service and updating applicants/agents of issues that may arise in
dealing with the application and where possible suggesting
solutions.
2.
Bats and their roosts receive strict legal protection under the
Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 (as amended) and the
Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017. All work
must stop immediately if bats, or evidence of bat presence (e.g.
droppings, bat carcasses or insect remains), are encountered at any
point during this development. Should this occur, further advice
should be sought from Natural England and/or a professional
ecologist.
3.
The proposed development may require scheduled monument
consent and it is advised that Historic England are contacted about
this.

Page 130

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 26 April 2022
The Pheasants

Kingfishers

Yew Bank

rk
Pa

le
Pa

Hill View
y
La

GP
42.4m

LB

RO

RO

N

M

SE

40.2m

GP

AD

Y

Siteplan

REPRODUCED FROM ORDNANCE SURVEY MAPPING
WITH THE PERMISSION OF THE CONTROLLER OF
HER MAJESTY’S STATIONERY OFFICER © CROWN COPYRIGHT.
UNAUTHORISED REPRODUCTION INFRINGES CROWN COPYRIGHT
AND MAY LEAD TO PROSECUTION OR CIVIL PROCEEDINGS.
TEST VALLEY BOROUGH COUNCIL LICENCE No. 100024295 2013

21/00662/FULLS
Page 131

y
-b

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 26 April 2022

Page 132

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 26 April 2022

Page 133

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 26 April 2022

Page 134

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 26 April 2022

Page 135

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 26 April 2022

Page 136

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 26 April 2022

Page 137

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 26 April 2022

Page 138

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 26 April 2022

Page 139

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 26 April 2022

Page 140

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 26 April 2022

Page 141

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 26 April 2022

Page 142

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 26 April 2022

Page 143

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 26 April 2022

Page 144

